Effects of Oncogenic Ras and p38 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase on the Adhesion of Normal Human Cells

by

Lynne K. Waldman

B.S. Biology Bucknell University, 2001

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITU OF TECHNOLOGY	TE.
JUN 0 2 2010	
LIBRARIES	

SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOHPY IN BIOLOGY AT THE MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

ARCHIVES

JUNE 2010

© 2010 Lynne K. Waldman. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part in any medium now known or hereafter created.

Signature of Author:	
	Department of Biology
	May 21, 2010
Certified by:	
·	Robert A. Weinberg
	Professor of Biology
	Thesis Supervisor
Accepted by:	
(Stephen P. Bell
C C	Professor of Biology
	Chairman, Committee for Graduate Studies
	~

Effects of Oncogenic Ras and p38 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase on the Adhesion of Normal Human Cells

by

Lynne K. Waldman

Submitted to the Department of Biology on May 21, 2010 in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

Abstract

Activating mutations in RAS oncogenes commonly arise in human cancers. However, in experimental settings, oncogenic RAS has most often been studied at supraphysiological levels of expression. Importantly, work by others showed that the response of murine cells to expression of oncogenic ras from the endogenous promoter is strikingly different from the response of both human and murine cells to high levels of ectopically expressed oncogenic RAS. Thus, to study the outcome of oncogenic Ras signaling in human cells at a more physiological level, I developed a system in which I could activate oncogenic Ras signaling to either low or high extents in normal human fibroblasts. A low level of oncogenic Ras signaling induced cellular hyperproliferation, whereas a high level of signaling induced cellular senescence. A growing body of literature links loss of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activity with the promotion of Ras-induced transformation in murine cells. Accordingly, I examined the effect of inhibiting p38 in normal human cells in which I also activated a low level of oncogenic Ras signaling. Interestingly, the inhibition of p38 cooperated with low activation of oncogenic Ras to alter the morphology and adhesive properties of cells. My results suggest that the inhibition of p38 could predispose human cells to partial transformation by oncogenic Ras through alterations in cellular adhesion.

Thesis Supervisor: Robert A. Weinberg, Ph.D. Title: Professor of Biology; Virginia and Daniel K. Ludwig Professor for Cancer Research; Associate Member, Broad Institute; Member, Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research

Biographical Note

Lynne K. Waldman

Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research 9 Cambridge Center, Room 309 Cambridge, MA 02142 (617) 258-5165 Iwaldman@mit.edu

Education

Massachusetts Institute of Technology	Cambridge, M
Ph.D. in Biology. Degree expected June 2010.	
Bucknell University	Lewisburg, PA
-	1 14 0001

Research Experience

2001-Present	Massachusetts Institute of Technology Graduate Research, Laboratory of Dr. Robert A. Weinberg	Cambridge, MA
1999-2001	Bucknell University Undergraduate Research, Laboratory of Dr. Mitchell I. Chern	Lewisburg, PA in
2000	Albert Einstein College of Medicine Undergraduate Internship, Laboratory of Dr. Robert D. Burk	Bronx, NY
1999	Bucknell University Undergraduate Research, Laboratory of Dr. Richard J. Ellis	Lewisburg, PA
Teaching Exp	erience	
2004	Massachusetts Institute of Technology Teaching Assistant, Experimental Microbial Genetics Project	Cambridge, MA Lab
2002	Massachusetts Institute of Technology Teaching Assistant, Introductory Biology	Cambridge, MA
Awards		
2005	U.S. Department of Defense Breast Cancer Research Program Traineeship Award	n Pre-doctoral
2001	John T. Lowry, Jr. Prize; Awarded by Bucknell University	

Conference Presentations		
2000	Phi Beta Kappa; Vice President of Mu of Pennsylvania Chapter 2000-2001	
2001	The President's Award for Distinguished Academic Achievement; Awarded by Bucknell University	
2001	The Phi Eta Sigma Fraternity Prize; Awarded by Bucknell University	
2001	Bucknell Prize for Women; Awarded by Bucknell University	
2001	The Elizabeth M. Oliphant Prize; Awarded by Bucknell University	
2001	Oliver J. Decker Prize; Awarded by Bucknell University	

2005 Keystone Symposia: Cellular Senescence and Cell Death Keystone Resort, Keystone, CO Poster Presenter 2004 European Molecular Biology Organization (EMBO) Workshop/58th Harden Conference: Telomeres and Genomic Instability Robinson College, Cambridge University, UK Poster Presenter

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere thanks to all of the people who have helped, supported, and encouraged me throughout my graduate career at MIT. You have made it possible for me to be where I am now.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Robert Weinberg. Thank you for your support and guidance throughout my time at MIT. Also, thank you for providing such a stimulating laboratory environment — an environment that has fostered my scientific curiosity, surrounded me with invaluable colleagues, and taught me to make Vietnamese spring rolls. For all these experiences, I am grateful.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members, Drs. Frank Solomon and Tyler Jacks, for their time and guidance while I have been at MIT. Your advice over the years has helped me a great deal, and for that I thank you.

I would also like to thank Drs. Michael Hemann and Karen Cichowski for taking the time to serve on my thesis defense committee. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Hemann for his valuable advice concerning the content of my thesis.

I would like to thank members of the Weinberg lab for their help and support during my graduate studies. Thank you for numerous protocols, reagents, and technical advice. Thank you, Joana Liu Donaher, for the ray of sunshine you bring into the lab. I still cannot believe you have friends in Home, PA. Thank you, Elinor Ng Eaton, for dropping everything at times I needed help with broken equipment, reagents, etc. Thank you, Ferenc Reinhardt, for your help and enthusiasm. Thank you, Priyamvada Rai, for your encouragement and support. Thank you, Randolph Watnick, for your helpful advice concerning this thesis. Also, thank you, Christine Hickey and Sumiko Williams, for your help throughout my time in the Weinberg lab.

Thank you, Matthew Saelzler, for your sarcasm and friendship. Your support has truly been priceless.

Thank you, Scott Valastyan, for keeping me levelheaded. You were a fine addition to our American room. Also, thank you for your thoughtful comments on my scientific writing. I am grateful for your help.

I would like to thank Mark Bray and Anne Carpenter for their help with the image analyses related to my project.

Furthermore, I would also like to thank my friends outside of the lab. You have made life at MIT enjoyable.

I would like to thank Celene and Sera for their help. I deeply appreciate everything you have done for me.

I would like to thank my sister Lora for her constant support over the past several years. Your encouragement and understanding has meant the world to me.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, David and Margaret, for their love and unwavering support. Mom, thank you for instilling in me the value of education, and Dad, thank you for sharing with me your love of nature.

ostract	I Note	•••••
logi apinca denowloda	omonts	•••••
bla of Cor	ements	•••••
able of Col		•••••
hapter 1: I	ntroduction	
_		
I.	Cancer as a multistep process	•••••
	Cell autonomous changes in the genome	•••••
	Multistep tumorigenesis	•••••
	Transformation and tumorigenicity	•••••
II.	RAS oncogenes	
	Discovery of RAS oncogenes	
	Ras proteins as GTPases	
	Post-translational modifications of Ras	
	Activation and regulation of Ras	
	Ras-GAPs	
	Ras-GEFs	
	Ras activation at the structural level	••••
	Ras effector pathways	
	Raf	
	PI3K	
	RalGDS and RalGDS-like genes	
	Additional Ras effectors	
	Downstream signaling by GDP-bound Ras	
	Oncogenic RAS and multistep tumorigenesis	
	RAS mutations in human tumors	
	ras activation in experimental animal models	•••••
III.	n38 MAPK	
	Background	
	Activation of p38	
	Signaling through the canonical p38 MAPK cascade	
	Activation of the p38 pathway by GTPases	
	Scaffolding proteins	
	Non-canonical activation of p38	
	Extracellular signals that activate p38	
	Inactivation of p38	
	Serine/threonine phosphatases	
	Tyrosine phosphatases	
	DI/SPs	
	Pathways downstream of n38	
	Protein kinases	

Table of Contents

	Transcription factors	48
	Other substrates	48
	p38 MAPKs and cancer	49
	Functions of p38 relevant to cancer	49
	Proliferation	50
	Apoptosis	51
	Differentiation	52
	Functions in later stage tumors	53
	p38 in human cancers	54
IV.	Cell-matrix adhesion	56
	Basics of cell-matrix adhesion	56
	Types of cell-matrix adhesions	58
	Steps of cell-matrix adhesion	59
	Cell attachment	60
	Cell spreading and formation of cell-matrix	
	adhesions	61
	Cell-matrix adhesion and cancer	62
V.	Perspectives	68
VI.	Figures and tables	70
VII.	References	77
VII. Chapter 2:	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras	77
VII. Chapter 2:	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion	77 105
VII. Chapter 2: 1 I.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract	77 105 106
VII. Chapter 2: I. II.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction	77 105 106 106
VII. Chapter 2: I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods	77 105 106 106 109
VII. Chapter 2: I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods <i>Plasmids and cell strains</i>	77 105 106 106 109 109
VII. Chapter 2: 1 I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment	77 105 106 106 109 109 109
VII. Chapter 2: I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis	77 105 106 106 109 109 109 110
VII. Chapter 2: 1 I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay	77 105 106 106 109 109 110 110
VII. Chapter 2: 1 I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay UV treatment	77 105 106 106 109 109 110 110 110
VII. Chapter 2: 1 I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay UV treatment Immunofluorescence	77 105 106 106 109 109 109 110 110 111
VII. Chapter 2: 1 I. II. III.	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay UV treatment Immunofluorescence Cell morphology analysis using CellProfiler	77 105 106 106 106 109 109 110 110 111 111
VII. Chapter 2:	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay UV treatment Immunofluorescence Cell morphology analysis using CellProfiler	77 105 106 106 106 109 109 109 110 110 111 111 111
VII. Chapter 2:	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay UV treatment Immunofluorescence Cell morphology analysis using CellProfiler Statistical analysis	77 105 106 106 106 109 109 109 110 110 111 111 112
VII. Chapter 2:	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay UV treatment Immunofluorescence Cell morphology analysis using CellProfiler Statistical analysis	77 105 106 106 106 109 109 109 110 110 111 111 111 112
VII. Chapter 2:	References Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Plasmids and cell strains Cell culture and drug treatment Western blot analysis Senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA β-gal) assay UV treatment Immunofluorescence Cell morphology analysis using CellProfiler Statistical analysis Results Dose-dependent effects of oncogenic Ras signaling on cellular	77 105 106 106 106 109 109 109 109 110 110 111 111 112 112

		p38 inhibition cooperates with oncogenic Ras signaling to	115
		affect cellular morphology	115
		p38 inhibition and oncogenic Ras signaling affect cell spreading and cell shape	117
		The inhibition of p38 and the activation of Ras work in	
		concert to reduce cell adhesion	119
		Inhibition of p38 and activation of oncogenic Ras reduce	
		focal adhesion formation	121
	V.	Discussion	122
	VI.	Acknowledgements	126
	VII.	Figures	127
	VIII.	Supplementary information	133
	IX.	Supplementary figures	136
	X.	References	138
Chapte	er 3: (Overview and future directions	142
	I.	Regulation of adhesion and cytoskeletal rearrangement by	
		Ras and p38	143
		Possible regulation downstream of p38	144
		Possible regulation downstream of oncogenic Ras	144
	II.	The role of low oncogenic Ras signaling in the transformation of	1 45
		human cells	147
		Impact on current models of transformation and	1 40
		tumorigenesis	148
		I he relevance of senescence to tumorigenesis	149
		Linking senescence in vivo to the upregutation of Ras	150
		Tumor-suppressive mechanisms in the absence of	152
		senescence	154 154
		Creating better models of human transformation	154
	III.	Final Perspective	157
	IV.	Figure	158
	- * *	-	1 20
	V .	Keferences	159

Chapter 1:

Introduction

I. Cancer as a multistep process

Cell autonomous changes in the genome

The development of cancer is a complex process that consists of genetic alterations within incipient cancer cells as well as the interaction of these cells with their extracellular environment. Regardless of the tissue of origin, developing cancer cells must undergo multiple, cooperating mutational events that together deregulate normal cell proliferation and tissue homeostasis in order to proceed to full-blown malignancy. The genes whose mutation promotes neoplastic development fall within two broad categories: oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes (1).

Oncogenes are genes whose wild-type counterparts, called proto-oncogenes, normally promote pro-growth responses of cells such as cellular proliferation and survival. Normal cells obey signals from their surrounding environment that restrict cell proliferation to those times when it is appropriate and necessary for the well-being of the tissue as a whole. The mutations that convert proto-oncogenes to oncogenes are dominant, gain-of-function mutations, which typically render the resulting oncogenes constitutively active irrespective of a cell's surroundings (1, 2).

In contrast, tumor suppressor genes are genes whose wild-type counterparts normally impede cell growth and proliferation. For example, tumor suppressor genes can induce cells to undergo apoptosis following DNA damage in an effort to eliminate cells that could potentially initiate tumor formation if permitted to survive, since these cells may have incurred pro-cancer lesions in their genes. During cancer development, tumor suppressor genes commonly undergo loss of function through mutations, deletions, or epigenetic changes. This loss of tumor

suppressor activity causes cells to become vulnerable to factors that foster uncontrolled proliferation and cancer development (1, 2).

Multistep tumorigenesis

Tumorigenesis is a multistep process that requires both the activation of proto-oncogenes and the inactivation of tumor suppressor genes. Indeed, analyses of human tumor samples, protocols used to transform normal mammalian cells, experiments using genetically engineered mouse models, and large-scale sequencing of cancer cell genomes have all indicated that tumor cells harbor multiple genetic changes in both proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes, with these genetic changes synergizing to create tumors and drive their progression (3-9). These genetic changes can be as subtle as point mutations or as extensive as chromosomal rearrangements. Importantly, the multiple and distinct genetic changes that are required to convert a normal cell into a cancer cell make mammals resistant to neoplastic development, thus explaining the delayed onset of non-hereditary cancers in the human population (1).

Incipient cancer cells are widely believed to undergo selection as they acquire sequential genetic changes, a process that promotes the expansion of daughter cells having the greatest proliferative advantage. It is this evolution of cells that underpins the metamorphosis of normal cells to cancer cells (1, 10). More specifically, the genetic alterations present within developing cancer cells must work together to confer six crucial abilities upon their host cells if the host cells are to become malignant. These abilities include: self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to growth-inhibitory signals, evasion of apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, and tissue invasion and metastasis (1). Regardless of which proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes become compromised in cells during neoplastic

progression, once cells have gained these six abilities they are thought to be fully malignant and capable of metastasizing to secondary sites, a process resulting in 90% of cancer-related deaths (1, 11).

Transformation and tumorigenicity

The genetic alterations incurred by normal mammalian cells, which enable them to become cancerous, cause these cells to acquire a new set of properties that positively correlate with tumorigenicity. More specifically, in comparison to normal cells, transformed cells generally exhibit differences in their *in vitro* morphology, adhesion, cytoskeletal arrangement, and proliferation as well as their *in vivo* tumorigenicity. The acquisition of these new properties by cells is referred to as transformation (Fig. 1; 12, 13).

When propagated under subconfluent culture conditions *in vitro*, transformed cells commonly exhibit a rounded morphology and refractile appearance, distinguishing them from their flatter, less-refractile normal counterparts (Fig. 1A; 12, 14, 15). Related to these changes in cellular morphology, transformed cells also exhibit reduced adhesion to their substratum and reorganization of their actin cytoskeletons (12, 13, 15). Moreover, when allowed to proliferate in culture to high cell densities, transformed cells usually display an irregular, crisscrossed orientation, which contrasts with the ordered, parallel alignment displayed by normal cells (12, 14-17).

In addition, normal cells undergo density-dependent growth arrest, also known as contact inhibition, when grown to a high density. Normal cells form an ordered monolayer upon reaching confluence, with the possibility of forming an ordered bilayer if maintained at confluence for an extended period of time. Most importantly, normal cells stop proliferating

upon forming a monolayer or bilayer despite the fact that they remain metabolically active. The behavior of transformed cells is strikingly different. Transformed cells fail to undergo contact inhibition and instead pile atop one another, forming multilayered clusters of cells (Fig. 1B; 12, 14, 16-19).

Another important difference between normal and transformed cells is that transformed, but not normal, cells are capable of anchorage-independent growth in either soft agar or suspension cultures (Fig. 1C; 12, 16, 20, 21). Whereas, normal cells rely on proper cell-matrix adhesions to survive and proliferate, transformed cells are able to circumvent the apoptotic and growth arrest programs, which prevent normal cells from surviving and proliferating in the absence of proper anchorage to a solid substrate. This ability permits transformed cells to form viable colonies in soft agar and aggregates in suspension (22, 23).

Although all of the aforementioned transformation-related properties are valuable for predicting whether a population of cells is tumorigenic or not, the tumorigenicity of the cells in question must nonetheless be tested *in vivo* in order to determine whether they are indeed malignantly transformed. For example, a cell population may be able to form colonies in soft agar but not be able to form tumors in an animal host. Cells exhibiting some, but not all of the *in vitro* and *in vivo* properties of transformation are considered to be partially transformed (12, 16, 18).

Importantly, despite that examination of *in vitro* transformation-associated properties is a useful predictor of the *in vivo* tumorigenicity of a population of cells, exceptions exist. For example, a cell line may undergo contact inhibition when grown in culture but prove to be tumorigenic in an animal host. Of note, these exceptions are more frequent in non-fibroblastic cell lines, such as those derived from epithelial tissues (12, 17, 18). However, the vast majority

of tumorigenic cell populations will display some *in vitro* transformation-related properties, causing examination of these properties to remain as a valuable method for scientists to assess the tumorigenic potential of a new cell line.

II. RAS oncogenes

Discovery of RAS oncogenes

In a 1964 report, Jennifer Harvey described collecting plasma from a leukemic rat that had been infected with the Moloney leukemia virus (MLV). Injecting the plasma harvested from this rat into animals of different rodent species caused these animals to develop sarcomas prior to their expected development of leukemia (24). The transforming retrovirus responsible for sarcoma formation was later named the Harvey murine sarcoma virus (Ha-MuSV) after the discovering scientist (25).

A similar discovery of another transforming retrovirus was reported in 1967. Serial passage of murine erythroblastosis virus (MEV) led to the identification of a virus capable of inducing the formation of sarcomas in mice. This virus was appropriately named the Kirsten murine sarcoma virus (Ki-MuSV) after its discoverer Werner Kirsten (25-27).

An understanding of the basis for the oncogenic properties inherent in Ha-MuSV and Ki-MuSV emerged in 1973 when Ki-MuSV was shown to contain nucleic acid sequences present in rat cells in addition to sequences derived from MEV (28). Furthermore, a protein product produced from the nucleic acid sequences that are homologous to those found in rat cells was shown to be responsible for the oncogenic properties displayed by Ha-MuSV and Ki-MuSV (29, 30).

By the beginning of 1980s, the genomes of Ha-MuSV and Ki-MuSV had been cloned (31, 32), and it was confirmed that Ha-MuSV and Ki-MuSV were in fact the product of recombination events between the original murine leukemogenic retroviruses and sequences from rat cells, which contain ancestral retroviral sequences called 30S RNA and rat cellular genes (30, 33). The rat cellular genes present in Ha-MuSV and Ki-MuSV were soon discovered to be two distinct but related vertebrate genes (34). These rodent genes were subsequently named with the acronyms *Hras* and *Kras*, respectively, standing for Harvey and Kirsten rat sarcoma (25). The human genes homologous to these rodent genes were identified in 1982 (35) and named *HRAS* and *KRAS* (25). It was later discovered that the *KRAS* gene gives rise to two different protein products, K-Ras4A and K-Ras4B, which result from alternative splicing of the *KRAS* pre-mRNA (36).

While the nature of viral oncogenes was being elucidated, other work was being done to search for mammalian genes capable of inducing transformation and tumorigenesis. In 1979, the genomic DNA from chemically transformed mouse cells was shown to transform NIH-3T3 murine fibroblasts upon transfection, as measured by changes in the morphology of NIH-3T3 cells as well as in their abilities to form foci in monolayer culture, grow in soft agar, and induce tumors in mice (37). Soon after, it was discovered that the genomic DNA from tumorigenic cell lines, which had been derived from different species, could transform NIH-3T3 cells upon transfection (38-40).

In addition, it was shown that Alu sequences, which are found in human but not murine genomes, were present in the murine NIH-3T3 cells that had been transfected with DNA from human tumor cell lines. This experiment, which had not been possible in the initial intraspecies transfection studies, demonstrated that the NIH-3T3 cells had integrated the transfected human

DNA into their genomes (40). Furthermore, in an independent set of experiments, NIH-3T3 cells, which had been transformed with DNA derived from three different human tumor cell lines, were found to harbor the same pattern of Alu-containing sequences, indicating that a singular gene was responsible for the transformation of NIH-3T3 cells (39).

In 1982, the presence of oncogenic genes in human tumor cells was confirmed by the cloning of a transforming gene from the T24 and EJ human bladder carcinoma cell lines (41-43). Furthermore, it was discovered that these human oncogenes were homologous to the *Hras* and *Kras* oncogenes that had been hijacked by the murine leukemia viruses (44-46). Indeed, oncogenic *Kras* was quickly identified as the oncogene present in those chemically transformed mouse cells that had been found to be responsible for transforming NIH-3T3 cells in the initial transfection experiments reported in 1979 (47).

In 1983, the third and final member of the *RAS* family was identified in neuroblastoma and sarcoma human cell lines, being found to share similarity with the *HRAS* and *KRAS* genes (48-50). This gene was named *NRAS* (*Nras* in mice) since it had been identified in neuroblastoma cells (25).

Both prior and subsequent to the discovery of *NRAS*, much additional work was done to understand the oncogenic and normal properties of *RAS* genes and their protein products. Many reports have shed light upon the molecular nature of oncogenic *RAS* and its functions in human tumors. In addition, there is now a wealth of knowledge concerning the molecular players that signal to the Ras protein and receive signals from Ras in both normal and tumor cells (25, 51, 52). The next several sections provide an overview of our current understanding of Ras and its role in tumorigenesis.

Ras proteins as GTPases

It became clear in the early 1980s that oncogenic *RAS* induces transformation as a result of single point mutations in its coding sequence. The first point mutation found to confer oncogenic properties upon Ras was the guanine-to-thymine mutation in codon12, which results in the amino acid valine being substituted for glycine at that position (G12V substitution) (53-56). Subsequently, point mutations at codons 13, 59, 61, 63, 116, and 119 were also found to promote the Ras-induced transformation of cells (57-61).

The functional ramifications of the activating point mutations began to be uncovered as more information was gathered concerning the protein products of *RAS* genes. In the late 1970s, the oncogenic *Ras* genes present in Ha-MSV and Ki-MSV were shown to encode 21,000-Dalton proteins ((29, 30, 62). Soon after their identification, Ras proteins were suspected to be GTPases since they were found to bind guanine nucleotides (63) and to associate with the cellular membranes (64, 65), behaviors which resemble that of GTPases called heterotrimeric G proteins, which had previously been identified in cells (66).

G proteins are intermediaries in transmembrane signaling pathways that consist of three components: upstream receptors, G proteins, and downstream effectors. Extracellular ligands bind to and activate membrane-bound receptors, leading to activation of G proteins. Activated G proteins then activate downstream effector proteins, thus triggering a cellular response to extracellular signals (66).

The activation state of a G protein is contingent upon whether it is bound to GTP or GDP. A G protein's binding of GTP typically activates the protein and enables it to signal to its downstream targets. However, G proteins possess an intrinsic GTPase activity that hydrolyzes bound GTP to GDP and inorganic phosphate. When bound to GDP, a G protein is usually inactivated and unable to interact with its effectors (66).

Suspicions that Ras is a GTPase were confirmed in 1984 when several reports showed that oncogenic H-Ras proteins harboring point mutations at codon 12 exhibit decreased GTP hydrolyzing activity in comparison to wild-type H-Ras. This observation indicated that GTP hydrolysis is an important regulator of Ras activity, just as it is for the activity of heterotrimeric G proteins (67-69). Likewise, transformation-inducing mutations at codon 61 were also shown to reduce the GTPase activity of Ras (70). This and other research done in the early to mid 1980s indicated that the point mutations able to confer oncogenic activity upon *RAS* do so by compromising the ability of the Ras protein to hydrolyze GTP, thus keeping Ras in the active, GTP-bound state (52).

Post-translational modifications of Ras

Both wild-type and oncogenic Ras proteins must associate with cellular membranes to become biologically active (36, 71, 72). *RAS* gene products are synthesized as cytosolic proteins but undergo two important types of post-translational modifications in order to be targeted to membranes. These modifications are the farnesylation and palmitoylation of amino acid residues at the carboxyl terminus of Ras (36, 52).

H-Ras, K-Ras and N-Ras each have a CAAX amino acid motif at their carboxyl termini, where "C" stands for cysteine, "A" stands for an aliphatic amino acid and "X" stands for any amino acid (36). The enzyme farnesyltransferase covalently modifies the cysteine of the CAAX motif by attaching a farnesyl isoprenoid lipid to this amino acid (73-75). This farnesylation step is followed by the proteolytic cleavage of the AAX sequence and the carboxymethylation of the now-carboxyl terminal cysteine residue (36, 52).

Interestingly, K-Ras4B, unlike the rest of the Ras family proteins, requires no modification beyond farnesylation to anchor itself to the plasma membrane, due to its series of positively charged lysine residues located within its carboxyl terminus. These lysine residues act as a second signal directing K-Ras4B's localization to the negatively charged membrane (36, 76). The exact mechanism of K-Ras4B's transport to the plasma membrane, however, is unknown (76).

In contrast, H-Ras, K-Ras4A, and N-Ras require the enzyme palmitoyltransferase to attach palmitoyl moieties to one or two cysteines upstream of the farnesylated cysteine in order to localize themselves to cellular membranes (77). These fully modified H-Ras, K-Ras4A, and N-Ras proteins are then shuttled to the plasma membrane through traditional vesicular transport (36). More recently, work has shown that a small amount of H- and N-Ras is ubiquitinated, promoting the redistribution of these proteins from the plasma membrane to endosomes (78, 79).

Activation and regulation of Ras

Ras was first implicated in transmitting extracellular signals in 1984 when epidermal growth factor (EGF) was found to stimulate the binding of Ras to GTP (80). Since then, much has been learned about the proteins that regulate the activation and inactivation of Ras proteins. For example, we now know that the level of GTPase activity exhibited by Ras proteins in a test tube is very low in comparison to that observed in living cells. Similarly, the rate of GDP to GTP exchange that is intrinsic to Ras proteins is too low to account for the rapid nucleotide cycling that occurs upon the stimulation of living cells with extracellular ligands (25, 51). These

observations led to the discovery of two families of proteins that are central regulators of Ras activity: GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) and guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) (36, 51).

Ras-GAPs negatively regulate Ras signaling by increasing the rate at which Ras hydrolyzes its bound GTP to GDP (81). In contrast, Ras-GEFs positively regulate Ras signaling by promoting the displacement of GDP, thus enabling Ras proteins to bind GTP, which is more abundant than GDP in the cytosol of cells; such GTP-bound Ras molecules are then placed in an actively signaling state (82). As a result, an ongoing tug-of-war between the members of these two large protein families determines whether or not signaling pathways downstream of Ras are activated (36, 51).

Ras-GAPs

Humans and other mammals express several different Ras-GAPs. The first Ras-GAP to be discovered was the ubiquitously expressed p120GAP (83-85). Following p120GAP's discovery, a second Ras-GAP called neurofibromin-1 (NF1) was identified. NF1 displays a more limited expression pattern in the body than p120GAP, with its mutation causing the familial cancer syndrome neurofibromatosis type 1 (82, 86-89).

Subsequent to NF1, a third class of Ras-GAPs was identified, the GAP1 family. The GAP1 family consists of four members: GAP1^m, GAP1^{IP4BP}, Ca²⁺-promoted Ras inactivator (CAPRI) and RAS-GTPase-activating protein-like (RASAL). However, these Ras-GAPs exhibit a much more restricted pattern of expression than either p120GAP or NF1 (90). Interestingly, the RAS-GAP activity of CAPRI and RASAL, but not that of GAP1^m and GAP1^{IP4BP}, is

stimulated by an increase in the intracellular concentration of free Ca²⁺, which causes both proteins to translocate to the plasma membrane (82).

The final Ras-GAP family to be identified is the synaptic GAP (SynGAP) family, of which SynGAP, DAB2-interacting protein (DAB2IP) and nGAP are members. The "n" of nGAP stands for nematode due to its homology to the GAP-2 protein of *C. elegans* (91). SynGAP itself is a Ras-GAP located at the excitatory synapses of neurons and shown to be an important regulator of signaling downstream of Ras in these cells (92, 93). The second SynGAP member, DAB2IP, has been found to act as a tumor suppressor gene and to be inactivated in prostate and breast cancers (94, 95). Little is known about the role of the last SynGAP member, nGAP; however, nGAP was able to rescue loss of Ras-GAP activity in yeast, indicating that it likely functions as a Ras-GAP in human cells (91).

Ras-GEFs

Similar to the Ras-GAPs, the Ras-GEF family of proteins includes many members that fall within different subfamilies. The search for Ras-GEFs originated in efforts that were directed toward understanding how extracellular mitogenic signals promote the binding of Ras to GTP. Because Ras proteins were known to share homology with heterotrimeric G proteins, it was reasoned that Ras family members, like G proteins, would bind GEFs to become activated (25). This thinking led to identification of the first Ras-GEF, a yeast protein called cell-divisioncycle-25 (Cdc25), which is not to be confused with the cyclin-dependent kinase phosphatase bearing the same name (96, 97).

The identification of Cdc25 in yeast paved the way for the cloning of the first mammalian Ras-GEF, a protein named son of sevenless (SOS) for its role in eye development in

fruit flies (98). To date, four subfamilies of Ras-GEFs have been identified: SOS, Ras guanine nucleotide-releasing factor (RasGRF), Ras guanine nucleotide-releasing protein (RasGRP) and cyclic nucleotide-dependent Ras GEF (CNrasGEF). In addition, phospholipase C- ε (PLC ε) also includes domains that share homology with those of known Ras-GEFs, indicating that it could function as a Ras-GEF. However, whether PLC ε performs this function in living cells remains unclear (36).

The ubiquitously expressed SOS family of Ras-GEFs, composed of members SOS1 and SOS2, couples the activation of receptor tyrosine kinases to Ras activation (36, 99). In contrast, RasGRF proteins are principally expressed in the central nervous system (36, 99, 100) and are activated downstream of multiple neuronal receptors in a calcium-dependent manner (101-107). Like RasGRFs, CNrasGEF is expressed predominantly in the brain (108), but appears to operate downstream of G-protein-coupled receptors (109). RasGRPs also display a limited expression profile, but appear to be important in immune cell activation, functioning downstream of non-receptor tyrosine kinases (36, 110-113).

The connection between cell-surface receptors that receive extracellular signals and the activity of Ras-GEFs was elucidated with the identification of the adaptor protein growth factor receptor-bound protein-2 (GRB2) (25). GRB2 is composed of a single SH2 domain flanked by SH3 domains, which participate in protein–protein interactions through amino acid regions rich in proline. GRB2 was found to bind the activated EGF receptor via its single SH2 domain and SOS via its two SH3 domains. Through these interactions, GRB2 forms a bridge that links signals originating from outside of the cell with the intracellular activation of Ras signaling (114-118).

Following the identification of Ras-GEFs and GRB2, much has been learned about the mechanism by which Ras becomes activated in response to extracellular signals. SOS is the Ras-GEF that has been most extensively studied (36), and as such, a rather complete portrait of Ras activation through SOS has been developed:

First, growth factors, like EGF, induce the rapid dimerization and autophosphorylation of their respective tyrosine kinase receptors. Then, GRB2, though its SH2 domain, binds to phosphorylated tyrosine residues in the non-catalytic region of an activated receptor. SOS translocates to the plasma membrane through both its carboxyl-terminal GRB2-binding site and its amino-terminal lipid-binding pleckstrin homology (PH) domain (119-121). In addition to helping SOS anchor itself to the membrane, the binding of SOS to GRB2 causes a conformational change in SOS that frees SOS from self-imposed negative regulation (122).

Furthermore, association of the SOS PH domain with membrane phospholipids also induces the binding of SOS to GDP-bound Ras, permitting a low level of SOS activity. Lowlevel SOS activity allows Ras to exchange GDP for GTP (122). Once bound to GTP, Ras elicits maximal SOS activity, triggering a positive feedback loop that increases the amplitude and duration of Ras signaling (123).

Ras activation at the structural level

The tertiary structures of H-, K-, and N-Ras proteins are nearly identical, given that they share a very high degree of similarity over the first 87% of their amino acid sequences (124, 125). Each Ras protein is composed of six β -sheets that are surrounded by five α - helices; ten loops link these secondary structures together (52). Magnesium ions present in cells enable Ras

to associate tightly with guanine nucleotides, causing Ras to be continuously bound to either GTP or GDP.

Two regions within Ras proteins, called Switch I (amino acids 30 to 38) and Switch II (amino acids 59 to 67), undergo dramatic structural changes upon the swapping of bound GDP for GTP or vice versa (126). The conformation of Switch I depends heavily upon threonine 35. The exchange of GTP for GDP causes the side chain of threonine 35 to be rotated inward so that it can interact with GTP's γ -phosphate and the bound magnesium ion (52). The γ -phosphate of GTP also causes glycine 60 to reorient itself, inducing changes in the conformational of Switch II (52).

As mentioned previously, oncogenic *RAS* mutations are predominately found at codons 12, 13, and 61. Analysis of crystal structures of mutant Ras proteins has shown that the GTPase activity of Ras is crippled by amino acid substitutions resulting from these oncogenic mutations. More specifically, codons 12 and 13 encode glycine residues in wild-type Ras. Replacing glycine with any other amino acid introduces a side chain at glycine's former position. Codons 12 and 13 are sensitive to mutation, since introducing an amino acid bearing a side chain at either of these positions appears to interfere sterically with the ability of Ras-GAPs to properly stabilize the transition state of the GTP hydrolysis reaction (127-129).

Mutation of codon 61, which normally encodes glutamine, also hinders GTPase activity. Through its interaction with Ras-GAPs, glutamine activates the water molecule of the hydrolysis reaction for attack of GTP's γ -phosphate and contributes to the stabilization of the transition state (127, 129). As a result, oncogenic mutations in Ras stabilize the Ras-GTP complex, leading to constitutive activation of Ras signaling (52, 82).

Ras effector pathways

Active Ras proteins have been shown to communicate with numerous downstream effectors that drive diverse biological outcomes, such as the cancer-relevant processes of cellular proliferation, resistance to apoptosis, invasiveness, and angiogenesis (130). Ras effectors have a high affinity for Ras when it is bound to GTP but not GDP. Although amino acids in both the Switch I and Switch II regions have been implicated in the association of upstream and downstream binding partners with Ras, the Ras effector-binding domain, which is composed of amino acids 32 through 40, is the region that is critical for the binding of Ras to its downstream targets (36, 52, 125).

The three most well-studied families of Ras effectors are Raf serine/threonine kinases, phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3Ks), and exchange factors for Ral proteins, known as Ral guanine nucleotide dissociation stimulator (RalGDS) and RalGDS-like (RGL) proteins (130, 131). Although less well-characterized, additional Ras effectors have also been identified, including the following proteins: phospholipase C- ε (PLC ε), T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis-1 (Tiam1), Ras interaction/interference protein-1 (Rin1), acute lymphoblastic leukemia-1 fused gene on chromosome 6 (AF-6), and Ras association domain-containing family (RASSF) proteins (126).

Raf

The first Ras effector to be discovered was the serine/threonine kinase Raf-1 (132-136), a protein found to be necessary for the Ras-induced transformation of NIH-3T3 cells (137). The related genes *A*-*RAF* and *B*-*RAF* were identified subsequently to the discovery of *RAF-1*. The

protein products of this gene family are activated upon binding to GTP-bound Ras, with their activation promoting cell-cycle progression (51, 126).

The association of GTP-bound Ras with Raf localizes Raf to the plasma membrane, a process known to be crucial for its activation (138, 139). Although further details concerning the mechanism of Raf's activation by Ras are not well understood, the binding of active Ras to Raf also stimulates Raf to undergo conformational changes, multiple phosphorylation events, and hetero-oligomerization with other Raf family members, with each of these events contributing to the full activation of Raf (126, 140, 141). Hetero-oligomerization of Raf proteins is believed to occur through the binding of dimers of 14-3-3 adaptor proteins (140). In addition, the assembly of Raf into an active signaling complex appears to require the chaperonin proteins Hsp90 and p50/Cdc37 (142).

Once activated by Ras, and through the assistance of scaffold proteins, Raf phosphorylates and activates MEK1 and MEK2, the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) kinases. MEK in turn phosphorylates and activates the MAPKs, ERK1 and ERK2. Activated ERKs then phosphorylate and activate various cytosolic and nuclear proteins (126, 141).

While an exhaustive list of ERK targets has yet to be defined, the best-characterized targets of ERK are transcription factors. Activated ERK translocates into the nucleus to phosphorylate and activate E26-transcription factor proteins (ETS), like Elk, which interact with serum response factor (SRF) to regulate the expression of many immediate early response genes, such as c-*FOS*. ERK also phosphorylates the c-JUN protein, which binds c-FOS protein to form the activator protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factor (51, 52, 130, 141, 143). The activation of

these transcription factors drives the expression of critical cell-cycle regulators, such as D-type cyclins, thus promoting progression of cells through the G1 phase of the cell cycle (144).

PI3K

After the Raf family of protein kinases, the PI3Ks are the next best characterized Ras effectors (130). Similar to Raf, active PI3K is required for the Ras-induced transformation of NIH-3T3 cells (145). The association of GTP-bound Ras with the catalytic subunit of type I PI3Ks promotes their translocation to the membrane and causes them to undergo conformational changes (145, 146). Once activated, these lipid kinases phosphorylate phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PtdIns(4,5)P₂), thereby converting it to phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃).

PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ is a second messenger that binds to a variety of proteins, including 3phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 (PDK1) and Akt/protein kinase B (PKB). The binding of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ to PDK1 and Akt localizes these proteins to the plasma membrane, where PDK1 phosphorylates and activates Akt (147, 148). Active Akt then performs an important function downstream of Ras by promoting cell survival through its phosphorylation of multiple proteins that trigger anti-apoptotic signaling pathways (130, 149).

In addition to the production of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ leading to activation of Akt, PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ causes activation of the small GTPase Rac by binding Rac-GEFs; Rac is similar to Ras in that Rac is activated when GTP-bound (130). Rac both regulates the actin cytoskeleton and activates transcription factor pathways, such as the anti-apoptotic protein nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B). Importantly, the activity of Rac has been shown to be important for Ras-induced tumorigenesis (150).

RalGDS and RalGDS-like genes

The third most studied class of Ras effectors are the RalGDS and RalGDS-like proteins, which are GEFs for the RalA and RalB small GTPases (130). Initial studies of RalGDS function indicated that activation of this pathway could not itself induce the transformation of NIH-3T3 cells. However, activating the Ral pathway in combination with activation of the Raf pathway was found to enhance the transformation of NIH-3T3 cells beyond that observed for cells in which Raf was activated alone (151, 152).

Experiments performed in human cells also suggest that activation of RalGDS is important in the Ras-induced transformation and tumorigenesis of human cells (153, 154). Furthermore, RalA appears to be necessary for the anchorage-independent proliferation of tumorigenic human cells, and RalB appears to be necessary for their survival (155). In spite of these intriguing data, however, the signaling pathways lying downstream of activated Ral that are critical for promoting Ras-induced transformation remain ambiguous (52).

Additional Ras effectors

Beyond the Raf, PI3K, and RalGDS proteins, various other proteins have been reported to function as Ras effectors. For the most part, the roles of these diverse proteins in Ras signaling and transformation continue to be obscure. However, ongoing work has begun to shed light upon the biology of the following Ras effectors: PLCε, Tiam1, Rin1, AF-6, and RASSF (52, 126).

PLC ε catalyzes the hydrolysis of PtdIns(4,5)P₂ to diacylglycerol and inositol-1,4,5trisphosphate (Ins(1,4,5)P₃) (51). As mentioned previously, PLC ε may be a Ras-GEF given that it shares homology with known Ras-GEFs (36, 156). In addition, PLC ε could also regulate RasGAPs and Ras-GEFs whose activity appears to be dependent upon the binding of calcium and/or diacylglycerol. Through its actions on Ras-GEFs and Ras-GAPs, PLC ε potentially provides mechanisms of both feed-forward and feedback control of Ras (156).

The identification of Tiam1 as an effector downstream of Ras has provided a second connection between the activation of Ras and the activation of the Rac; the first connection being the activation of Rac through the PI3K pathway as described earlier (157, 158). However, somewhat unexpectedly, Tiam1 appears to play an important role downstream of Ras in its own right. Experiments employing a carcinogen-induced tumor model in which Ras invariably undergoes oncogenic activation showed that knockout of *Tiam1* delayed tumor formation. Also, fibroblasts harvested from *Tiam1*-null mice were resistant to Ras-induced transformation. It is important to note, however, that whereas few tumors formed in the *Tiam1*-null background, a greater percentage of those that did form became invasive and malignant. These intriguing data suggest that Tiam1 may play different roles at different stages of tumor development (159).

The protein AF-6 was found to bind H-Ras *in vitro* (160) and may link Ras signaling with regulation of the actin cytoskeletal and cell-cell junctions. AF-6 was found to bind F-actin (161) and to associate with adherens and tight junctions (161, 162). AF-6 has also been shown to play an active role in regulating cell-cell junctions as it is necessary for the proper formation of epithelial cell-cell junctions and cell polarity during embryogenesis (162, 163). Moreover, Ras competes with the tight junction protein zona occludens 1 (ZO-1) for binding to AF-6, suggesting that Ras may disrupt cell-cell contacts by disrupting the binding of ZO-1 to AF-6 (162).

Unlike the previously described Ras effectors, Ras interaction/interference (Rin) is an example of a Ras effector that impedes Ras-induced transformation and tumorigenesis (164).

There are two potential mechanisms through which Rin could exert its effect as a tumor suppressor. First, Rin has been shown to compete directly with Raf for binding to Ras (165). Alternatively, Rin was found to trigger the endocytosis of growth factor receptors that activate Ras signaling (166).

Another class of Ras effectors is the RASSF family of proteins. Currently, three RASSF proteins, RASSF1, RASSF2, and RASSF5, have been characterized and, like Rin, were found to exhibit tumor suppressive functions. More specifically, RASSF1, 2, and 5 exhibit anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic functions (167-170). Indeed, multiple human tumor types exhibit loss of *RASSF* gene expression (171-173), and *RASSF1* knockout mice are more susceptible to spontaneous or chemically induced tumorigenesis (174).

Downstream signaling by GDP-bound Ras

Despite the overwhelming attention that has been given to signaling downstream of "active", GTP-bound Ras, there is evidence that GDP-bound Ras can also bind effector proteins and modulate signaling pathways (175). For example, GDP-bound, but not GTP-bound, Ras binds to the transcription factor Aiolos, sequestering Aiolos in the cytoplasm. This sequestration prevents Aiolos from translocating to the nucleus where it promotes expression of the anti-apoptotic protein B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia/lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) (176).

Oncogenic RAS and multistep tumorigenesis

Studies of transformation by oncogenic Ras provided crucial experimental evidence of multistep transformation. As mentioned previously, early work illustrated that DNA sequences, later shown to encode *RAS* oncogenes, could transform NIH-3T3 cells (37-40). Around the same

time, the normal *Hras* gene of rats was also found to be able to transform NIH-3T3 cells when overexpressed to high levels by a retrovirus (177). However, oncogenic *ras* could not transform freshly isolated, normal rat cells, indicating that some property of NIH-3T3 cells made them amenable to transformation (3, 4).

The difference in transformation potential between NIH-3T3 cells and normal rat cells turned out to be attributable to differences in the *in vitro* culture histories of these cell populations. NIH-3T3 cells had been established in culture and, as such, possessed an unlimited replicative potential; in other words, they were immortal. In contrast, the normal rat cells had not undergone extensive passage in culture and were not immortalized like the NIH-3T3 cells. It was this unlimited replicative potential of NIH-3T3 cells that rendered them amenable to transformation by *ras* (25, 52).

The property of spontaneous immortalization could be functionally replaced in transformation assays by exposing cells to carcinogens prior to transfecting them with *ras* (178) or by expressing a second oncogene, such *myc*, SV40 large T antigen, or E1A, along with the *ras* oncogene (3, 4). These studies helped lay the foundation for our current understanding of tumor evolution by providing evidence for the concept of multistep tumorigenesis (25). Indeed, subsequent to these pioneering experiments, additional work has shown that normal human cells behave similarly to normal rat cells in that they also require multiple genetic alterations to become fully transformed (6, 21, 154, 179).

RAS mutations in human tumors

The first evidence that point mutations occurred in actual human tumors, and not only in human tumor cell lines that had been extensively propagated in culture, emerged in 1984. Point mutations were identified in codon 12 of *KRAS* in tumor biopsies from a patient bearing a squamous cell lung carcinoma but not in normal tissue sample from that same patient (180). Following this discovery, a massive effort was undertaken to identify *RAS* mutations in other human cancers (181).

To date, oncogenic *RAS* mutations have been found in many human cancers, with cancers of the pancreas, intestine, biliary tract, and skin displaying the greatest prevalence of *RAS* mutations (Table 1). Furthermore, mutations in different *RAS* genes are found in different types of cancers. For example, mutations in *KRAS* are commonly found in pancreatic, lung, and colon carcinomas (51, 181). Oncogenic *HRAS* mutations are prevalent in bladder carcinomas (51, 182), whereas oncogenic *NRAS* mutations are predominant in leukemias and melanomas (59, 183-186).

In addition, although mutation of codon 12 of *RAS* occurs most frequently, human tumors may also exhibit oncogenic mutations in *RAS* genes at codons 13 and 61. These three mutations together account for nearly all *RAS* mutations found in human neoplasias (51).

ras activation in experimental animal models

Evidence that oncogenic Ras actively contributes to cancer development *in vivo* has been provided though extensive work done using experimental animal models. As a first step, oncogenic *ras* mutations were discovered in rodent models in which tumor formation was induced by carcinogens or γ -irradiation (187-190). The first evidence for the involvement of oncogenic *ras* in the initiation of tumor development was obtained when, in one carcinogenbased tumor model, the second nucleotide in codon 12 of *Hras* was mutated by a guanine-to-

adenine transition, the exact base substitution known to be induced by the carcinogen that had been used (191).

Subsequently, various genetically engineered mouse models of cancer have strongly tied oncogenic *ras* mutations to tumor initiation, development, and maintenance. Oncogenic *ras* induces tumor formation in different organs when aberrantly expressed using tissue-specific promoters (192-194). In addition, experiments performed using genetically engineered mouse models that involve inducible *ras* transgenes indicate that sustained *ras* expression is necessary for continued tumor progression (195, 196).

More recently, mouse models of cancer have become even more adept at recapitulating the events that occur during the development of human cancers by employing the conditional expression of the *Kras* oncogene from the endogenous *Kras* locus. Importantly, experiments utilizing a transgenic mouse model in which oncogenic *Hras* is expressed in mammary tissue in an inducible manner showed that different levels of oncogenic *Hras* dictate different biological outcomes *in vivo* (197). These results argue that expressing oncogenic *ras* genes at physiological levels is necessary to create mouse models of human cancers in the most accurate manner possible.

An increasing number of *RAS*-related studies are incorporating mouse models that express oncogenic *Kras* from the endogenous locus. Importantly, each of these models specifically targets oncogenic *Kras* to a particular organ (198-211). In addition, a subset of these models employs techniques that actively induce the expression of oncogenic *Kras* in mature mice but not younger animals (198, 201, 202, 206, 207, 209, 211). Thus, by using endogenous oncogenic *Kras* mouse models, researchers can mimic the spaciotemporal activation of Ras

signaling in human cancers by expressing oncogenic *Kras* in specific mouse organs and in a delayed manner.

Indeed, the pathologies of several human neoplasias, which frequently harbor *RAS* oncogenes, have been closely imitated in mice by expressing oncogenic *Kras* at physiological levels, either alone or in the presence of another genetic alteration germane to the cancer of interest (198-210). Although there are caveats associated with the use of these endogenous models of oncogenic *Kras* expression, such as concerted activation of oncogenic Kras signaling in a large number of cells and the expression of only one copy of wild-type *Kras* in cells, these models are providing invaluable information concerning the role of K-Ras in the initiation and progression of human neoplasias.

In contrast to the oncogenic *Kras* mouse models described above, there is a lack of studies describing mouse models in which either oncogenic *Hras* or *Nras* is expressed from its corresponding endogenous locus (212). In one colon cancer mouse model, oncogenic *Nras* was expressed from the endogenous *Nras* locus to determine whether oncogenic *Nras* could substitute for oncogenic *Kras* to induce hyperplasia of the colonic epithelium and to and promote high-grade dysplasia in tumors (213). The failure of oncogenic *Nras* to reproduce the tumor-promoting functions of oncogenic *Kras* in this mouse model may shed light upon why human colon cancers are commonly found to harbor oncogenic mutations in *KRAS* but not *NRAS*. As a result, further work is necessary to examine the functions oncogenic *Nras* in mouse models of human cancers that exhibit a high frequency *NRAS* mutation, such as melanoma (51). Similarly, the use of mouse models in which oncogenic *Hras* is expressed at physiological levels in tissue types that give rise to neoplasias known to harbor *HRAS* mutations is likely to provide valuable insight into the role of this oncogene in human cancers.

III. p38 MAPK

Background

Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are members of signaling pathways crucial for the ability of cells to respond to extracellular signals (214, 215). The most well known of the MAPKs are the ERKs (216), which were introduced earlier due to their function downstream of the Ras effector Raf. As expected, given their connection to Ras, ERK1 and 2 are involved in transmitting mitogenic signals within cells and promote cellular proliferation. However, mammalian cells also contain additional MAPK families that respond to disparate extracellular stimuli and regulate cell behavior in response to these stimuli (215). Relevant to the work presented in Chapter 2 is the p38 family of MAPKs.

Unlike ERK, p38 MAPK is a stress-activated protein kinase that becomes highly activated in response to inflammatory cytokines and environmental stresses, such as heat or osmotic shock (214-216). Four different p38 family members (α , β , γ , and δ) have been identified in mammals and are approximately 60% identical at the amino acid level. p38 α is highly expressed throughout the body, whereas p38 β is ubiquitously expressed but at lower levels, and its contribution to p38 signaling remains ambiguous. In contrast, p38 γ and δ exhibit a more restricted expression pattern and may perform more specialized functions (217, 218).

As with other MAPK kinases, p38 is the final tier in a three-tier kinase cascade (Fig. 2). MAPKs are phosphorylated and activated by MAPK kinases (MAP2Ks), and MAP2Ks are phosphorylated and activated by MAPK kinase kinases (MAP3Ks). Indeed, Raf and MEK, which were introduced earlier as being activated downstream of Ras, are the MAP3K and MAP2K, respectively, that are upstream of ERK (216).
p38 MAP2Ks activate each p38 family member by dual phosphorylation of the Thr-Gly-Tyr motif located in the p38 activation loop. Activated p38 proteins then phosphorylate Ser-Pro or Thr-Pro MAPK consensus motifs contained within downstream targets (214, 219). The MAP2Ks and MAP3Ks that are capable of activating p38, in addition to the various substrates activated by p38, will be elaborated upon in the following sections.

Activation of p38

Signaling through the canonical p38 MAPK cascade

p38 proteins are activated by MAP2Ks called MAP kinase kinase 3 (MKK3) and MKK6 (Fig. 2). MKK3 and 6 specifically activate p38, failing to activate proteins of other MAPK families (220-224). p38 can also be activated by MKK4, which was originally discovered as a MAP2K for the JUN N-terminal kinases (JNKs), another family of stress-activated MAPKs. Activation of p38 by MKK4 especially appears to occur in situations where MKK3 and 6 are unavailable (220, 225).

As mentioned above, MKKs that activate p38 are themselves activated through phosphorylation by a MAP3K (Fig. 2). A number of MAP3Ks have been found to activate the p38 pathway, with particular MAP3Ks activating p38 in a manner that is dependent upon both the stimulus and cell type. MAP3Ks found to activate p38 signaling include apoptosis signalregulating kinase-1 (ASK1), transforming growth factor β -activated kinase-1 (TAK1), thousand and one kinases (TAOs), mixed-lineage kinases (MLKs), and MEK kinases (MEKKs) (226-234).

Importantly, the activated forms of many of these MAP3Ks induce the activation of both p38 and the second stress-activated MAPK, JNK. For example, ASK1, TAK1, MLKs, and MEKKs are all capable of activating both p38 and JNK signaling, indicating that these pathways

often undergo co-regulation in cells in response to stress signals (214, 235). A different dynamic exists with respect to activation of p38 and JNK by TAOs. TAO1 and TAO2 appear to activate p38 specifically, failing to activate JNK in situations of endogenous TAO activation (233). However, the *TAO2* gene also produces a splice variant called prostate derived STE20-like kinase (*PSK*) that specifically activates JNK signaling (236). Thus, *TAO2* gene products also appear to co-regulate the p38 and JNK pathways.

Activation of p38 signaling by GTPases

Although less is known about the upstream molecules that initially trigger activation of the p38 MAPK cascade than is known about those molecules upstream of the better-studied ERK MAPK, a general picture of p38 pathway activation has begun to emerge. Indeed, similar to the activation of ERK signaling by the small GTPase Ras, small GTPases of the Rho family can activate p38. Members of the Rho family capable of activating p38 include Rac, cell division cycle 42 (Cdc42), Rho, and Rit (237-241). In addition, evidence exists that p38 can be activated by heterotrimeric G proteins. However, stimulation of p38 signaling by heterotrimeric G proteins is much less understood than is p38's stimulation by Rho family GTPases (242, 243).

Rho family GTPases are best known for their regulation of the actin cytoskeleton and its related functions, such as cell migration and adhesion, but have also been found to play roles in cell proliferation, transcription, vesicle transport, microtubule dynamics, and neuronal development (244). Despite that further work is also necessary to understand the precise roles that p38 plays in the signaling downstream of Rho family GTPases, some clues have begun to emerge as to which functions downstream of Rho family proteins are mediated by p38. For example, evidence suggests that, in certain cell systems, p38 plays a role downstream of Rac and

Cdc42 in the regulation of the cytoskeleton (245-248). Also, p38 has been found to play a role downstream of Rac in the promotion of bacteria phagocytosis by macrophages (249). Furthermore, p38 has been shown to be necessary for mediating the transcriptional upregulation of several genes downstream of activated Rac or Cdc42 (250-253).

Contributing to the activation of p38 by Rac and Cdc42, the p21-activated kinases (PAKs) are a group of proteins also capable of activating p38 signaling (237, 239). PAKs, which are themselves activated by GTP-bound Rac and Cdc42, are effectors of these GTPases (254-258). Indeed, signaling cascades involving Rac or Cdc42, PAK, MKK3/6 and p38 have been reported to respond to certain stimuli, with each of the proteins in this pathway being necessary for the cytoskeletal remodeling that is induced by Rac or Cdc42 in response to the upstream stimuli (239, 245, 259).

Although the mechanism by which PAKs induce activation of MKKs 3 and 6 is not clear, PAKs may function as MAP3K kinases (MAP4Ks), phosphorylating and activating MAP3Ks upstream of p38. Supporting this idea, the yeast homologue of mammalian PAKs, sterile 20 protein (Ste20p), functions as a MAP4K by phosphorylating and activating the yeast MAP3K Ste11p, thereby activating the yeast alpha-mating factor signaling pathway (260, 261). Further study should provide insight into whether mammalian PAKs behave similarly to their yeast counterparts.

Scaffolding proteins

As alluded to earlier, the p38 and other MAPK pathways regulate numerous cellular responses from a diverse array of extracellular stimuli. In order to manage such complex pathways, cells employ temporal and spatial control of MAPK signaling. One method in which

cells control MAPK signaling is by the use scaffolding proteins. Scaffolding proteins interact with multiple components of a MAPK cascade, thus assembling complexes of MAPK signaling proteins. Scaffolding proteins promote the coordinated, serial phosphorylation of select MAPK cascade constituents, enabling the efficient activation of particular MAPK signaling pathways and the appropriate responses of cells to distinct stimuli (215, 219).

Fewer scaffolding proteins have been identified in mammalian cells to regulate p38 than to regulate either the ERK or JNK MAPK pathways (217). However, one p38-specific scaffolding protein has been identified, which coordinates cellular responses to hyperosmolarity. Osmosensing scaffold for MEKK3 (OSM) binds to actin, the GTPase Rac, the MAP3K MEKK3, and the MAP2K MKK3. Upon osmotic stress, OSM is recruited to membrane ruffles where it binds to Rac and assembles the MEKK3/MKK3/p38 signaling pathway (262).

Other scaffolding proteins found to regulate p38 signaling include JNK-interacting proteins (JIPs). Although, as implied by their name, the JIP family of proteins was originally identified as being scaffolds for JNK MAPKs (263), JIP2 and JIP4 provide scaffolding functions for p38 proteins. In addition to binding proteins of the JNK cascade, JIP2 can bind to MKK3, p38α, and p38δ in addition to upstream signaling molecules, thereby stimulating p38 activity (264-266).

Unlike JIP2, JIP4 appears be a scaffolding protein specific for p38. JIP4 was found to interact with p38 α and β , but not with p38 γ or p38 δ . Moreover, JIP4 enhances p38 signaling through a mechanism that requires either MKK3 or MKK6 (263, 267). In contrast, JIP4 can bind to JNK but does not enhance JNK activation, indicating that JIP4 functions as a scaffolding protein for the p38, but not JNK, pathway (267).

Non-canonical activation of p38

Importantly, p38 can also be activated by non-canonical mechanisms that are independent of its phosphorylation by MKKs 3, 6 and 4. The first mechanism of non-canonical activation involves the autophosphorylation of p38 following its binding to TAK1-binding protein (TAB1) (268). Although there is some debate concerning the physiological relevance of this alternative method of p38 activation (225), accumulating evidence suggests that cells activate p38 through TAB1 binding in certain situations (269-271).

A second MKK-independent mechanism of p38 activation was found to occur downstream of the T-cell receptor (TCR) in antigen-stimulated T cells. This mechanism involves the atypical phosphorylation of a tyrosine residue outside of p38's activation loop by zeta-chain TCR-associated protein kinase 70kDa (ZAP70). ZAP70's atypical phosphorylation of p38 triggers p38 to autophosphorylate the threonine and tyrosine residues present within its activation loop, thereby activating itself (272).

Extracellular signals that activate p38

As already indicated, a multitude of extracellular stimuli lead to the activation of p38 signaling. Environmental stresses that activate p38 signaling include osmotic stress and heat shock (273, 274). In addition, p38 is activated by DNA-damaging agents, such as ultraviolet (UV) radiation, ionizing radiation, and hydroxyurea (275, 276). p38 is also activated by toxic chemicals, such as sodium arsenite and rotenone (274, 277) as well as the biological toxin lipopolysaccharide (273, 275).

As an important mediator of inflammatory responses, p38 activates signaling pathways induced by a variety of cytokines, including tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), interleukins, and

thrombin (275, 278-283). For example, p38 activity was found to be necessary for $TNF\alpha$ induced upregulation of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) at the surface of human endothelial cells (280).

The activation of p38 by growth factors is more unpredictable than is its activation by stress stimuli or cytokines. More specifically, growth factors such as fibroblast growth factor (FGF), nerve growth factor (NGF), insulin, insulin-like growth factor (IGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) have all been found to activate p38 signaling, but only in specific cell types (284-291). Other cell types either do not respond to these growth factors by activating the p38 pathway or can even downregulate p38 signaling in response to these growth factors. For example, insulin activates p38 signaling in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (291) but inhibits p38 activity in chick forebrain neuron cells (292). Clearly, the activation of p38 by growth factors is highly contextual, whereas the activation of p38 by cellular stressors and cytokines is more universal.

Inactivation of p38

The phosphorylation and activation of p38 occurs quickly in response to most stimuli and is transient (235). The ability of cells to downregulate p38 signaling following stimulation allows them to adapt continuously to changing signals from their surroundings. Just as phosphorylation of p38 plays a crucial role in activating this protein, dephosphorylation plays a crucial role in its inactivation (235, 293).

Mammalian cells contain several types of protein phosphatases capable of inactivating p38 signaling by dephosphorylating one or both of its key activating phosphorylation sites – the

conserved threonine and tyrosine residues present within its activation loop. These phosphatases include serine/threonine phosphatases, tyrosine phosphatases, and dual-specificity phosphatases (DUSPs). Unlike the serine/threonine and tyrosine phosphatases that promote the dephosphorylation of either the threonine or tyrosine residue, respectively, DUSPs dephosphorylate both the threonine and tyrosine residues contained within p38's activation loop (235, 293).

Serine/threonine phosphatases

The phosphatase type 2C (PP2C) family of serine/threonine phosphatases includes three members known to directly inactivate p38, namely PP2C α splicing variant 2 (PP2C α -2), PP2C β , and PP2C δ , which is more commonly called p53-induced protein phosphatase 1D (PPM1D) or wild-type p53-induced phosphatase 1 (Wip1) (294). PP2C α -2 binds to p38 and downregulates its signaling when it is triggered by various stimuli, such as UV radiation and TNF α (295). PPM1D/Wip1, on the other hand, was found to dephosphorylate p38 upon following its induction by UV light. Dephosphorylation of p38 by Wip1 attenuated the p38-induced phosphorylation and stabilization of p53, thereby reducing p53 signaling while cells recovered from UV-induced DNA damage and suppressing UV-induced apoptosis (296).

In addition, PP2C family members can suppress p38 signaling by dephosphorylating and inactivating MAP2Ks and MAP3Ks upstream of p38. For example, PP2C α -2 was found to inactivate the MAP2Ks MKK6 and MKK4 (295). Furthermore, PP2C β and PP2C ϵ were found to inactive p38 signaling by associating with TAK1 and dephosphorylating this MAP3K (297, 298). PP2C ϵ was also found to bind and dephosphorylate the MAP3K ASK1 (299).

Tyrosine phosphatases

Some protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) have been shown to dephosphorylate and inactivate p38. More specifically, hematopoietic PTP (HePTP) was found to bind p38 and reduce its activation in T-cells (300). In addition, striatal-enriched protein tyrosine phosphatase (STEP), and STEP-like PTP (PTP-SL) have also been found to bind to p38 and inactivate it through dephosphorylation (301, 302). Further work is necessary to understand the role of PTPs in the regulation of p38 in physiological settings.

DUSPs

Several DUSPs of the MAP kinase phosphatase (MKP) family have been found to dephosphorylate concurrently the threonine and tyrosine residues present in p38's activation loop (293). Importantly, these MKPs can efficiently dephosphorylate p38α and p38β, but not p38γ and p38δ, which are resistant to MKP activity. MKPs identified to target p38 are MKP1/DUSP1, DUSP2, MKP5/DUSP10, DUSP8, MKP7/DUSP16, and MKP8/DUSP26 (219, 293).

The selectivity of these MKPs for their MAPK substrates differs. For example, MKPs like MKP5, MKP7, and DUSP8 selectively inactivate p38 and JNK, whereas MKP1 can also inactivate ERK (303-305). Supporting a role for MKPs in regulating MAPK activity *in vivo*, MKP1-null mice were found to exhibit sustained levels of p38 and JNK activity in response to endotoxic shock and to display increased levels of p38, JNK, and ERK activation in insulin-responsive tissues (306-308).

Based on experiments involving the ERK-specific MKP3, a general model of MKP activation has been suggested: A MAPK specifically and stably binds to the non-catalytic

amino-terminus of a MKP, with this binding stimulating the MKPs' catalytic activity. Indeed, the amino terminus of MKP3 was found to bind tightly with both ERK1 and ERK2, but not to JNK or p38 proteins. Moreover, the binding of purified ERK to MKP3 induced a large increase in the catalytic activity of MKP3 as measured by the dephosphorylation of an artificial substrate. Indeed, when expressed alone, the carboxyl-terminal catalytic domain of MKP3 lacks specificity for dephosphorylation of ERK and instead similarly dephosphorylates ERK, JNK, and p38 with low efficiency (309, 310).

Extending these observations to other MKPs, the catalytic activities of other MKPs such as MKP1, MKP2, MKP4, and DUSP7, were increased upon the binding of these MKPs to their particular substrates (293). MKP4 and MKP1 also bind and undergo catalytic activation by purified MAP kinases to which they exhibit selective binding (311). Interestingly, DUSP2, which can dephosphorylate both ERK and p38, appears only to be catalytically activated by purified ERK, suggesting that regulation of MKPs involves additional complexities (312, 313).

Pathways downstream of p38

p38 has been found to phosphorylate and activate numerous proteins involved in a variety of biological processes, including cell cycle regulation, differentiation, apoptosis, and inflammatory responses. The multitude of substrates downstream of p38 indicates that not only does p38 respond to a plethora of upstream signals, but it also induces a wide array of downstream signaling pathways. In spite of the diversity of signaling pathways activated by p38, however, the vast majority of known p38 substrates fall within one of two broad categories, namely protein kinases and transcription factors (216, 283).

Protein kinases

The first p38 substrate to be identified was MAP kinase-activated protein kinase 2 (MAPKAPK2 or MK2), although it was originally characterized *in vitro* as being phosphorylated and activated by ERK (314). Finding that MK2 phosphorylated the small heat shock proteins 25 and 27 (Hsp25 and 27) in response to stress stimuli led to the discovery that MK2 was not a target of ERK in intact cells, but rather a target for p38 (274, 278, 315, 316). In addition, the closely related kinase MK3 was also found to be phosphorylated and activated by p38 in response to stress stimuli (317).

MK2 and MK3 have been found to phosphorylate and activate different substrates that regulate various biological processes, such as cytoskeletal remodeling, cell migration, cell-cycle regulation, chromatin remodeling, gene transcription and mRNA stabilization. For example, phosphorylated Hsp27 was found to inhibit stress fiber formation induced by the GTPase Rho by competing with phosphorylated cofilin for binding to 14-3-3 proteins. This displacement of cofilin leads to its dephosphorylation and allows its binding to the barbed ends of actin, which blocks actin polymerization (318). Other MK2 and MK3 substrates that are involved in actin remodeling include Hsp25, lymphocyte-specific protein-1 (LSP1), and F-actin-capping protein Z-interacting protein (Cap-ZIP) (319-321).

In addition, MK2 and MK3 phosphorylate and activate various transcription factors, such as serum response factor (SRF), cyclic AMP-dependent transcription factor 1 (ATF1), and cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) (284, 322). MK2 has also been found to regulate mRNA stability by phosphorylating proteins like tristetraprolin (TTP). The phosphorylation of TTP by MK2 prevents TTP from destabilizing mRNA encoding the cytokine TNF α (323-325). Furthermore, MK2 was found to regulate the cell cycle by inducing the G2/M

checkpoint in UV-irradiated cells by phosphorylating the cell division cycle 25 (Cdc25) phosphatases Cdc25B and Cdc25C, leading to their sequestration by 14-3-3 proteins and inhibiting them from promoting mitotic entry (326).

Another substrate phosphorylated and activated by p38 is the protein MK5, which is also called p38-regulated/activated kinase (PRAK). Like MK2 and MK3, PRAK has been found to phosphorylate and regulate Hsp27 (327). Much remains to be learned about the functions of PRAK downstream of p38. However, PRAK was found to act as a tumor suppressor in an experimental animal model and to activate the p53 tumor suppressor protein by direct phosphorylation, indicating that this kinase may play an important in human cancers (328).

MAPK-interacting protein kinase 1 (MNK1) is also a substrate of p38. MNK1 can phosphorylate eukaryotic initiation factor-4E (eIF-4E), increasing eIL-4E's affinity for capped mRNAs. However, the regulation of eIF-4E is complex as, depending upon the circumstances, phosphorylation of eILF-4E can lead to either a stimulation of translation or a decrease in capdependent translation (329-331). Further work must be done to clarify MNK1's role in regulating eIL-4E.

Additionally, p38 was found to phosphorylate and activate p38Mitogen- and stressactivated protein kinases-1 and -2 (MSK1 and MSK2). The activation of MSK1 by p38 may mediate the stress-induced activation of the transcription factor CREB (332-334). MSK1 is also capable of phosphorylating the chromatin proteins histone 2B, histone H3, and high mobility group-14 (HMG-14), indicating that p38 may regulate gene expression through its activation of MSK1 (334-336). Furthermore, both p38 itself and MSK were found to phosphorylate eIF-4Ebinding protein 1 (4E-BP1), a negative regulator of eIF-4E activity, in response to UV radiation (337).

Transcription factors

The second major category of p38 substrates is comprised of transcription factors. In addition to regulating gene expression by activating the above-mentioned protein kinases, p38 directly phosphorylates and regulates many transcription factors that modulate the expression of a wide range of genes. The phosphorylation of transcription factors by p38 usually increases their activity; however, p38 has also been found to suppress the activity of select transcription factors through phosphorylation (235, 318, 338). A detailed list of transcription factors directly phosphorylated by p38 is included in Table 2. Importantly, a transcription factor may exhibit varied responses to activated p38 in different cell types, adding further complexity to signaling downstream of p38 (339).

Other substrates

p38 also phosphorylates and regulates a variety of proteins that are neither kinases nor transcription factors. These other substrate proteins include cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR α), Na+/H+ exchanger isoform-1 (NHE-1), stathmin, and keratin 8 (235, 338). Interestingly, p38 family members have been found to exhibit selective binding to select alternative substrates. For example, p38s α , γ , and δ were found to phosphorylate the microtubule-associated protein Tau, whereas p38 β was found to phosphorylate glycogen synthase (338). Additional work is needed to elucidate the roles of these alternative substrates in pathways downstream of p38.

p38 MAPKs and cancer

Given that p38 has been found to regulate cellular processes like cell-cycle progression, differentiation, and apoptosis (214, 218), the activities of this kinase were suspected to influence cancer development. Indeed, much evidence has been accumulated that points to p38 playing a substantial role in neoplastic development and progression. This section summarizes our current understanding of p38's role in cancer.

Functions of p38 relevant to cancer

As mentioned at the beginning of this introduction, incipient cancer cells must manipulate or circumvent controls governing normal tissue homeostasis in order to promote neoplastic development. p38 plays important roles in regulating several of the abilities that cells acquire in order to progress toward malignancy. Acquired traits influenced by p38 include selfsufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to growth-inhibitory signals, evasion of apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, and tissue invasion and metastasis (1).

Indeed, depending upon the cell type and context, p38 MAPKs have been found to function in several cellular processes that are intimately related to the above-mentioned acquired traits; these processes include proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, migration, invasion, and metastasis. Importantly, p38 has been found to act as a tumor suppressor that counteracts neoplastic development much more frequently than to act as an oncogene that promotes neoplastic development. The tumor type, stage, and accompanying genetic alterations most likely determine how p38 activity affects tumorigenesis and tumor progression (214, 216, 218, 340).

Proliferation

In general, p38 activity appears to be anti-proliferative. For example, embryonic fibroblasts, fetal hematopoietic cells, and embryonic stem cells derived from p38-null mice all exhibited hyperproliferation in comparison to their wild-type counterparts (341, 342). In addition, the proliferation of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes was enhanced upon culturing these cells in the presence of a p38 drug inhibitor, and a p38-null background promoted the proliferation of murine cardiomyocytes both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (343). Similarly, p38 was found to inhibit the proliferation of lung progenitor cells in a conditional p38 knockout mouse model (344).

The anti-proliferative effects of p38 activity on cells most likely reflects the regulation of both the G1/S and G2/M cell cycle transitions by p38. For example, p38 α can inhibit G1/S progression by downregulating transcription of cyclin D1 (345) as well as by upregulating transcription of the cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor p16^{INK4a} (346). p38 α can also regulate G1/S progression through the phosphorylation of D-type cyclins and the CDK inhibitor p21^{Cip1}, thereby tagging D-type cyclins for proteasomal degradation and stabilizing p21^{Cip1} (347-349).

In addition, p38 α and γ have been found to arrest or delay cell cycle progression at the G2/M checkpoint in response to cellular stressors (350-352). p38-dependent phosphorylation and resulting activation of MK2 appears to be crucial in regulating G2/M arrest (326, 353). As mentioned earlier, MK2 prevents mitotic entry by phosphorylating Cdc25B and Cdc25C, thereby sequestering these proteins and preventing them from activating the Cdc2/Cyclin B complex (326). Furthermore, downregulation of transcription of cyclins A and B may also contribute to p38 α 's induction of the G2/M checkpoint (343, 354).

Interestingly, p38's activation of the tumor suppressor p53 appears to contribute to p38's ability to halt the cell cycle in both the G1 and G2 phases. p38 can activate p53 through direct phosphorylation as well as by transcriptional upregulation, thereby promoting p21^{Cip1} accumulation and G1 arrest (340). p38 has also been shown to induce the G2/M arrest of thymocytes *in vivo* in response to DNA damage in a p53-dependent manner (355).

Despite the fact that p38 is most often found to inhibit cell cycle progression, there are indications that p38 may positively regulate cell proliferation in certain contexts. For example, one report suggested that p38 α positively regulates mitotic progression in HeLa cells independently of its kinase activity (356). Moreover, p38 α has been shown to promote the proliferation of particular cancer cell lines as well as cytokine-stimulated hematopoietic cells (340).

<u>Apoptosis</u>

p38 is also a well-established mediator of apoptosis. Many pro-apoptotic stimuli, including chemotherapeutic agents, death receptor signals, and cellular stresses, require p38 activity for the induction of apoptosis (357-362). Some of these pro-apoptotic stimuli may trigger p38-dependent apoptosis by inducing the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) or DNA damage. Importantly, the ability of p38 α to induce apoptosis in response to the production of ROS by select oncogenes, such as Ras, may play a significant role in suppressing tumor initiation (363).

p38 has been found to promote apoptosis through multiple mechanisms. For example, p38 activity has been found to induce the phosphorylation and inactivation of the pro-survival proteins Bcl-2 and basal cell lymphoma-extra large (Bcl-xL). Likewise, p38 can stimulate the

phosphorylation and activation of the pro-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2-antagonist of cell death (Bad), Bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death (Bim), BCL2-associated X protein (Bax), and Bcl-2 homologous antagonist/killer (Bak) (340). Furthermore, several transcription factors that are activated by p38, such as p53, can upregulate the expression of pro-apoptotic genes like Bax and apoptotic peptidase-activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) (357-359).

Although p38 clearly plays a pro-apoptotic role in many circumstances, several studies have reported pro-survival roles for p38. Depending upon the situation, p38 MAPKs may protect cells from apoptosis by driving the production of anti-apoptotic, inflammation-related proteins like IL-6 or NF- κ B or by inducing a cell to undergo cell-cycle arrest rather than apoptosis (340). In addition, p38 β has been found to have anti-apoptotic effects in certain cell lines and may buffer against pro-apoptotic effects of p38 α (364, 365).

Differentiation

Differentiation blocks the proliferation of cells by entering them into a post-mitotic state. Thus, incipient cancer cells must avoid differentiation in order for a tumor to progress (1). Accumulating *in vitro* and *in vivo* evidence indicates that p38 is an important regulator of differentiation programs responsible for producing cells like adipocytes, neurons, hepatocytes, lung epithelial cells, myocytes, and cardiomyocytes (343, 344, 366-372).

p38's promotion of differentiation contributes to its tumor-suppressive properties. More specifically, activation of p38 α in certain cancer cell lines was found to trigger a more differentiated and less transformed phenotype (373-375). In addition, conditional deletion of p38 α in mice enhances their development of lung adenocarcinomas due to the failure of lung progenitor cells to undergo differentiation when lacking p38 α (344).

p38 can induce cell differentiation in different ways, such as by activating transcription factors that promote tissue-specific differentiation (Table 2) or by targeting chromatinremodeling enzymes to loci of differentiation-related genes in order to induce their expression (338, 376). p38 α has also been found to regulate the proliferative arrest of progenitor cells at the onset of differentiation, an event that is crucial for differentiation to proceed properly (343, 344, 369, 372).

Functions in later stage tumors

In contrast to the tumor-suppressive functions of p38 that are related to its roles in proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation, p38 may fulfill oncogenic roles in advanced tumors by promoting the processes of cell migration, invasion, angiogenesis, and metastasis. For example, p38 has been found to positively regulate the migration of various normal and tumorigenic cell populations that had been exposed to chemotactic stimuli (259, 377-380). Furthermore, multiple human cancer cell lines exhibit dependence upon p38 activity in order to invade during *in vitro* assays (381-384).

Supporting a role for p38 in invasion, p38 α has been found to induce the expression of metalloproteinases (MMPs), including MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9, and MMP-13 (283, 384, 385). MMPs facilitate the local invasion of neoplastic cells as well as the extravasation of metastatic cells at distance sites via their ability to degrade proteins of the extracellular matrix (386). Indeed, the inhibition of p38 α and p38 δ in human squamous cell carcinoma cells was found to reduce their expression of MMP-1 and MMP-13 and to decrease their invasive abilities *in vitro* (382).

Angiogenesis is another process that appears to be affected by p38 activity and is critical for neoplastic progression. In order to progress to a macroscopic size, developing neoplasias must become angiogenic, acquiring the ability to stimulate the growth of new blood vessels (1). In addition to being activated by the potent, pro-angiogenic factor VEGF in certain contexts, p38 has been found to induce expression of VEGF in cells responding to stimulation with particular cytokines (387-389). Moreover, p38 α has been shown to activate the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1), at least in part through stabilization of its α -subunit (HIF-1 α) (390, 391). Through the promotion of pro-angiogenic pathways, HIF-1's regulation of gene expression is central to the adaptive response of cells experiencing a lack of oxygen.

In addition, there exists evidence suggesting that p38 signaling occurring within stromal cells is important for the metastasis of tumor cells to secondary sites. For example, the number of lung metastases formed from intravenously injected B16 or LLC cells was decreased in mice harboring deletion of one copy of p38 α in comparison to wild-type mice, with this effect attributed to weaker tumor-platelet aggregates and poorer tumor cell extravasation (392). Furthermore, activation of p38 in myeloid cells by signals originating from tumor cells was implicated in the creation of a premetastatic niche in the lungs of mice injected with B16 or LLC cells (380).

p38 in human cancers

Corresponding with the predominantly tumor-suppressive functions of p38 identified during *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, the majority of studies examining p38 activity in human tumor samples point toward the loss of p38 function in cancer cells. For example, p38 activity was lower in hepatocellular carcinomas samples in comparison to nearby normal tissue.

Importantly, among the tumor samples examined, larger tumors exhibited greater reductions in p38 activity (393). Moreover, the sequencing of protein kinase genes in human cancers identified somatic mutations in p38 α that are likely to be driver mutations, which positively affect tumor growth and development. However, the effects of these mutations on the biochemical functions of p38 α remain to be elucidated (394).

Furthermore, in comparison to their corresponding normal tissues, human cancers exhibit differences in molecules that regulate p38 activity. More specifically, levels of Wip1/PPM1D and DUSP2, phosphatases, which inhibit p38 signaling, were found to be increased in various human cell lines and tumor samples (395-399). Similarly, Gstm1 and 2, which negatively regulate p38 activity by inhibiting the p38 MAP3K ASK1, exhibit elevated levels in several human cancer cell lines (363).

In addition, the p38 MAP2K MKK4 was found to be mutated and inactivated at a frequency of approximately 5% in numerous human cancers, including those of the pancreas, bile duct, breast, colon, lung and testis (400-402). Strikingly, *MKK4* was shown to be downregulated in 75% of ovarian serous carcinomas samples relative to samples of benign ovarian tissues (403). As expected, evidence gathered from model systems also indicates that *MKK4* functions as a product of a tumor suppressor gene (401, 402).

In contrast to the evidence presented above, some studies report increased p38 activity in various tumors. Indeed, increased levels of phosphorylated p38α have been correlated with malignancy in various cancers, including glioma, follicular lymphoma, as well as lung, thyroid, breast, and head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (382, 404-408). The functional ramifications of elevated phosphorylated p38 levels remain to be determined, but appear to include increased invasiveness in gliomas and head and neck carcinomas (382, 408).

When taken together, the experimental evidence and data gathered from human tumor samples suggest that p38 usually inhibits tumor development and progression. However, p38 activity may confer a selective advantage upon tumor cells in certain contexts, depending on coexisting mutations, cancer type, and tumor stage (218, 340). Further study must be conducted in order to understand more precisely when and why p38 displays oncogenic and not tumor suppressive behaviors.

IV. Cell-matrix adhesion

Basics of cell-matrix adhesion

The adhesion of cells to their extracellular environment governs many biological processes that are essential to multicellular organisms, such as cell migration, cell survival, tissue organization, and embryonic development (409). Critical to the formation of cell-matrix adhesions are transmembrane proteins called integrins, which link proteins found in the extracellular matrix (ECM) with a cell's actin cytoskeleton. Integrins create receptors for ECM proteins through the specific heterodimerization of 18 α and 8 β subunits. ECM proteins that bind the large extracellular domains of integrin receptors include molecules like fibronectin, vitronectin, and collagens. The smaller, cytoplasmic domains of integrins interact with proteins that to connect them with the actin cytoskeleton (409, 410).

In addition to integrins, many other factors localize to sites of cell-matrix adhesion, causing these structures to be tremendously complex (Fig. 3). Indeed, 90 factors have been found to predominantly reside at cell-matrix adhesions, and another 66 regulatory factors were found to interact with adhesions in a transient manner. Proteins make up 151 of these 156 adhesion-related factors, with the remaining 5 components being 4 lipids and the calcium ion (411). This enormous list of proteins can be broken down into 6 categories based upon the role played by each protein in cell-matrix adhesion; these categories are: integrins, other membrane-bound proteins, integrin-actin linkers, integrin-associated proteins, actin-binding proteins, and adaptor proteins (410).

Although integrins are critical for cell-matrix adhesion, cells also express other membrane-bound proteins that assist in cell-matrix adhesion (red in Fig. 3); these molecules include protein molecules like syndecans (412) and the hyaluronan-binding protein layilin (413). Integrin-actin linkers bind concomitantly to actin filaments and the cytoplasmic domains of integrins, forming critical bridges between integrins and the actin cytoskeleton. Examples of integrin-actin linkers are the proteins talin, α -actinin, and tensin (gold in Fig. 3). In contrast, integrin-associated proteins bind the cytoplasmic tails of integrins, but do not interact directly with actin, interacting with the cytoskeleton indirectly through other adhesion components. A subset of integrin-associated proteins are involved in signaling, such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and integrin-linked kinase (ILK) (410).

Actin-binding proteins do not directly bind integrins, but interact instead with other proteins located at cell-matrix adhesions and play important roles in regulating adhesion dynamics (green in Fig. 3). Actin-binding proteins include vinculin and members of the enabled homolog/vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (Ena/VASP) family of proteins (410, 414, 415). The last group of cell-matrix adhesion proteins consists of a large number of adaptors that interact with actin- and integrin-bound proteins (purple in Fig. 3). Many of these adaptor proteins are enzymes (light purple in Fig. 3), such as Src tyrosine kinases, GEFs and GAPs of Rho family GTPases, and serine/threonine kinases, notably PAKs, which were introduced earlier as being upstream of p38 (410).

Types of cell-matrix adhesions

Cells can interact with ECM proteins of their substratum to form four types of adhesions: focal complexes, focal adhesions, fibrillar adhesions, and podosomes (Fig. 4). Each of these cell-matrix adhesions is mediated by integrins and consists of similar sets of non-integrin proteins. However, important structural differences exist between these classes of adhesions, with particular proteins preferentially localizing to each kind of adhesion. For example, focal complexes and focal adhesions formed by fibroblasts contain high amounts of the vitronectin receptor $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrin, whereas fibrillar adhesions preferentially contain the fibronectin receptor $\alpha_3\beta_1$ integrin (409, 410, 416).

Focal adhesions bind cells to their substratum through strong plaques that are roughly elliptical in shape, have a length of 3 to 10 μ m, and are typically found near the edges of cells (Fig. 4A; 416, 417). Focal adhesions contain many different proteins, including vinculin and talin as well as tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins, such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and paxillin (409, 410). Importantly, cell-matrix contacts displaying similar characteristics to focal adhesions have been found *in vivo* despite that focal adhesions were originally identified as structures created by cells growing on two-dimensional surfaces *in vitro* (418-420).

Fibrillar adhesions tend to assume an elongated shape but can also acquire more rounded forms, exhibiting variable lengths of 1 to 10 μ m (Fig. 4B). Unlike focal adhesions, fibrillar adhesions form across the interior of cells, where they direct the formation of extracellular fibronectin fibrils and orient themselves along these fibrils. In addition to containing the

fibronectin receptor $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrin, fibrillar adhesions also contain high levels the integrin-binding protein tensin and low levels of tyrosine-phosphorylated protein in comparison to focal adhesions (409, 410, 421).

At lengths of only 0.5 to 1 μ m, focal complexes are transient, dot-like structures found predominately at the periphery of lamellipodia, the sheet-like extensions at cell edges that contain a branched network of actin filaments (Fig. 4C; 416, 422). Notably, stabilized focal complexes are thought to be the precursors for focal adhesions, which in turn are thought to mature into fibrillar adhesions (409, 423).

The final type of cell-matrix adhesion is the podosome, which is a small ring-shaped structure having a diameter of around 0.5 μ m (Fig. 4D). The formation of podosomes by cells is more restricted than is the formation of other cell-matrix adhesions, with podosomes being found in endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells, and cells of the monocyte lineage as well as in some cancer cells (424, 425). Podosomes contain various proteins that associate with focal adhesions, such as paxillin and vinculin, in addition to the podosome-specific proteins gelsolin and dynamin (410). Unlike the previously described cell-matrix contacts, podosomes actively degrade ECM components, making their activity central to processes like the remodeling of bone by osteoclasts (425).

Steps of cell-matrix adhesion

The adhesion of a cell to its substratum can be broken down into two processes, attachment and spreading. Cells in suspension first attach to their substratum through weak bonds, causing them to retain their spherical shape and display a refractile appearance. Shortly after their initial attachment, however, cells begin extending cytoplasmic protrusions and

forming focal adhesions with their substratum, enabling them to spread outward and assume a flattened shape (426, 427).

Cell attachment

The mechanisms used by cells during their initial attachment to their substratum are not well understood. It is appreciated, however, that the method in which cells first associate with their substratum depends upon both the nature of the substratum as well as other factors present in their environment. For example, human fibroblasts grown in serum-free media were found to attach to their substratum through secreting the ECM protein fibronectin, which adsorbs onto the surface and provides these cells with sites of attachment (426, 428). In contrast, cells grown in serum-containing media attach to their substratum by exploiting soluble ECM components that are present in serum, such as vitronectin and fibronectin. Similar to ECM proteins secreted by cells, these serum ECM components adsorb onto the substratum, providing cells with a matrix upon which to attach. Indeed, polystyrene surfaces specially manufactured to promote cell attachment – a process often performed through oxygenation of the surface – most likely enhances cell attachment by increasing adsorption of serum ECM components onto the substratum (429-431).

The binding of integrins to ECM proteins adsorbed onto a substratum plays a central role in mediating cell attachment. Importantly, though, non-integrin molecules have also been implicated in cell attachment. For example, glycosaminoglycans like hyaluronan appear to play key roles in the initial fastening of cells to their substratum (432). In addition, small peptides found in serum, such as hormones or cytokines, may also adsorb onto the substratum and aid in cell attachment (433). Taken together, the initial attachment of cells to their substratum is an ill-

defined process, depending upon both the chemistry of the substratum and factors present in cell culture media.

Cell spreading and formation of cell-matrix adhesions

As indicated above, cells begin forming integrin-mediated bonds with ECM molecules immediately upon encountering the substratum. The precise composition of the earliest integrin-ECM adhesion complexes is not clear. However, these first adhesion complexes are thought to involve the binding of two dimers of the protein talin to the cytoplasmic domains of two β integrin subunits that are themselves each dimerized with an α integrin subunit. At the same time, talin binds to filamentous actin, bridging the integrins and the actin cytoskeleton (434-437).

Integrins first bind to ECM proteins with low affinity. Binding of integrins to ECM proteins induces the autophosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK), which enables FAK to bind the non-receptor tyrosine kinase Src. Src then phosphorylates additional residues in FAK, maximizing its activity (438).

The activated FAK-Src complex stimulates the activity of Rac and Cdc42 by recruiting GEFs capable of activating these GTPases. The activation of Rac and Cdc42 at sites of integrin binding enables these GTPases to remodel the actin cytoskeleton and promote the formation of membrane protrusions like lamellipodia and filopodia (439, 440). Not only does the FAK-Src complex facilitate cell spreading by activating Rac and Cdc42, this complex also promotes cell spreading by repressing the activity of the related GTPase RhoA, thus relieving cytoskeletal tension by suppressing actomyosin contractility (441, 442).

Cells spreading along their substratum begin forming focal complexes in response to Rac and Cdc42 activity (443, 444). These complexes are labile structures that, once formed, either

disappear or develop into mature focal adhesions (423). Although the process by which focal complexes mature into focal adhesions remains ambiguous, differences in the types of proteins and their phosphorylation states have been reported to exist between focal complexes and focal adhesions. For example, the protein zyxin was found to reside at focal adhesions but not at focal complexes (445).

In addition, RhoA activity is known to drive maturation of focal complexes into focal adhesions, at least in part through stimulating actomyosin contractility (446, 447). This maturation process tends to occur at the border between lamellipodia and lamellae (448, 449). Lamellae are sheet-like cytoplasmic protrusions that are thicker and more interior to cells than lamellipodia. At later stages of cell spreading, lamellipodia continue to reach forward, whereas mature focal adhesions remain rooted underneath the lamella where they increase in size by recruiting new integrins and other adhesion proteins (423).

The continued application of force to focal adhesions through actomyosin contractility results in the formation of fibrillar adhesions and concomitant remodeling of the ECM (450). Rho activity was found to promote the formation of fibronectin fibrils by cells, indicating that this GTPase may be involved in the formation of fibrillar adhesions (451). The formation of fibrillar adhesions was also found to require Src activity (452). However, additional details of the process by which fibrillar adhesions are formed from focal adhesions remain unclear (450).

Cell-matrix adhesion and cancer

As introduced earlier, uncontrolled cell proliferation, inappropriate cell survival, increased motility, and increased invasiveness are important traits acquired by incipient cancer cells during neoplastic development. These traits are acquired, at least in part, through changes in how cells communicate with the extracellular matrix (1, 13, 453). Indeed, alterations in the adhesive behavior of cells promote both the transformation of cells in culture as well as tumorigenesis in mice. Likewise, human tumors are regularly found to exhibit differences in the levels and activity of adhesion-related proteins in comparison to corresponding normal tissues (13, 23).

Oncogenes capable of transformation commonly reduce the number of focal adhesions made by cells and reorganize their actin cytoskeletons. For example, oncogenic Src (whose proto-oncogene was introduced above as being activated by FAK at sites of integrin-ECM binding) disassembles actin-microfilament bundles, known as stress fibers, by promoting inactivation of Rho GTPases as well as activation of the actin-destabilizing protein cofilin (454, 455). In addition, the transformation of cells by oncogenic Src induces an increase in the ratio of focal adhesion turnover to focal adhesion assembly, thereby reducing the number of focal adhesions present per cell (456).

Together, many studies have established a causative role for changes in cell-matrix adhesion in the acquisition of additional transformation-related properties, such as anchorageindependent growth and tumorigenicity in mice. Indeed, altering the expression of adhesion proteins in transformed cells has been found to repress their transformation-related properties. For example, ectopic expression of the fibronectin receptor, $\alpha_{s}\beta_{1}$ integrin, in transformed hamster cells reduced their density at confluence, inhibited their growth in soft agar, and rendered them non-tumorigenic (457). Similarly, expressing the α_{2} integrin subunit in mouse mammary carcinoma cells prevented them from growing in an anchorage-independent manner and reduced their tumorigenicity (458).

In addition to certain integrins, other proteins involved in cell-matrix adhesion, such as α actinin, gelsolin, and vinculin, have been found to inhibit transformation (459-462). These adhesion proteins were linked with the transformed state when they were found to be downregulated in tumorigenic cell lines in comparison to controls. Importantly, the ectopic expression of these proteins in tumorigenic cells that lacked their expression inhibited the anchorage-independent growth and tumorigenicity of these cells.

The mechanisms by which the ectopic expression of certain adhesion proteins negatively impacts the transformation of mammalian cells are incompletely understood. However, the abovementioned experiments clearly demonstrate the intimate relationship between cell-matrix adhesion and transformation. The sensitivity of anchorage-independence and tumorigenicity to changes in adhesion proteins has stimulated further work aimed toward understanding the mechanisms linking adhesion and transformation.

Examination of anchorage-independence has begun to shed light upon how transformed cells evade the apoptotic and growth arrest programs that normally prevent cell survival and proliferation in the absence of proper cell-matrix adhesions. In order to understand the lack of dependence of transformed cells on cell-matrix adhesions for their proliferation and survival, it is crucial to understand why normal cells stop proliferating or die if not anchored to a substratum. Indeed, integrin-dependent signaling pathways carefully regulate the proliferation and survival of normal cells.

In order to proliferate, normal cells require the collaboration between pro-proliferative signals originating from both growth factors and cell-matrix adhesions. For example, the binding of integrins to ECM proteins synergizes with signaling originating from growth factor receptors to elicit strong or sustained activity of the MAPK ERK (463-467). Importantly, growth

factor-induced activation of ERK can only induce expression of proteins crucial to cell cycle progression, like cyclin D1, when cells are adherent (465, 467, 468). Moreover, these studies suggest that transformed cells are anchorage-independent, at least in part, through the ability of their transforming oncogenes to produce sustained ERK activation in the absence of cell-matrix adhesion.

Additionally, in non-adherent cells, both expression of the CDK inhibitor $p21^{Cip1}$ is increased and degradation of a second CDK inhibitor $p27^{Kip1}$ is decreased. The resulting high levels of these CDK inhibitors prevent the entry of non-adherent cells into S phase by blocking activation of cyclin-CDK complexes (469-471). Cooperation between signaling events downstream of integrins and growth factor receptors is necessary for downregulation of these CDK inhibitors and the resulting transition of cells from the G1 to S phase of the cell cycle (472). Indeed, the activation of RhoA in response to cell spreading was found to induce the degradation of $p27^{Kip1}$ during G1 and to be essential for S phase entry (473). Likewise, active RhoA has also been found to repress the expression of $p21^{Cip1}$ (474, 475).

In addition to cell-matrix adhesion promoting the G1/S transition, the lack of proper adhesion to ECM components can induce apoptosis in normal cells. When bound to ECM proteins, integrins relay cell survival signals; however, when not bound, integrins induce cell death by promoting pro-apoptotic signaling pathways. Thus, integrins preserve tissue homeostasis by preventing the survival of cells not properly adherent to their surroundings (23).

Ligated integrins enhance cell survival by inducing the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins like Bcl-2 (476, 477), by activating pro-survival signaling pathways like the PI3K-Akt pathway (478), or by inactivating pro-apoptotic proteins like p53 (479). In contrast, unligated integrins can induce apoptosis through two different processes, namely anoikis and integrin-

mediated death. Anoikis is triggered by the complete loss of cell adhesion, whereas integrinmediated death occurs in attached cells that also harbor many unbound integrins (23).

Anoikis may occur through either the intrinsic or extrinsic pathways of apoptosis (480). The extrinsic pathway of apoptosis involves the activation of caspases downstream of death receptors, whereas the intrinsic pathway involves activation of caspases through the release of cytochrome *c* from the mitochondria. The binding of death ligands, such as Fas ligand (FasL), to death receptors, like Fas, induces death receptor oligomerization. Oligomerized death receptors recruit the adaptor protein Fas-associated death domain (FADD) to the cell membrane. Recruitment of FADD to death receptors induces activation of caspases, which degrade cellular proteins, causing cell death (481).

Upon their detachment from their substratum, normal cells may undergo anoikis by upregulating FasL and the Fas receptor or by activating the death receptor pathway downstream of Fas (482, 483). In contrast to normal cells, unattached cancer cells fail to activate the extrinsic pathway apoptosis even though they upregulate FasL and Fas. The resistance of many cancer cells to anoikis lies, at least partly, in their chronic upregulation of FADD-like interleukin-1converting enzyme-like inhibitory protein (FLIP) (484). FLIP inhibits signaling downstream of death receptors by binding FADD, preventing FADD from triggering caspase activation (485).

Loss of cell-matrix adhesion activates the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis by stimulating the release of factors like cytochrome *c* from the mitochondria into the cytosol. These factors then induce the activation of caspases, ultimately causing apoptosis. The release of the deathpromoting proteins from the mitochondria is promoted by pro-apoptotic proteins, such as Bax, Bak, and Bim, and is inhibited by anti-apoptotic proteins, such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL (480).

In addition, the heterodimerization of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins negates the activity

of the dimerized proteins, indicating that the ratio between pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins dictates the vulnerability of a cell to apoptosis (486). Indeed, the downregulation of Bcl-xL was observed upon the detachment of non-transformed intestinal cells that were sensitive to anoikis (487, 488). In contrast, cells transformed with oncogenic Ras and rendered resistant to anoikis exhibited decreased levels of Bak and failed to downregulate Bcl-xL after losing cell-matrix adhesions (487-489).

In contrast to anoikis, the process of integrin-mediated death involves the triggering of apoptosis through the recruitment of caspase 8 to the cell membrane by unligated integrins present on adherent cells, a process that occurs independently of death receptors (490). Overcoming integrin-mediated death may be key for the survival of transformed cells growing in three-dimensional matrices, which are less permissive for formation of cell-matrix adhesions than are two-dimensional substrates commonly used in cell culture. A subset of the integrins on a cell may bind proteins within the surrounding matrix; however, the remaining unligated integrins may promote cell death, resulting in cells proliferating successfully under twodimensional, but not three-dimensional, conditions.

In an *in vivo* setting, the ability of cancer cells to overcome integrin-mediated death may drive their local invasion and metastasis (491). The primary site of a cancer likely provides cells with an environment rife with opportunities to form adhesions with ECM proteins. Indeed, the primary site hosts a high density of tumor cells that have extensively remodeled of their extracellular matrix. However, if cells invading the surrounding tissue are to avoid integrinmediated death, they must make many contacts with the unfamiliar matrix that surrounds them. This challenge faced by cells may explain why the cells of aggressively invasive and metastatic tumors commonly express matched integrins and ECM ligands, enabling them to deposit their

own ligands for their own integrins (492).

The strict regulation of cellular proliferation and survival by integrin-mediated adhesion provides mammals with a potent tumor suppressive mechanism counteracting neoplastic development. Only by reducing their reliance on cell-matrix adhesion for pro-growth and prosurvival signals can incipient cancer cells succeed in becoming malignant. Indeed, cancer cells develop ways of manipulating cell-matrix adhesion for their own benefit, co-opting adhesion pathways that promote their invasion into the surrounding tissue or their metastasis to a distant organ.

V. Perspectives

The *RAS* oncogene undeniably plays a role in the development and progression of human cancers, and much has been learned about how the protein product of this oncogene promotes neoplastic development. However, the majority of studies aimed toward understanding the functions of the Ras oncoprotein have involved expressing the *RAS* oncogene in cells to supraphysiological levels. This is particularly true of studies examining the role of oncogenic Ras in human cell lines and cell strains, since the most efficient method of ectopically expressing a gene in human cell populations is through retroviral infection.

Importantly, studies of genetically engineered mouse models in which oncogenic Ras was expressed from the endogenous promoter found that the level of Ras signaling experienced by a mammalian cell determines its response to this signaling (197, 201, 493). More specifically, the supraphysiological expression of oncogenic *RAS* in normal mammalian cells induces them to undergo senescence, a state in which cells are metabolically active but cannot proliferate. In contrast, the endogenous expression of oncogenic *ras* in mouse cells induced their

hyperproliferation and partial transformation, an outcome strikingly different than the terminal growth arrest characteristic of the senescent state.

I hypothesized that, like murine cells, human cells would react differently to high and low levels of oncogenic Ras signaling. To test my hypothesis, I developed a system in which I could activate oncogenic Ras signaling to either a low or high extent. Furthermore, based upon published transformation protocols, I reasoned that inhibition of a tumor suppressor protein would cooperate with low oncogenic Ras signaling in promoting the transformation of normal human cells. Due to increasing evidence that loss of p38 cooperates with oncogenic Ras to transform cells, I examined the effects of inhibiting p38 on the transformation-related phenotypes of cells subjected to a low level of oncogenic Ras signaling.

The results described in the following chapter indicate that, like murine cells, normal human cells respond differently to low and high levels of oncogenic Ras signaling. In addition, evidence is presented arguing that inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to reduce the adhesion of normal human cells to their substratum. Taken together, these results suggest that, by promoting proper cell-matrix adhesion, p38 may provide tumor-suppressive functions in early human neoplasias in which oncogenic *RAS* is expressed at a physiological level.

VI. Figures and tables



Figure 1. Characteristics of transformed cells. **A.** Morphology of normal NIH-3T3 cells and NIH-3T3 cells transformed with H-Ras^{Q61L}. Photographs reproduced from (Khosravi-Far R, *et al.* Mol Cell Biol 1995; 15:6443-453). **B.** Culture dishes of mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) that were grown to confluence and then fixed and stained to visualize cells. Control MEFs form monolayers of cells; however, MEFs transformed with endogenous levels of K-Ras^{G12D} pile atop one another, forming clusters of cells visible to the naked eye. Photographs reproduced from (Tuveson DA, *et al.* Cancer Cell 2004; 5:375-387). **C.** Soft agar colony formation by immortalized human embryonic kidney cells (HEKs). Control immortalized HEK cells form few small colonies when seeded in soft agar; however, immortalized HEK cells transformed with H-Ras^{G12V} form many large colonies. Photographs reproduced from (Rangarajan A, *et al.* Cancer Cell 2004; 6:171-183).



Figure 2. Tiers of the canonical p38 MAPK signaling cascade. p38 family members are MAPKs that are phosphorylated and activated by MAP2Ks. MAP2Ks are phosphorylated and activated by MAP3Ks. MAP3Ks and MAP2Ks known to activate p38 are shown. The MAP3Ks, MAP2Ks, and particular p38 family members activated by a cell in response to an extracellular stimulus depends upon both the nature of the stimulus and the cell type involved.



Extracellular matrix

Figure 3. Schematic illustration of proteins associated with cell-matrix adhesions. The actual complexity of cell-matrix adhesions is higher because of the lack of space for including all adhesion-associated proteins and because many of the depicted proteins belong to families having multiple members. Integrins are depicted in orange, other membrane-bound proteins in red, integrin-actin linkers in gold, integrin-associated proteins in blue, actin-binding proteins in green, and adaptor proteins in purple. Adaptor proteins that are enzymes are colored light purple. Abbreviations are as follows: integrin α subunit (α), integrin β subunit (β), syndecan-4 (Syn4), layilin (Lay), phosphatase leukocyte common antigen-related receptor (LAR), SHP-2 substrate-1 (SHPS-1), urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR), α -actinin (α -Act), talin (Tal), tensin (Ten), filamin (Fil), focal adhesion kinase (FAK), paxillin (Pax), integrin-linked kinase (ILK), down-regulated in rhabdomyosarcoma LIM-protein (DRAL), 14-3-3 and caveolin (Cav), vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP), fimbrin (Fim), ezrin-radixin-moesin proteins (ERM), Abl kinase (Abl), nexillin (Nex), parvin/actopaxin (Parv), vinculin (Vin), zyxin (Zyx), cysteine-rich protein (CRP), palladin (Pall), particularly interesting new Cys-His protein (PINCH), paxillin kinase linker (PKL), p21-activated kinase (PAK), PAK-interacting exchange factor (PIX), vinexin (Vnx), ponsin (Pon), growth factor receptor-bound protein-7 (Grb-7), Arf-GAP protein with SH3 domains ankyrin repeats and pleckstrin homology domains-1 (ASAP1), syntenin (Synt), and syndesmos (Synd), SH2-containing phosphatase-2 (SHP-2), SH2-containing inositol 5-phosphotase-2 (SHIP-2), phosphatidyl inositol 3-kinase (PI3K), Src-family kinases (Src FK), carboxy-terminal src kinase (Csk), calpain II (Calp II), and protein kinase C (PKC). Image reproduced from (Geiger B, et al. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001; 2:793-805).


Figure 4. Types of cell-matrix adhesions. **A.** A human fibroblast stained for phosphotyrosine to visualize focal adhesions, structures that are found near the edges of cells. **B.** A human fibroblast stained for tensin to visualize fibrillar adhesions. These adhesions are found more interior to the cell and associate with fibronectin fibrils. **C.** Human fibroblasts treated with a Rho-kinase inhibitor and stained for phosphotyrosine to visualize focal complexes, the dot-like structures at the edges of the lamellipodia. **D.** Rat osteoclasts labeled with paxillin to visualize podosomes. Each podosome consists of a ring of adhesion proteins and an actin-rich center. See insert for higher magnification. Images reproduced from (Geiger B, *et al.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001; 2:793-805).

Tissue	HRAS	KRAS	NRAS
Adrenal gland	1%	0%	5%
Biliary tract	0%	32%	1%
Bone	2%	1%	0%
Breast	1%	5%	1%
Central nervous system	0%	1%	2%
Cervix	9%	8%	1%
Endometrium	1%	14%	0%
Esophagus	1%	4%	0%
Eye	0%	4%	1%
Gastrointestinal tract (site indeterminate)	0%	19%	0%
Hematopoietic and lymphoid tissue	0%	5%	12%
Kidney	0%	1%	0%
Large intestine	0%	32%	3%
Liver	0%	7%	4%
Lung	1%	17%	1%
Meninges	0%	0%	0%
Ovary	0%	15%	4%
Pancreas	0%	60%	2%
Parathyroid	0%	0%	0%
Peritoneum	0%	6%	Not determined
Pituitary	2%	0%	0%
Placenta	0%	0%	0%
Pleura	0%	0%	0%
Prostate	6%	8%	1%
Salivary gland	16%	4%	0%
Skin	5%	2%	19%
Small intestine	0%	20%	25%
Stomach	4%	6%	2%
Testis	0%	5%	4%
Thymus	0%	15%	0%
Thyroid	4%	3%	7%
Upper aerodigestive tract	9%	4%	3%
Urinary tract	12%	4%	3%

 Table 1. RAS mutations in human cancers.

Data derived from the Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer (COSMIC) of the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute, Cambridge, UK. Table reproduced from (Karnoub A, Weinberg R. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9:517-31).

Transcription	Complete name	Manner of p38's	Biological	References
factor		regulation	process(es)	
			promoted by p38	
MEF2A,	Myocyte enhancer	Activation	Skeletal and cardiac	(494-498)
MEF2C, and	factors 2A, 2C, and		muscle differentiation	
MEF2D	2D		and cardiac	
			nypertropny	(400)
E47		Activation and	Skeletal muscle	(499)
		heterodimerization	differentiation	(500)
MRF4	Muscle-specific	Repression	Skeletal muscle	(500)
	regulatory factor 4		differentiation	
BAF60	BRG1-associated	Activation	Skeletal muscle	(501)
	factor 60		differentiation	
C/EBPβ	CCAAT/enhancer-	Activation	Response to cellular	(502)
	binding protein β		stress	
GADD153/	Growth arrest and	Activation	Apoptosis	(503, 504)
СНОР	DNA damage			
	inducible gene 153;			
	C/EBP homologous			
	protein		DANTER h 1 1	(505)
NFATc1	Nuclear factor of	Activation	RANKL [®] signaling in	(505)
	activated T-cells,		osteoclast	
	cytoplasmic 1;		differentiation	
NFATc4	Nuclear factor of	Inactivation, nuclear	Downregulation of	(506)
	activated T-cells,	export	adipocyte	
	cytoplasmic 4		differentiation"	
MITF	Microphthalmia-	Activation	RANKL [®] signaling in	(507)
	associated		osteoclast	
	transcription factor		differentiation	(500)
MafA	Named after v-maf	Activation	Lens differentiation	(508)
	oncogene		and response to	
Q 4 T 4 4	G 4 (T 4 1 1 1	A	oxidative stress	(500)
GATAI	GATA binding	Activation	Interleukin 9 (IL-9)	(509)
	protein 1		expression in mast	
O/EDD-		A	Neutronhil	(510)
C/EBPE	binding protoin o	Activation	differentiation	(310)
		Activation	Matabaliam	(511 512)
ruc-ia	refoxisome	Activation	adaptive	(311-313)
	recentor (DDA D)		thermogenesis in	
	amma coactivator		muscle cells and	
	1a		muscle cell	
	10		adaptation to exercise	
Smod2	SMA and MAD	Activation	Signaling	(514 515)
Sillaus	related protein 3	Activation	downstream of TGF_	(317, 313)
	related protein 5		B	
			I M	I

Table 2. Transcription factors directly regulated by p38 MAPKs. (Continued on next page.)

p53		Activation	UV-induced G2/M arrest	(355, 516)
HBP1	HMG box-containing protein 1	Protein stabilization	G1 arrest	(517)
STAT1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1	Activation	Signaling downstream of interferons α and γ (IFN- α and IFN- γ), IFN-dependent viral killing, response to stress signaling	(518, 519)
c-FOS	Named after v-fos oncogene	Activation	Response to UV radiation	(520)
NFATp	Nuclear factor of activated T-cells, preexisting component	Inhibition via nuclear export	Opposes calcium- promoted activation of NFATp transcription	(521)
ATF2	Activating transcription factor 2	Activation	Activation of ATF2 in response to mitogens via cooperation with ERK, insulin resistance in endothelial cells	(522, 523)
ATF6	Activating transcription factor 6	Activation	Response to cellular stress	(524)
Members of TCF subfamily of Ets transcription factors (Including Elk1, Sap1, SRF, and CREB)	Ternary complex factor subfamily of E26 transcription factors	Activation	Response to interleukin 1 (IL-1) and cellular stress	(339, 525, 526)
Usf-1	Upstream stimulatory factor 1	Activation	Tanning response to UV radiation	(527, 528)

^aThe adipocyte differentiation process is more complicated than simply being downregulated by p38 since pharmacological inhibition of p38 in this system blocked differentiation; other pathways activated by p38 must concurrently promote differentiation.

^b Receptor activator of NF-κB ligand

Table adapted from (Perdiguero E, Munoz-Canoves P. Top Curr Genet 2008; 20:51-79).

VII. References

1. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000;100:57-70.

2. Weinberg RA. Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. CA Cancer J Clin 1994;44:160-70.

3. Land H, Parada LF, Weinberg RA. Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. Nature 1983;304:596-602.

4. Ruley HE. Adenovirus early region 1A enables viral and cellular transforming genes to transform primary cells in culture. Nature 1983;304:602-6.

5. Cho KR, Vogelstein B. Genetic alterations in the adenoma-carcinoma sequence. Cancer 1992;70:1727-31.

6. Hahn WC, Counter CM, Lundberg AS, Beijersbergen RL, Brooks MW, Weinberg RA. Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature 1999;400:464-8.

7. Seger YR, Garcı´a-Cao M, Piccinin S, et al. Transformation of normal human cells in the absence of telomerase activation. Cancer Cell 2002;2:401-13.

8. Van Dyke T, Jacks T. Cancer modeling in the modern era: Progress and challenges. Cell 2002;108:135-44.

9. Sjoblom T, Jones S, Wood LD, et al. The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. Science 2006;314:268-74.

10. Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. Nat Med 2004;10:789-99.

11. Gupta GP, Massague J. Cancer metastasis: Building a framework. Cell 2006;127:679-95.

12. Borek C. Malignant transformation in vitro: Criteria, biological markers, and application in environmental screening of carcinogens. Radiat Res 1979;79:209-32.

13. Pawlak G, Helfman DM. Cytoskeletal changes in cell transformation and tumorigenesis. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2001;11:41-7.

14. Holley RW. Control of growth of mammalian cells in cell culture. Nature 1975;258:487-90.15. Pastan I, Willingham M. Cellular transformation and the "morphologic phenotype" of

transformed cells. Nature 1978;274:645-50.

16. Eckhart W. Transformation of animal cells by oncogenic DNA viruses. Physiol Rev 1968;48:513-33.

17. Abercrombie M. Contact inhibition in tissue culture. In Vitro 1970;6:128-42.

18. Habel K. Malignant transformation by polyoma virus. Annu Rev Microbiol 1963;17:167-78.

19. Macintyre E, Ponten J. Interaction between normal and transformed bovine fibroblasts in culture: I. cells transformed by rous sarcoma virus. J Cell Sci 1967;2:309-22.

20. Steuer AF, Ting RC. Formation of larger cell aggregates by transformed cells: An in vitro index of cell transformation

. J Natl Cancer Inst 1976;56:1279-80.

21. Rhim JS, Jay G, Arnstein P, Price FM, Sanford KK, Aaronson SA. Neoplastic transformation of human epidermal keratinocytes by AD12-SV40 and kirsten sarcoma viruses. Science 1985;227:1250-2.

22. Frisch SM, Ruoslahti E. Integrins and anoikis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1997;9:701-6.

23. Desgrosellier JS, Cheresh DA. Integrins in cancer: Biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer 2010;10:9-22.

24. Harvey JJ. An unidentified virus which causes the rapid production of tumours in mice. Nature 1964;204:1104-5.

25. Malumbres M, Barbacid M. RAS oncogenes: The first 30 years. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3:7-13.

26. Kirsten WH, Mayer LA. Morphologic responses to a murine erythroblastosis virus. J Natl Cancer Inst 1967;39:311-35.

27. Kirsten WH, Schauf V, McCoy J. Properties of a murine sarcoma virus. Bibl Haematol 1970;36:246-9.

28. Scolnick EM, Rands E, Williams D, Parks WP. Studies on the nucleic acid sequences of kirsten sarcoma virus: A model for formation of a mammalian RNA-containing sarcoma virus. J Virol 1973;12:458-63.

29. Shih TY, Weeks MO, Young HA, Scolnick EM. Identification of a sarcoma virus-coded phosphoprotein in nonproducer cells transformed by kirsten or harvey murine sarcoma virus. Virology 1979;96:64-79.

30. Shih TY, Weeks MO, Young HA, Scolnick EM. p21 of kirsten murine sarcoma virus is thermolabile in a viral mutant temperature sensitive for the maintenance of transformation. J Virol 1979;31:546.

31. Hager GL, Chang EH, Chan HW, et al. Molecular cloning of the harvey sarcoma virus closed circular DNA intermediates: Initial structural and biological characterization. J Virol 1979;31:795-809.

32. Tsuchida N, Uesugi S. Structure and functions of the kirsten murine sarcoma virus genome: Molecular cloning of biologically active kirsten murine sarcoma virus DNA. J Virol 1981;38:720-7.

33. Ellis RW, DeFeo D, Maryak JM, et al. Dual evolutionary origin for the rat genetic sequences of harvey murine sarcoma virus. J Virol 1980;36:408-20.

34. Ellis RW, DeFeo D, Shih T, et al. The p21 src genes of harvey and kirsten sarcoma viruses originate from divergent members of a family of normal vertebrate genes. Nature 1981;292:506-11.

35. Chang EH, Gonda MA, Ellis RW, Scolnick EM, Lowy DR. Human genome contains four genes homologous to transforming genes of harvey and kirsten murine sarcoma viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1982;79:4848-52.

36. Buday L, Downward J. Many faces of ras activation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2008;1786(2):178-87.

37. Shih C, Shilo BZ, Goldfarb MP, Dannenberg A, Weinberg RA. Passage of phenotypes of chemically transformed cells via transfection of DNA and chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1979;76:5714-8.

38. Krontiris TG, Cooper GM. Transforming activity of human tumor DNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1981;78:1181-4.

39. Perucho M, Goldfarb M, Shimizu K, Lama C, Fogh J, Wigler M. Human-tumor-derived cell lines contain common and different transforming genes. Cell 1981;27:467-76.

40. Shih C, Padhy LC, Murray M, Weinberg RA. Transforming genes of carcinomas and neuroblastomas introduced into mouse fibroblasts. Nature 1981;290:261-4.

41. Goldfarb M, Shimizu K, Perucho M, Wigler M. Isolation and preliminary characterization of a human transforming gene from T24 bladder carcinoma cells. Nature 1982;296:404-9.

42. Pulciani S, Santos E, Lauver AV, Long LK, Robbins KC, Barbacid M. Oncogenes in human tumor cell lines: Molecular cloning of a transforming gene from human bladder carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1982;79:2845-9.

43. Shih C, Weinberg RA. Isolation of a transforming sequence from a human bladder carcinoma cell line. Cell 1982;29:161-9.

44. Der CJ, Krontiris TG, Cooper GM. Transforming genes of human bladder and lung carcinoma cell lines are homologous to the ras genes of harvey and kirsten sarcoma viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1982;79:3637-40.

45. Parada LF, Tabin CJ, Shih C, Weinberg RA. Human EJ bladder carcinoma oncogene is homologue of harvey sarcoma virus ras gene. Nature 1982;297:474-8.

46. Santos E, Tronick SR, Aaronson SA, Pulciani S, Barbacid M. T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene is an activated form of the normal human homologue of BALB- and harvey-MSV transforming genes. Nature 1982;298:343-7.

47. Parada LF, Weinberg RA. Presence of a kirsten murine sarcoma virus ras oncogene in cells transformed by 3-methylcholanthrene. Mol Cell Biol 1983;3:2298-301.

48. Hall A, Marshall CJ, Spurr NK, Weiss RA. Identification of transforming gene in two human sarcoma cell lines as a new member of the ras gene family located on chromosome 1. Nature 1983;303:396-400.

49. Shimizu K, Goldfarb M, Perucho M, Wigler M. Isolation and preliminary characterization of the transforming gene of a human neuroblastoma cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1983;80:383-7.

50. Shimizu K, Goldfarb M, Suard Y, et al. Three human transforming genes are related to the viral ras oncogenes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1983;80:2112-6.

51. Downward J. Targeting RAS signalling pathways in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3:11-22.

52. Karnoub AE, Weinberg RA. Ras oncogenes: Split personalities. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008;9:517-31.

53. Tabin CJ, Bradley SM, Bargmann CI, et al. Mechanism of activation of a human oncogene. Nature 1982;300:143-9.

54. Reddy EP, Reynolds RK, Santos E, Barbacid M. A point mutation is responsible for the acquisition of transforming properties by the T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene. Nature 1982;300:149-52.

55. Taparowsky E, Suard Y, Fasano O, Shimizu K, Goldfarb M, Wigler M. Activation of the T24 bladder carcinoma transforming gene is linked to a single amino acid change. Nature 1982;300:762-5.

56. Capon DJ, Chen EY, Levinson AD, Seeburg PH, Goeddel DV. Complete nucleotide sequences of the T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene and its normal homologue. Nature 1983;302:33-7.

57. Yuasa Y, Srivastava SK, Dunn CY, Rhim JS, Reddy EP, Aaronson SA. Acquisition of transforming properties by alternative point mutations within c-bas/has human proto-oncogene. Nature 1983;303:775-9.

58. Fasano O, Aldrich T, Tamanoi F, Taparowsky E, Furth M, Wigler M. Analysis of the transforming potential of the human H-ras gene by random mutagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1984;81:4008-12.

59. Bos JL, Toksoz D, Marshall CJ, et al. Amino-acid substitutions at codon 13 of the N-ras oncogene in human acute myeloid leukaemia. Nature 1985;315:726-30.

60. Sigal IS, Gibbs JB, D'Alonzo JS, et al. Mutant ras-encoded proteins with altered nucleotide binding exert dominant biological effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986;83:952-6.

61. Walter M, Clark SG, Levinson AD. The oncogenic activation of human p21^{ras} by a novel mechanism. Science 1986;233:649-52.

62. Parks WP, Scolnick EM. In vitro translation of harvey murine sarcoma virus RNA. J Virol 1977;22:711-9.

63. Scolnick EM, Papageorge AG, Shih TY. Guanine nucleotide-binding activity as an assay for src protein of rat-derived murine sarcoma viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1979;76:5355-9.

64. Willingham MC, Pastan I, Shih TY, Scolnick EM. Localization of the src gene product of the harvey strain of MSV to plasma membrane of transformed cells by electron microscopic immunocytochemistry. Cell 1980;19:1005-14.

65. Shih TY, Weeks MO, Gruss P, Dhar R, Oroszlan S, Scolnick EM. Identification of a precursor in the biosynthesis of the p21 transforming protein of harvey murine sarcoma virus. J Virol 1982;42:253-61.

66. Gilman AG. G proteins: Transducers of receptor-generated signals. Annu Rev Biochem 1987;56:615-49.

67. Gibbs JB, Sigal IS, Poe M, Scolnick EM. Intrinsic GTPase activity distinguishes normal and oncogenic ras p21 molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1984;81:5704-8.

68. McGrath JP, Capon DJ, Goeddel DV, Levinson AD. Comparative biochemical properties of normal and activated human ras p21 protein. Nature 1984;310:644-9.

69. Sweet RW, Yokoyama S, Kamata T, Feramisco JR, Rosenberg M, Gross M. The product of ras is a GTPase and the T24 oncogenic mutant is deficient in this activity. Nature 1984;311:273-5.

70. Der CJ, Finkel T, Cooper GM. Biological and biochemical properties of human rasH genes mutated at codon 61. Cell 1986;44:167-76.

71. Willumsen BM, Christensen A, Hubbert NL, Papageorge AG, Lowy DR. The p21 ras C-terminus is required for transformation and membrane association. Nature 1984;310:583-6.

72. Willumsen BM, Norris K, Papageorge AG, Hubbert NL, Lowy DR. Harvey murine sarcoma virus p21 ras protein: Biological and biochemical significance of the cysteine nearest the carboxy terminus. EMBO J 1984;3:2581-5.

73. Reiss Y, Goldstein JL, Seabra MC, Casey PJ, Brown MS. Inhibition of purified p21ras farnesyl:Protein transferase by cys-AAX tetrapeptides. Cell 1990;62:81-8.

74. Schaber MD, O'Hara MB, Garsky VM, et al. Polyisoprenylation of ras in vitro by a farnesylprotein transferase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1990;265:14701-4.

75. Schafer WR, Trueblood CE, Yang CC, et al. Enzymatic coupling of cholesterol intermediates to a mating pheromone precursor and to the ras protein. Science 1990;249:1133-9.

76. Omerovic J, Laude AJ, Prior IA. Ras proteins: Paradigms for compartmentalised and isoform specific signalling. Cell Mol Life Sci 2007;64:2575-89.

77. Hancock JF, Paterson H, Marshall CJ. A polybasic domain or palmitoylation is required in addition to the CAAX motif to localize p21ras to the plasma membrane. Cell 1990;63:133-9.

78. Roy S, Wyse B, Hancock JF. H-ras signaling and K-ras signaling are differentially dependent on endocytosis. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:5128-40.

79. Jura N, Scotto-Lavino E, Sobczyk A, Bar-Sagi D. Differential modification of ras proteins by ubiquitination. Mol Cell 2006;21:679-87.

80. Kamata T, Feramisco JR. Epidermal growth factor stimulates guanine nucleotide binding activity and phosphorylation of ras oncogene proteins. Nature 1984;310:147-50.

81. Wittinghofer A, Scheffzek K, Ahmadian MR. The interaction of ras with GTPase-activating proteins. FEBS Lett 1997;410:63-7.

82. Rojas JM, Santos E. Ras-GEFs and ras GAPs. In: Der C, editor. Ras Family GTPases. Netherlands: Springer; 2006. p. 15-43.

83. Gibbs JB, Schaber MD, Allard WJ, Sigal IS, Scolnick EM. Purification of ras GTPase activating protein from bovine brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1988;85:5026-30.

84. Trahey M, Wong G, Halenbeck R, et al. Molecular cloning of two types of GAP complementary DNA from human placenta. Science 1988;242:1697-700.

85. Vogel US, Dixon RA, Schaber MD, et al. Cloning of bovine GAP and its interaction with oncogenic ras p21. Nature 1988;335:90-3.

86. Ballester R, Marchuk D, Boguski M, et al. The NF1 locus encodes a protein functionally related to mammalian GAP and yeast IRA proteins. Cell 1990;63:851-9.

87. Martin GA, Viskoohil D, Bollag G, et al. The GAP-related domain of the neurofibromatosis type 1 gene product interacts with ras p21. Cell 1990;63:843-9.

88. Wallace MR, Marchuk DA, Andersen LB, et al. Type 1 neurofibromatosis gene:
Identification of a large transcript disrupted in three NF1 patients. Science 1990;249:181-6.
89. Xu G, O'Connell P, Viskochil D, et al. The neurofibromatosis type 1 gene encodes a protein related to GAP. Cell 1990;62:599-608.

90. Donovan S, Shannon KM, Bollag G. GTPase activating proteins: Critical regulators of intracellular signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1602:23-45.

91. Noto S, Maeda T, Hattori S, et al. A novel human RasGAP-like gene that maps within the prostate cancer susceptibility locus at chromosome 1q25. FEBS Lett 1998;441:127-31.

92. Kim JH, Liao D, Lau L, Huganir RL. SynGAP: A synaptic RasGAP that associates with the PSD-95/SAP90 protein family. Neuron 1998;20:683-91.

93. Rumbaugh G, Adams JP, Kim JH, Huganir RL. SynGAP regulates synaptic strength and mitogen-activated protein kinases in cultured neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2006;103:4344-51.
94. Yano M, Toyooka S, Tsukuda K, et al. Aberrant promoter methylation of human DAB2 interactive protein (hDAB2IP) gene in lung cancers. Int J Cancer 2005;113:59-66.

95. Min J, Zaslavsky A, Fedele G, et al. An oncogene-tumor suppressor cascade drives metastatic prostate cancer by coordinately activating ras and nuclear factor-kappaB. Nat Med 2010;16:286-94.

96. Broek D, Toda T, Michaeli T, et al. The S. cerevisiae CDC25 gene product regulates the RAS/adenylate cyclase pathway. Cell 1987;48:789-99.

97. Robinson LC, Gibbs JB, Marshall MS, Sigal IS, Tatchell K. CDC25: A component of the RAS-adenylate cyclase pathway in saccharomyces cerevisiae. Science 1987;235:1218-21.
98. Bowtell D, Fu P, Simon M, Senior P. Identification of murine homologues of the drosophila son of sevenless gene: Potential activators of ras. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1992;89:6511-5.
99. Guerrero C, Rojas JM, Chedid M, et al. Expression of alternative forms of ras exchange factors GRF and SOS1 in different human tissues and cell lines. Oncogene 1996;12:1097-107.
100. Fam NP, Fan W, Wang Z, Zhang L, Chen H, Moran MF. Cloning and characterization of ras-GRF2, a novel guanine nucleotide exchange factor for ras. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17:1396-406.
101. Farnsworth CL, Freshney NW, Rosen LB, Ghosh A, Greenberg ME, Feig LA. Calcium activation of ras mediated by neuronal exchange factor ras-GRF. Nature 1995;376:524-7.
102. Shou C, Wurmser A, Suen KL, Barbacid M, Feig LA, Ling K. Differential response of the ras exchange factor, ras-GRF to tyrosine kinase and G protein mediated signals. Oncogene 1995;10:1887-93.

103. Mattingly RR, Macara IG. Phosphorylation-dependent activation of the ras-

GRF/CDC25Mm exchange factor by muscarinic receptors and G-protein beta gamma subunits. Nature 1996;382:268-72.

104. Krapivinsky G, Krapivinsky L, Manasian Y, et al. The NMDA receptor is coupled to the ERK pathway by a direct interaction between NR2B and RasGRF1. Neuron 2003;40:775-84. 105. Tian X, Gotoh T, Tsuji K, Lo EH, Huang S, Feig LA. Developmentally regulated role for ras-GRFs in coupling NMDA glutamate receptors to ras, erk and CREB. EMBO J 2004;23:1567-75.

106. Robinson KN, Manto K, Buchsbaum RJ, MacDonald JIS, Meakin SO. Neurotrophindependent tyrosine phosphorylation of ras guanine-releasing factor 1 and associated neurite outgrowth is dependent on the HIKE domain of TrkA. J Biol Chem 2005;280:225-35.

107. Tian X, Feig LA. Age-dependent participation of ras-GRF proteins in coupling calciumpermeable AMPA glutamate receptors to Ras/Erk signaling in cortical neurons. J Biol Chem 2006;281:7578-82.

108. Pham N, Cheglakov I, Koch CA, de Hoog CL, Moran MF, Rotin D. The guanine nucleotide exchange factor CNrasGEF activates ras in response to cAMP and cGMP. Curr Biol 2000;10:555-8.

109. Pak Y, Pham N, Rotin D. Direct binding of the Beta1 adrenergic receptor to the cyclic AMP-dependent guanine nucleotide exchange factor CNrasGEF leads to ras activation. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:7942-52.

110. Ebinu JO, Stang SL, Teixeira C, et al. RasGRP links T-cell receptor signaling to ras. Blood 2000;95:3199-203.

111. Li L, Yang Y, Stevens RL. RasGRP4 regulates the expression of prostaglandin D2in human and rat mast cell lines. J Biol Chem 2003;278:4725-9.

112. Teixeira C, Stang SL, Zheng Y, Beswick NS, Stone JC. Integration of DAG signaling systems mediated by PKC-dependent phosphorylation of RasGRP3. Blood 2003;102:1414-20.
113. Katsoulotos GP, Qi M, Qi JC, et al. The diacylglycerol-dependent translocation of ras

guanine nucleotide-releasing protein 4 inside a human mast cell line results in substantial phenotypic changes, including expression of interleukin 13 receptor $\alpha 2$. J Biol Chem 2008;283:1610-21.

114. Buday L, Downward J. Epidermal growth factor regulates p21ras through the formation of a complex of receptor, Grb2 adapter protein, and sos nucleotide exchange factor. Cell 1993;73:611-20.

115. Egan SE, Giddings BW, Brooks MW, Buday L, Sizeland AM, Weinberg RA. Association of sos ras exchange protein with Grb2 is implicated in tyrosine kinase signal transduction and transformation. Nature 1993;363:45-51.

116. Gale NW, Kaplan S, Lowenstein EJ, Schlessinger J, Bar-Sagi D. Grb2 mediates the EGFdependent activation of guanine nucleotide exchange on ras. Nature 1993;363:88-92.

117. Li N, Batzer A, Daly R, et al. Guanine-nucleotide-releasing factor hSos1 binds to Grb2 and links receptor tyrosine kinases to ras signalling. Nature 1993;363:85-8.

118. Rozakis-Adcock M, Fernley R, Wade J, Pawson T, Bowtell D. The SH2 and SH3 domains of mammalian Grb2 couple the EGF receptor to the ras activator mSos1. Nature 1993;363:83-5.

119. Wang W, Fisher EMC, Jia Q, et al. The Grb2 binding domain of mSos1 is not required for downstream signal transduction. Nat Genetics 1995;10:294-300.

120. Chen R, Corbalan-Garcia S, Bar-Sagi D. The role of the PH domain in the signal-dependent membrane targeting of sos. EMBO J 1997;16:1351-9.

121. Jefferson AB, Klippel A, Williams LT. Inhibition of mSOS-activity by binding of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-P2 to the mSOS pleckstrin homology domain. Oncogene 1998;16:2303-10.

122. Sondermann H, Soisson SM, Boykevisch S, Yang S, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. Structural analysis of autoinhibition in the ras activator son of sevenless. Cell 2004;119:393-405.

123. Boykevisch S, Zhao C, Sondermann H, et al. Regulation of ras signaling dynamics by sosmediated positive feedback. Current Biology 2006;16:2173-9.

124. Lowy DR, Willumsen BM. Function and regulation of ras. Annu Rev Biochem 1993;62:851-91.

125. Bar-Sagi D. A ras by any other name. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:1441-3.

126. Rajalingam K, Schreck R, Rapp UR, Albert Š. Ras oncogenes and their downstream targets. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1773:1177-95.

127. Krengel U, Schlichting I, Scherer A, et al. Three-dimensional structures of H-ras p21 mutants: Molecular basis for their inability to function as signal switch molecules. Cell 1990;62:539-48.

128. Tong L, de Vos AM, Milburn MV, Kim S. Crystal structures at 2.2 Å resolution of the catalytic domains of normal ras protein and an oncogenic mutant complexed with GDP. J Mol Biol 1991;217:503-16.

129. Scheffzek K, Ahmadian MR, Kabsch W, et al. The ras-RasGAP complex: Structural basis for GTPase activation and its loss in oncogenic ras mutants. Science 1997;277:333-8.

130. Shields JM, Pruitt K, McFall A, Shaub A, Der CJ. Understanding ras: 'it ain't over 'til it's over'. Trends Cell Biol 2000;10:147-54.

131. Repasky GA, Chenette EJ, Der CJ. Renewing the conspiracy theory debate: Does raf function alone to mediate ras oncogenesis? Trends Cell Biol 2004;14:639-47.

132. Han M, Golden A, Han Y, Sternberg PW. C. elegans lin-45 raf gene participates in let-60 ras-stimulated vulval differentiation. Nature 1993;363:133-40.

133. Moodie SA, Willumsen BM, Weber MJ, Wolfman A. Complexes of ras.GTP with raf-1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase. Science 1993;260:1658-61.

134. Vojtek AB, Hollenberg SM, Cooper JA. Mammalian ras interacts directly with the serine/threonine kinase raf. Cell 1993;74:205-14.

135. Warner PH, Viciana PR, Downward J. Direct interaction of ras and the amino-terminal region of raf-1 in vitro. Nature 1993;364:352-5.

136. Zhang XF, Settleman J, Kyriakis JM, et al. Normal and oncogenic p21ras proteins bind to the amino-terminal regulatory domain of c-raf-1. Nature 1993;364:308-13.

137. Kolch W, Heidecker G, Lloyd P, Rapp UR. Raf-1 protein kinase is required for growth of induced NIH/3T3 cells. Nature 1991;349:426-8.

138. Leevers SJ, Paterson HF, Marshall CJ. Requirement for ras in raf activation is overcome by targeting raf to the plasma membrane. Nature 1994;369:411-4.

139. Marais R, Light Y, Paterson HF, Marshall CJ. Ras recruits raf-1 to the plasma membrane for activation by tyrosine phosphorylation. EMBO J 1995;14:3136-45.

140. Rapp UR, Götz R, Albert S. BuCy RAFs drive cells into MEK addiction. Cancer Cell 2006;9:9-12.

141. Kyriakis JM. The integration of signaling by multiprotein complexes containing raf kinases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research 2007;1773:1238-47.

142. Wartmann M, Davis RJ. The native structure of the activated raf protein kinase is a membrane-bound multi-subunit complex. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1994;269:6695-701.

143. Yordy JS, Muise-Helmericks RC. Signal transduction and the ets family of transcription factors. Oncogene 2000;19:6503-13.

144. Pruitt K, Der CJ. Ras and rho regulation of the cell cycle and oncogenesis. Cancer Lett 2001;171:1-10.

145. Rodriguez-Viciana P, Warne PH, Khwaja A, et al. Role of phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase in cell transformation and control of the actin cytoskeleton by ras. Cell 1997;89:457-67.

146. Pacold ME, Suire S, Perisic O, et al. Crystal structure and functional analysis of ras binding to its effector phosphoinositide 3-kinase γ . Cell 2000;103:931-44.

147. Scheid MP, Woodgett JR. PKB/AKT: Functional insights from genetic models. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2:760-8.

148. Cully M, You H, Levine AJ, Mak TW. Beyond PTEN mutations: The PI3K pathway as an integrator of multiple inputs during tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 2006;6:184-92.

149. Datta SR, Brunet A, Greenberg ME. Cellular survival: A play in three akts. Genes Dev 1999;13:2905-27.

150. Kissil JL, Walmsley MJ, Hanlon L, et al. Requirement for Rac1 in a K-ras induced lung cancer in the mouse. Cancer Res 2007;67:8089-94.

151. Urano T, Emkey R, Feig LA. Ral-GTPases mediate a distinct downstream signaling pathway from ras that facilitates cellular transformation. EMBO J 1996;15:810-6.

152. White MA, Vale T, Camonis JH, Schaefer E, Wigler MH. A role for the ral guanine nucleotide dissociation stimulator in mediating ras-induced transformation. J Biol Chem 1996;271:16439-42.

153. Hamad NM, Elconin JH, Karnoub AE, et al. Distinct requirements for ras oncogenesis in human versus mouse cells. Genes Dev 2002;16:2045-57.

154. Rangarajan A, Hong SJ, Gifford A, Weinberg RA. Species- and cell type-specific requirements for cellular transformation. Cancer Cell 2004;6:171-83.

155. Chien Y, White MA. RAL GTPases are linchpin modulators of human tumour-cell proliferation and survival. EMBO Rep 2003;4:800-6.

156. Bunney TD, Katan M. Phospholipase C epsilon: Linking second messengers and small GTPases. Trends Cell Biol 2006;16:640-8.

157. Lambert JM, Lambert QT, Reuther GW, et al. Tiam1 mediates ras activation of rac by a PI(3)K-independent mechanism. Nat Cell Biol 2002;4:621-5.

158. Mertens AE, Roovers RC, Collard JG. Regulation of Tiam1–Rac signalling. FEBS Lett 2003;546:11-6.

159. Malliri A, van der Kammen RA, Clark K, van der Valk M, Michiels F, Collard JG. Mice deficient in the rac activator Tiam1 are resistant to ras-induced skin tumours. Nature 2002;417:867-71.

160. Kuriyama M, Harada N, Kuroda S, et al. Identification of AF-6 and canoe as putative targets for ras. J Biol Chem 1996;271:607-10.

161. Mandai K, Nakanishi H, Satoh A, et al. Afadin: A novel actin Filament-binding protein with one PDZ domain localized at cadherin-based cell-to-cell adherens junction. J Cell Biol 1997;139:517-28.

162. Yamamoto T, Harada N, Kano K, et al. The ras target AF-6 interacts with ZO-1 and serves as a peripheral component of tight junctions in epithelial cells. J Cell Biol 1997;139:785-95.

163. Zhadanov AB, Provance Jr. DW, Speer CA, et al. Absence of the tight junctional protein AF-6 disrupts epithelial cell-cell junctions and cell polarity during mouse development. Current Biology 1999;9:880-8.

164. Milstein M, Mooser CK, Hu H, et al. RIN1 is a breast tumor suppressor gene. Cancer Res 2007;67:11510-6.

165. Han L, Colicelli J. A human protein selected for interference with ras function interacts directly with ras and competes with Raf1. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15:1318-23.

166. Tall GG, Barbieri MA, Stahl PD, Horazdovsky BF. Ras-activated endocytosis is mediated by the Rab5 guanine nucleotide exchange activity of RIN1. Dev Cell 2001;1:73-82.

167. Khokhlatchev A, Rabizadeh S, Xavier R, et al. Identification of a novel ras-regulated proapoptotic pathway. Curr Biol 2002;12:253-65.

168. Vos MD, Martinez A, Ellis CA, Vallecorsa T, Clark GJ. The pro-apoptotic ras effector Nore1 may serve as a ras-regulated tumor suppressor in the lung. J Biol Chem 2003;278:21938-43.

169. Vos MD, Ellis CA, Elam C, Ülkü AS, Taylor BJ, Clark GJ. RASSF2 is a novel K-rasspecific effector and potential tumor suppressor. J Biol Chem 2003;278:28045-51.

170. Baksh S, Tommasi S, Fenton S, et al. The tumor suppressor RASSF1A and MAP-1 link death receptor signaling to bax conformational change and cell death. Mol Cell Biol 2005;18:637-50.

171. Sekido Y, Ahmadian M, Wistuba II, et al. Cloning of a breast cancer homozygous deletion junction narrows the region of search for a 3p21.3 tumor suppressor gene. Oncogene 1998;16:3151-7.

172. Dammann R, Li C, Yoon J, Chin PL, Bates S, Pfeifer GP. Epigenetic inactivation of a RAS association domain family protein from the lung tumour suppressor locus 3p21.3. Nat Genet 2000;25:315-9.

173. Akino K, Toyota M, Suzuki H, et al. The ras effector RASSF2 is a novel tumor-suppressor gene in human colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology 2005;129:156-69.

174. Tommasi S, Dammann R, Zhang Z, et al. Tumor susceptibility of Rassf1a knockout mice. Cancer Res 2005;65:92-8.

175. Singh A, Sowjanya AP, Ramakrishna G. The wild-type ras: Road ahead. FASEB J 2005;19:161-9.

176. Romero F, Martinez-A C, Camonis J, Rebollo A. Aiolos transcription factor controls cell death in T cells by regulating bcl-2 expression and its cellular localization. EMBO J 1999;18:3419-30.

177. DeFeo D, Gonda MA, Young HA, et al. Analysis of two divergent rat genomic clones homologous to the transforming gene of harvey murine sarcoma virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1981;78:3328-32.

178. Newbold RF, Overell RW. Fibroblast immortality is a prerequisite for transformation by EJ c-ha-ras oncogene. Nature 1983;304:648-51.

179. Elenbaas B, Spirio L, Koerner F, et al. Human breast cancer cells generated by oncogenic transformation of primary mammary epithelial cells. Genes Dev 2001;15:50-65.

180. Santos E, Martin-Zanca D, Reddy EP, Pierotti MA, Porta GD, Barbacid M. Malignant activation of a K-ras oncogene in lung carcinoma but not in normal tissue of the same patient. Science 1984;223:661-4.

181. Bos JL. Ras oncogenes in human cancer: A review. Cancer Res 1989;49(17):4682-9.
182. Fujita J, Yoshida O, Yuasa Y, Rhim JS, Hatanaka M, Aaronson SA. Ha-ras oncogenes are activated by somatic alterations in human urinary tract tumours. Nature 1984;309:464-6.
183. Gambke C, Signer E, Moroni C. Activation of N-ras gene in bone marrow cells from a patient with acute myeloblastic leukaemia. Nature 1984;307:476-8.

184. Gambke C, Hall A, Moroni C. Activation of an N-ras gene in acute myeloblastic leukemia through somatic mutation in the first exon. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1985;82:879-82.

185. Janssen JWG, Steenvoorden ACM, Collard JG, Nusse R. Oncogene activation in human myeloid leukemia. Cancer Res 1985;45:3262-7.

186. Padua RA, Barrass NC, Currie GA. Activation of N-ras in a human melanoma cell line. Mol Cell Biol 1985;5:582-5.

187. Balmain A, Pragnell IB. Mouse skin carcinomas induced in vivo by chemical carcinogens have a transforming harvey-ras oncogene. Nature 1983;303:72-4.

188. Sukumar S, Notario V, Martin-Zanca D, Barbacid M. Induction of mammary carcinomas in rats by nitroso-methylurea involves malignant activation of H-ras-1 locus by single point mutations. Nature 1983;306:658-61.

189. Balmain A, Ramsden M, Bowden GT, Smith J. Activation of the mouse cellular harvey-ras gene in chemically induced benign skin papillomas. Nature 1984;307:658-60.

190. Guerrero I, Calzada P, Mayer A, Pellicer A. A molecular approach to leukemogenesis: Mouse lymphomas contain an activated c-ras oncogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1984;81:202-5.

191. Zarbl H, Sukumar S, Arthur AV, Martin-Zanca D, Barbacid M. Direct mutagenesis of haras-1 oncogenes by N-nitroso-N-methylurea during initiation of mammary carcinogenesis in rats. Nature 1985;315:382-5.

192. Quaife CJ, Pinkert CA, Ornitz DM, Palmiter RD, Brinster RL. Pancreatic neoplasia induced by ras expression in acinar cells of transgenic mice. Cell 1987;48:1023-34.

193. Sinn E, Muller W, Pattengale P, Tepler I, Wallace R, Leder P. Coexpression of MMTV/vha-ras and MMTV/c-myc genes in transgenic mice: Synergistic action of oncogenes in vivo. Cell 1987;49:465-75.

194. Mo L, Zheng X, Huang H, et al. Hyperactivation of ha-ras oncogene, but not Ink4a/Arf deficiency, triggers bladder tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest 2007;117:314-25.

195. Chin L, Tam A, Jason, Wong M, et al. Essential role for oncogenic ras in tumour maintenance. Nature 1999;400:468-72.

196. Fisher GH, Wellen SL, Klimstra D, et al. Induction and apoptotic regression of lung adenocarcinomas by regulation of a K-ras transgene in the presence and absence of tumor suppressor genes. Genes Dev 2001;15:3249-62.

197. Sarkisian CJ, Keister BA, Stairs DB, Boxer RB, Moody SE, Chodosh LA. Dose-dependent oncogene-induced senescence in vivo and its evasion during mammary tumorigenesis. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9:493-505.

198. Jackson EL, Willis N, Mercer K, et al. Analysis of lung tumor initiation and progression using conditional expression of oncogenic K-ras. Genes Dev 2001;15:3243-8.

199. Aguirre AJ, Bardeesy N, Sinha M, et al. Activated kras and Ink4a/Arf deficiency cooperate to produce metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Genes Dev 2003;17:3112-26.

200. Hingorani SR, Petricoin III EF, Maitra A, et al. Preinvasive and invasive ductal pancreatic cancer and its early detection in the mouse. Cancer Cell 2003;4:437-50.

201. Tuveson DA, Shaw AT, Willis NA, et al. Endogenous oncogenic K-rasG12D stimulates proliferation and widespread neoplastic and developmental defects. Cancer Cell 2004;5:375-87. 202. Dinulescu DM, Ince TA, Quade BJ, Shafer SA, Crowley D, Jacks T. Role of K-ras and pten in the development of mouse models of endometriosis and endometrioid ovarian cancer. Nat Med 2005;11:63-70.

203. Hingorani SR, Wang L, Multani AS, et al. Trp53R172H and KrasG12D cooperate to promote chromosomal instability and widely metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in mice. Cancer Cell 2005;7:469-83.

204. Bardeesy N, Cheng K, Berger JH, et al. Smad4 is dispensable for normal pancreas development yet critical in progression and tumor biology of pancreas cancer. Genes Dev 2006;20:3130-46.

205. Ijichi H, Chytil A, Gorska AE, et al. Aggressive pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in mice caused by pancreas-specific blockade of transforming growth factor- β signaling in cooperation with active kras expression. Genes Dev 2006;20:3147-60.

206. Sansom OJ, Meniel V, Wilkins JA, et al. Loss of apc allows phenotypic manifestation of the transforming properties of an endogenous K-ras oncogene in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006;103:14122-7.

207. Guerra C, Schuhmacher AJ, Cañamero M, et al. Chronic pancreatitis is essential for induction of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma by K-ras oncogenes in adult mice. Cancer Cell 2007;11:291-302.

208. Izeradjene K, Combs C, Best M, et al. KrasG12D and Smad4/Dpc4 haploinsufficiency cooperate to induce mucinous cystic neoplasms and invasive adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. Cancer Cell 2007;11:229-43.

209. Kirsch DG, Dinulescu DM, Miller JB, et al. A spatially and temporally restricted mouse model of soft tissue sarcoma. Nat Med 2007;13:992-7.

210. Siveke JT, Einwächter H, Sipos B, Lubeseder-Martellato C, Klöppel G, Schmid RM. Concomitant pancreatic activation of KrasG12D and tgfa results in cystic papillary neoplasms reminiscent of human IPMN. Cancer Cell 2007;12:266-79.

211. Gidekel Friedlander SY, Chu GC, Snyder EL, et al. Context-dependent transformation of adult pancreatic cells by oncogenic K-ras. Cancer Cell 2009;16:379-89.

212. Karreth FA, Tuveson DA. Modelling oncogenic Ras/Raf signalling in the mouse. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2009;19:4-11.

213. Haigis KM, Kendall KR, Wang Y, et al. Differential effects of oncogenic K-ras and N-ras on proliferation, differentiation and tumor progression in the colon. Nat Genet 2008;40:600-8. 214. Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiol Rev 2001;81:807-69.

215. Brown MD, Sacks DB. Protein scaffolds in MAP kinase signalling. Cell Signal 2009;21:462-9.

216. Dhillon AS, Hagan S, Rath O, Kolch W. MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. Oncogene 2007;26:3279-90.

217. Cuenda A, Rousseau S. p38 MAP-kinases pathway regulation, function and role in human diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1773:1358-75.

218. Wagner EF, Nebreda AR. Signal integration by JNK and p38 MAPK pathways in cancer development. Nat Rev Can 2009;9:537-49.

219. Raman M, Chen W, Cobb MH. Differential regulation and properties of MAPKs. Oncogene 2007;26:3100-12.

220. Derijard B, Raingeaud J, Barrett T, et al. Independent human MAP kinase signal transduction pathways defined by MEK and MKK isoforms. Science 1995;267:682-5.

221. Raingeaud J, Whitmarsh AJ, Barrett T, Derijard B, Davis RJ. MKK3- and MKK6-regulated gene expression is mediated by the p38 mitogen- activated protein kinase signal transduction pathway. Mol Cell Biol 1996;16:1247-55.

222. Cuenda A, Cohen P, Buee-Scherrer V, Goedert M. Activation of stress-activated protein kinase-3 (SAPK3) by cytokines and cellular stresses is mediated via SAPKK3 (MKK6); comparison of the specificities of SAPK3 and SAPK2 (RK/p38). EMBO J 1997;16:295-305. 223. Enslen H, Raingeaud J, Davis RJ. Selective activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase isoforms by the MAP kinase kinases MKK3 and MKK6. J Biol Chem 1998;273:1741-8.

224. Remy G, Risco AM, Inesta-Vaquera FA, et al. Differential activation of p38MAPK isoforms by MKK6 and MKK3. Cell Signal 2010;22:660-7.

225. Brancho D, Tanaka N, Jaeschke A, et al. Mechanism of p38 MAP kinase activation in vivo. Genes Dev 2003;17:1969-78.

226. Moriguchi T, Kuroyanagi N, Yamaguchi K, et al. A novel kinase cascade mediated by mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 6 and MKK3. J Biol Chem 1996;271:13675-9.

227. Ichijo H, Nishida E, Irie K, et al. Induction of apoptosis by ASK1, a mammalian MAPKKK that activates SAPK/JNK and p38 signaling pathways. Science 1997;275:90-4.

228. Takekawa M, Posas F, Saito H. A human homolog of the yeast Ssk2/Ssk22 MAP kinase kinase kinases, MTK1, mediates stress-induced activation of the p38 and JNK pathways. EMBO J 1997;16:4973-82.

229. Hutchison M, Berman KS, Cobb MH. Isolation of TAO1, a protein kinase that activates MEKs in stress-activated protein kinase cascades. J Biol Chem 1998;273:28625-32.

230. Chen Z, Hutchison M, Cobb MH. Isolation of the protein kinase TAO2 and identification of its mitogen-activated protein Kinase/Extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase binding domain. J Biol Chem 1999;274:28803-7.

231. Deacon K, Blank JL. MEK kinase 3 directly activates MKK6 and MKK7, specific activators of the p38 and c-jun NH2-terminal kinases. J Biol Chem 1999;274:16604-10.

232. Schaefer BC, Ware MF, Marrack P, et al. Live cell fluorescence imaging of T cell MEKK2: Redistribution and activation in response to antigen stimulation of the T cell receptor. Immunity 1999;11:411-21.

233. Chen Z, Cobb MH. Regulation of stress-responsive mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways by TAO2. J Biol Chem 2001;276:16070-5.

234. Gallo KA, Johnson GL. Mixed-lineage kinase control of JNK and p38 MAPK pathways. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2002;3:663-72.

235. Zarubin T, Han J. Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. Cancer Research 2005;15:11-8.

236. Moore TM, Garg R, Johnson C, Coptcoat MJ, Ridley AJ, Morris JDH. PSK, a novel STE20-like kinase derived from prostatic carcinoma that activates the c-jun N-terminal kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway and regulates actin cytoskeletal organization. J Biol Chem 2000;275:4311-22.

237. Bagrodia S, Dérijard B, Davis RJ, Cerione RA. Cdc42 and PAK-mediated signaling leads to jun kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1995;270(47):27995-8.

238. Minden A, Lin A, Claret F, Abo A, Karin M. Selective activation of the JNK signaling cascadeand c-jun transcriptional activity by the small GTPases rac and Cdc42Hs. Cell 1995;81:1147-57.

239. Zhang S, Han J, Sells MA, et al. Rho family GTPases regulate p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase through the downstream mediator Pak1. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1995;270(41):23934-6.

240. Marinissen MJ, Chiariello M, Gutkind JS. Regulation of gene expression by the small GTPase rho through the ERK6 (p38γ) MAP kinase pathway. Genes Dev 2001;15:535-53. 241. Sakabe K, Teramoto H, Zohar M, et al. Potent transforming activity of the small GTP-binding protein rit in NIH 3T3 cells: Evidence for a role of a p38γ-dependent signaling pathway. FEBS Lett 2002;511:15-20.

242. Marinissen MJ, Chiariello M, Pallante M, Gutkind JS. A network of mitogen-activated protein kinases links G protein-coupled receptors to the c-jun promoter: A role for c-jun NH2-terminal kinase, p38s, and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 5. Mol Cell Biol 1999;19:4289-301.

243. Marinissen MJ, Servitja J, Offermanns S, Simon MI, Gutkind JS. Thrombin proteaseactivated receptor-1 signals through gq- and G13-initiated MAPK cascades regulating c-jun expression to induce cell transformation. J Biol Chem 2003;278:46814-25.

244. Heasman SJ, Ridley AJ. Mammalian rho GTPases: New insights into their functions from in vivo studies. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008;9:690-701.

245. Lee S, Eom M, Lee SJ, Kim S, Park H, Park D. βPix-enhanced p38 activation by Cdc42/Rac/PAK/MKK3/6-mediated pathway. J Biol Chem 2001;276:25066-72.

246. Allen MP, Linseman DA, Udo H, et al. Novel mechanism for gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuronal migration involving Gas6/Ark signaling to p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:599-613.

247. Chan PM, Lim L, Manser E. PAK is regulated by PI3K, PIX, CDC42, and PP2Cα and mediates focal adhesion turnover in the hyperosmotic stress-induced p38 pathway. J Biol Chem 2008;283:24949-61.

248. Varon C, Rottiers P, Ezan J, et al. TGF β 1 regulates endothelial cell spreading and hypertrophy through a Rac-p38-mediated pathway. Biol Cell 2008;100:537-50.

249. Kong L, Ge B. MyD88-independent activation of a novel actin-Cdc42/Rac pathway is required for toll-like receptor-stimulated phagocytosis. Cell Research 2008;18:745-55.

250. Wery-Zennaro S, Zugaza JL, Letourneur M, Bertoglio J, Pierre J. IL-4 regulation of IL-6 production involves Rac/Cdc42- and p38 MAPK-dependent pathways in keratinocytes. Oncogene 2000;19:1596-604.

251. Song H, Ki SH, Kim SG, Moon A. Activating transcription factor 2 mediates matrix metalloproteinase-2 transcriptional activation induced by p38 in breast epithelial cells. Cancer Res 2006;66:10487-96.

252. Hong H, Jeon W, Kim B. Up-regulation of heme oxygenase-1 expression through the Rac1/NADPH oxidase/ROS/p38 signaling cascade mediates the anti-inflammatory effect of 15-deoxy- Δ 12,14-prostaglandin J2 in murine macrophages. FEBS Lett 2008;582:861-8.

253. Sebe A, Erdei Z, Varga K, Bodor C, Mucsi I, Rosivall L. Cdc42 regulates myocardinrelated transcription factor nuclear shuttling and alpha-smooth muscle actin promoter activity during renal tubular epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nephron Exp Nephrol 2010;114:e117-25. 254. Manser E, Leung T, Salihuddin H, Zhao Z, Lim L. A brain serine/threonine protein kinase activated by Cdc42 and Rac1. Nature 1994;367:40-6.

255. Martin GA, Bollag G, McCormick F, Abo A. A novel serine kinase activated by rac1/CDC42Hs-dependent autophosphorylation is related to PAK65 and STE20. EMBO J 1995;14:1970-8.

256. Sells MA, Knaus UG, Bagrodia S, Ambrose DM, Bokoch GM, Chernoff J. Human p21activated kinase (Pak1) regulates actin organization in mammalian cells. Curr Biol 1997;7:202-10. 257. Sells MA, Boyd JT, Chernoff J. p21-activated kinase 1 (Pak1) regulates cell motility in mammalian fibroblasts. J Cell Biol 1999;145:837-49.

258. Alahari SK. Nischarin inhibits rac induced migration and invasion of epithelial cells by affecting signaling cascades involving PAK. Exp Cell Res 2003;288:415-24.

259. Rousseau S, Dolado I, Beardmore V, et al. CXCL12 and C5a trigger cell migration via a PAK1/2-p38α MAPK-MAPKAP-K2-HSP27 pathway. Cell Signal 2006;18:1897-905.

260. Dan I, Watanabe NM, Kusumi A. The Ste20 group kinases as regulators of MAP kinase cascades. Trends Cell Biol 2001;11:220-30.

261. Kumar A, Molli PR, Pakala SB, Nguyen TMB, Rayala SK, Kumar R. PAK thread from amoeba to mammals. J Cell Biochem 2009;107:579-85.

262. Uhlik MT, Abell AN, Johnson NL, et al. Rac–MEKK3–MKK3 scaffolding for p38 MAPK activation during hyperosmotic shock. Nat Cell Biol 2003;5:1104-10.

263. Morrison DK, Davis RJ. Regulation of MAP kinase signaling modules by scaffold proteins in mammals. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2003;19:91-118.

264. Schoorlemmer J, Goldfarb M. Fibroblast growth factor homologous factors are intracellular signaling proteins. Curr Biol 2001;11:793-7.

265. Buchsbaum RJ, Connolly BA, Feig LA. Interaction of rac exchange factors Tiam1 and ras-GRF1 with a scaffold for the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:4073-85.

266. Schoorlemmer J, Goldfarb M. Fibroblast growth factor homologous factors and the islet brain-2 scaffold protein regulate activation of a stress-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 2002;277:49111-9.

267. Kelkar N, Standen CL, Davis RJ. Role of the JIP4 scaffold protein in the regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:2733-43.

268. Ge B, Gram H, Di Padova F, et al. MAPKK-independent activation of p38 alpha mediated by TAB1-dependent autophosphorylation of p38 alpha. Science 2002;295:1291-4.

269. Matsuyama W, Faure M, Yoshimura T. Activation of discoidin domain receptor 1 facilitates the maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells through the TNF receptor associated factor 6/TGF beta-activated protein kinase 1 binding protein 1 beta/p38 alpha mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascade. J Immunol 2003;171:3520-32.

270. Tanno M, Bassi R, Gorog DA, et al. Diverse mechanisms of myocardial p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase activation: Evidence for MKK-independent activation by a TAB1associated mechanism contributing to injury during myocardial ischemia. Circ Res 2003;93:254-61.

271. Ohkusu-Tsukada K, Tominaga N, Udono H, Yui K. Regulation of the maintenance of peripheral T-cell anergy by TAB1-mediated p38 alpha activation. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:6957-66.

272. Salvador JM, Mittelstadt PR, Guszczynski T, et al. Lternative p38 activation pathway mediated by T cell receptor-proximal tyrosine kinases. Nat Immunol 2005;6:390-5.

273. Han J, Lee JD, Bibbs L, Ulevitch RJ. A MAP kinase targeted by endotoxin and hyperosmolarity in mammalian cells. Science 1994;265:808-11.

274. Rouse J, Cohen P, Trigon S, et al. A novel kinase cascade triggered by stress and heat shock that stimulates MAPKAP kinase-2 and phosphorylation of the small heat shock proteins. Cell 1994;78:1027-37.

275. Raingeaud J, Gupta S, Rogers JS, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and environmental stress cause p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by dual phosphorylation on tyrosine and threonine. J Biol Chem 1995;270:7420-6.

276. Raman M, Earnest S, Zhang K, Zhao Y, Cobb MH. TAO kinases mediate activation of p38 in response to DNA damage. EMBO J 2007;26:2005-14.

277. Newhouse K, Hsuan S, Chang SH, Cai B, Wang Y, Xia Z. Rotenone-induced apoptosis is mediated by p38 and JNK MAP kinases in human dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells. Toxicol Sci 2004;79:137-46.

278. Freshney NW, Rawlinson L, Guesdon F, et al. Interleukin-1 activates a novel protein kinase cascade that results in the phosphorylation of Hsp27. Cell 1994;78:1039-49.

279. Saklatvala J, Rawlinson L, Waller RJ, et al. Role for p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in platelet aggregation caused by collagen or a thromboxane analogue. J Biol Chem 1996;271:6586-9.

280. Pietersma A, Tilly BC, Gaestel M, et al. p38 mitogen activated protein kinase regulates endothelial VCAM-1 expression at the post-transcriptional level. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997;230:44-8.

281. Shalom-Barak T, Quach J, Lotz M. Interleukin-17-induced gene expression in articular chondrocytes is associated with activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and NF- α B. J Biol Chem 1998;273:27467-73.

282. Shapiro L, Puren AJ, Barton HA, et al. Interleukin 18 stimulates HIV type 1 in monocytic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:12550-5.

283. Ono K, Han J. The p38 signal transduction pathway: Activation and function. Cell Signal 2000;12:1-13.

284. Tan Y, Rouse J, Zhang A, Cariati S, Cohen P, Comb MJ. FGF and stress regulate CREB and ATF-1 via a pathway involving p38 MAP kinase and MAPKAP kinase-2. EMBO J 1996;15:4629-42.

285. Foltz IN, Lee JC, Young PR, Schrader JW. Hemopoietic growth factors with the exception of interleukin-4 activate the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. J Biol Chem 1997;272:3296-301.

286. Pyne NJ, Pyne S. Platelet-derived growth factor activates a mammalian Ste20 coupled mitogen-activated protein kinase in airway smooth muscle. Cell Signal 1997;9:311-7.

287. Rousseau S, Houle F, Landry J, Huot J. p38 MAP kinase activation by vascular endothelial growth factor mediates actin reorganization and cell migration in human endothelial cells. Oncogene 1997;15:2169-77.

288. Cheng H, Feldman EL. Bidirectional regulation of p38 kinase and c-jun N-terminal protein kinase by insulin-like growth factor-I. J Biol Chem 1998;273:14560-5.

289. Morooka T, Nishida E. Requirement of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase for neuronal differentiation in PC12 cells. J Biol Chem 1998;273:24285-8.

290. Xing J, Kornhauser JM, Xia Z, Thiele EA, Greenberg ME. Nerve growth factor activates extracellular signal-regulated kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways to stimulate CREB serine 133 phosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol 1998;18:1946-55.

291. Sweeney G, Somwar R, Ramlal T, Volchuk A, Ueyama A, Klip A. An inhibitor of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase prevents insulin-stimulated glucose transport but not glucose transporter translocation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes. J Biol Chem 1999;274:10071-8.

292. Heidenreich KA, Kummer JL. Inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase by insulin in cultured fetal neurons. J Biol Chem 1996;271:9891-4.

293. Owens DM, Keyse SM. Differential regulation of MAP kinase signalling by dualspecificity protein phosphatases. Oncogene 2007;26:3203-13.

294. Lu G, Wang Y. Functional diversity of mammalian type 2C protein phosphatase isoforms: New tales from an old family. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2008;35:107-12.

295. Takekawa M, Maeda T, Saito H. Protein phosphatase $2C\alpha$ inhibits the human stressresponsive p38 and JNK MAPK pathways. EMBO J 1998;17:4744-52.

296. Takekawa M, Adachi M, Nakahata A, et al. p53-inducible Wip1 phosphatase mediates a negative feedback regulation of p38 MAPK-p53 signaling in response to UV radiation. EMBO J 2000;19:6517-26.

297. Hanada M, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Komaki K, et al. Regulation of the TAK1 signaling pathway by protein phosphatase 2C. J Biol Chem 2001;276:5753-9.

298. Li MG, Katsura K, Nomiyama H, et al. Regulation of the interleukin-1-induced signaling pathways by a novel member of the protein phosphatase 2C family (PP2Cε). J Biol Chem 2003;278:12013-21.

299. Saito J, Toriumi S, Awano K, et al. Regulation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 by protein phosphatase 2Cɛ. Biochem J 2007;405:591-6.

300. Oh-hora M, Ogata M, Mori Y, et al. Direct suppression of TCR-mediated activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase by leukocyte protein tyrosine phosphatase, a tyrosine-specific phosphatase. J Immunol 1999;163:1282-8.

301. Blanco-Aparicio C, Torres J, Pulido R. A novel regulatory mechanism of map kinases activation and nuclear translocation mediated by pka and the ptp-sl tyrosine phosphatase. J Cell Biol 1999;147:1129-36.

302. Munoz JJ, Tarrega C, Blanco-Aparicio C, Pulido R. Differential interaction of the tyrosine phosphatases PTP-SL, STEP and HePTP with the mitogen-activated protein kinases ERK1/2 and p38 α is determined by a kinase specificity sequence and influenced by reducing agents. Biochem J 2003;372:193-201.

303. Muda M, Theodosiou A, Rodrigues N, et al. The dual specificity phosphatases M3/6 and MKP-3 are highly selective for inactivation of distinct mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Biol Chem 1996;271:27205-8.

304. Tanoue T, Moriguchi T, Nishida E. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel dual specificity phosphatase, MKP-5. J Biol Chem 1999;274:19949-56.

305. Slack DN, Seternes O, Gabrielsen M, Keyse SM. Distinct binding determinants for ERK2/p38α and JNK MAP kinases mediate catalytic activation and substrate selectivity of MAP kinase phosphatase-1. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2001;276:16491-500.

306. Salojin KV, Owusu IB, Millerchip KA, Potter M, Platt KA, Oravecz T. Essential role of MAPK phosphatase-1 in the negative control of innate immune responses. J Immunol 2006;176:1899-907.

307. Wu JJ, Roth RJ, Anderson EJ, et al. Mice lacking MAP kinase phosphatase-1 have enhanced MAP kinase activity and resistance to diet-induced obesity. Cell Metab 2006;4:61-73. 308. Hu J, Chen T, Zhuang Z, et al. Feedback control of MKP-1 expression by p38. Cell Signal 2007;19:393-400.

309. Camps M, Nichols A, Gillieron C, et al. Catalytic activation of the phosphatase MKP-3 by ERK2 mitogen-activated protein kinase. Science 1998;280:1262-5.

310. Muda M, Theodosiou A, Gillieron C, et al. The mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-3 N-terminal noncatalytic region is responsible for tight substrate binding and enzymatic specificity. J Biol Chem 1998;273:9323-9.

311. Camps M, Nichols A, Arkinstall S. Dual specificity phosphatases: A gene family for control of MAP kinase function. FASEB J 2000;14:6-16.

312. Chu Y, Solski PA, Khosravi-Far R, Der CJ, Kelly K. The mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatases PAC1, MKP-1, and MKP-2 have unique substrate specificities and reduced activity in vivo toward the ERK2 sevenmaker mutation. J Biol Chem 1996;271:6497-501.

313. Zhang Q, Muller M, Chen CH, Zeng L, Farooq A, Zhou M. New insights into the catalytic activation of the MAPK phosphatase PAC-1 induced by its substrate MAPK ERK2 binding. J Mol Biol 2005;354:777-88.

314. Stokoe D, Campbell DG, Nakielny S, et al. MAPKAP kinase-2; a novel protein kinase activated by mitogen-activated protein kinase. EMBO J 1992;11:3985-94.

315. Stokoe D, Engel K, Campbell DG, Cohen P, Gaestel M. Identification of MAPKAP kinase 2 as a major enzyme responsible for the phosphorylation of the small mammalian heat shock proteins. FEBS Lett 1992;313:307-13.

316. Cuenda A, Rouse J, Doza YN, et al. SB 203580 is a specific inhibitor of a MAP kinase homologue which is stimulated by cellular stresses and interleukin-1. FEBS Lett 1995;364:229-33.

317. Clifton AD, Young PR, Cohen P. A comparison of the substrate specificity of MAPKAP kinase-2 and MAPKAP kinase-3 and their activation by cytokines and cellular stress. FEBS Lett 1996;392:209-14.

318. Gaestel M. MAPKAP kinases - MKs - two's company, three's a crowd. Nat Rev Cell Biol 2006;7:120-30.

319. Benndorf R, Hayess K, Ryazantsev S, Wieske M, Behlke J, Lutsch G. Phosphorylation and supramolecular organization of murine small heat shock protein HSP25 abolish its actin polymerization-inhibiting activity. J Biol Chem 1994;269:20780-4.

320. Huang C, Zhan L, Ai Y, Jongstra J. LSP1 is the major substrate for mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 in human neutrophils. J Biol Chem 1997;272:17-9. 321. Eyers CE, McNeill H, Knebel A, et al. The phosphorylation of CapZ-interacting protein (CapZIP) by stress-activated protein kinases triggers its dissociation from CapZ. Biochem J 2005;389:127-35.

322. Heidenreich O, Neininger A, Schratt G, et al. MAPKAP kinase 2 phosphorylates serum response factor in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem 1999;274:14434-43.

323. Carballo E, Lai WS, Blackshear PJ. Feedback inhibition of macrophage tumor necrosis factor- α production by tristetraprolin. Science 1998;281:1001-5.

324. Chrestensen CA, Schroeder MJ, Shabanowitz J, et al. MAPKAP kinase 2 phosphorylates tristetraprolin on in vivo sites including Ser178, a site required for 14-3-3 binding. J Biol Chem 2004;279:10176-84.

325. Stoecklin G, Stubbs T, Kedersha N, et al. MK2-induced tristetraprolin:14-3-3 complexes prevent stress granule association and ARE-mRNA decay. EMBO J 2004;23:1313-24.

326. Manke IA, Nguyen A, Lim D, Stewart MQ, Elia AEH, Yaffe MB. MAPKAP kinase-2 is a cell cycle checkpoint kinase that regulates the G2/M transition and S phase progression in response to UV irradiation. Mol Cell 2005;17:37-48.

327. New L, Jiang Y, Zhao M, et al. PRAK, a novel protein kinase regulated by the p38 MAP kinase. EMBO J 1998;17:3372-84.

328. Sun P, Yoshizuka N, New L, et al. PRAK is essential for ras-induced senescence and tumor suppression. Cell 2007;128:295-308.

329. Waskiewicz AJ, Flynn A, Proud CG, Cooper JA. Mitogen-activated protein kinases activate the serine/threonine kinases Mnk1 and Mnk2. EMBO J 1997;16:1909-20.

330. Gingras A, Raught B, Sonenberg N. eIF4 initiation factors: Effectors of mRNA recruitment to ribosomes and regulators of translation. Annu Rev Biochem 1999;68:913-63.

331. Knauf U, Tschopp C, Gram H. Negative regulation of protein translation by mitogenactivated protein kinase-interacting kinases 1 and 2. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:5500-11.

332. Deak M, Clifton AD, Lucocq JM, Alessi DR. Mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase-1 (MSK1) is directly activated by MAPK and SAPK2/p38, and may mediate activation of CREB. EMBO J 1998;17:4426-41.

333. Pierrat B, Correia JdS, Mary J, Tomás-Zuber M, Lesslauer W. RSK-B, a novel ribosomal S6 kinase family member, is a CREB kinase under dominant control of p38α mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38αMAPK). J Biol Chem 1998;273:29661-71.

334. New L, Zhao M, Li Y, et al. Cloning and characterization of RLPK, a novel RSK-related protein kinase. J Biol Chem 1999;274:1026-32.

335. Thomson S, Clayton AL, Hazzalin CA, Rose S, Barratt MJ, Mahadevan LC. The nucleosomal response associated with immediate-early gene induction is mediated via alternative MAP kinase cascades: MSK1 as a potential histone H3/HMG-14 kinase. EMBO J 1999;18:4779-93.

336. Soloaga A, Thomson S, Wiggin GR, et al. MSK2 and MSK1 mediate the mitogen- and stress-induced phosphorylation of histone H3 and HMG-14. EMBO J 2003;22:2788-97.

337. Liu G, Zhang Y, Bode AM, Ma W, Dong Z. Phosphorylation of 4E-BP1 is mediated by the p38/MSK1 pathway in response to UVB irradiation. J Biol Chem 2002;277:8810-6.

338. Perdiguero E, Munoz-Canoves P. Transcriptional regulation by the p38 MAPK signaling pathway in mammalian cells. Top Curr Genet 2008;20:51-79.

339. Whitmarsh AJ, Yang SH, Su MS, Sharrocks AD, Davis RJ. Role of p38 and JNK mitogenactivated protein kinases in the activation of ternary complex factors. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17:2360-71.

340. Dolado I, Nebreda AR. Regulation of tumorigenesis by p38α MAP kinase. Top Curr Genet 2008;20:99-128.

341. Hui L, Bakiri L, Mairhorfer A, et al. p38α suppresses normal and cancer cell proliferation by antagonizing the JNK-c-jun pathway. Nat Genet 2007;39:741-9.

342. Cha H, Wang X, Li H, Fornace AJ. A functional role for p38 MAPK in modulating mitotic transit in the absence of stress. J Biol Chem 2007;282:22984-92.

343. Engel FB, Schebesta M, Duong MT, et al. p38 MAP kinase inhibition enables proliferation of adult mammalian cardiomyocytes. Genes Dev 2005;19:1175-87.

344. Ventura JJ, Tenbaum S, Perdiguero E, et al. p38α MAP kinase is essential in lung stem and progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation. Nat Genet 2007;39:750-8.

345. Lavoie JN, L'Allemain G, Brunet A, Muller R, Pouyssegur J. Cyclin D1 expression is regulated positively by the p42/p44MAPK and negatively by the p38/HOGMAPK pathway. J Biol Chem 1996;271:20608-16.

346. Wang W, Chen JX, Liao R, et al. Sequential activation of the MEK-extracellular signalregulated kinase and MKK3/6-p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediates oncogenic ras-induced premature senescence. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:3389-403. 347. Casanovas O, Miró F, Estanyol JM, Itarte E, Agell N, Bachs O. Osmotic stress regulates the stability of cyclin D1 in a p38SAPK2-dependent manner. J Biol Chem 2000;275:35091-7. 348. Kim G, Mercer SE, Ewton DZ, Yan Z, Jin K, Friedman E. The stress-activated protein kinases p38α and JNK1 stabilize p21Cip1 by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2002;277:29792-802.

349. Casanovas O, Jaumot M, Paules A, Agell N, Bachs O. P38SAPK2 phosphorylates cyclin D3 at thr-283 and targets it for proteasomal degradation. Oncogene 2004;23:7537-44.

350. Wang X, McGowan CH, Zhao M, et al. Involvement of the MKK6-p38 γ cascade in γ -radiation-induced cell cycle arrest. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:4543-52.

351. Mikhailov A, Shinohara M, Rieder CL. Topoisomerase II and histone deacetylase inhibitors delay the G2/M transition by triggering the p38 MAPK checkpoint pathway. J Cell Biol 2004;166:517-26.

352. Mikhailov A, Shinohara M, Rieder CL. The p38-mediated stress-activated checkpoint. A rapid response system for delaying progression through antephase and entry into mitosis. Cell Cycle 2005;4:57-62.

353. Reinhardt HC, Aslanian AS, Lees JA, Yaffe MB. p53-deficient cells rely on ATM- and ATR-mediated checkpoint signaling through the p38MAPK/MK2 pathway for survival after DNA damage. Cancer Cell 2007;11:175-89.

354. Garner AP, Weston CR, Todd DE, Balmanno K, Cook SJ. Delta MEKK3:ER* activation induces a p38 alpha/beta 2-dependent cell cycle arrest at the G2 checkpoint. Oncogene 2002;21:8089-104.

355. Pedraza-Alva G, Koulnis M, Charland C, et al. Activation of p38 MAP kinase by DNA double-strand breaks in V(D)J recombination induces a G2/M cell cycle checkpoint. EMBO J 2006;25:763-73.

356. Fan L, Yang X, Du J, Marshall M, Blanchard K, Ye X. A novel role of p38α MAPK in mitotic progression independent of its kinase activity. Cell Cycle 2005;4:1616-24.

357. Bulavin DV, Saito S, Hollander MC, et al. Phosphorylation of human p53 by p38 kinase coordinates N-terminal phosphorylation and apoptosis in response to UV radiation. EMBO J 1999;18:6845-54.

358. Hou ST, Xie X, Baggley A, Park DS, Chen G, Walker T. Activation of the Rb/E2F1 pathway by the nonproliferative p38 MAPK during fas (APO1/CD95)-mediated neuronal apoptosis. J Biol Chem 2002;277:48764-70.

359. Porras A, Zuluaga S, Black E, et al. p38α mitogen-activated protein kinase sensitizes cells to apoptosis induced by different stimuli. Mol Biol Cell 2004;15:922-33.

360. Farley N, Pedraza-Alva G, Serrano-Gomez D, et al. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase mediates the fas-induced mitochondrial death pathway in CD8+ T cells. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26:2118-29.

361. Fassetta M, D'Alessandro L, Coltella N, Di Renzo MF, Rasola A. Hepatocyte growth factor installs a survival platform for colorectal cancer cell invasive growth and overcomes p38 MAPK-mediated apoptosis. Cell Signal 2006;18:1967-76.

362. Grethe S, Porn-Åres MI. p38 MAPK regulates phosphorylation of bad via PP2A-dependent suppression of the MEK1/2-ERK1/2 survival pathway in TNF- α induced endothelial apoptosis. Cell Signal 2006;18:531-40.

363. Dolado I, Swat A, Ajenjo N, De Vita G, Cuadrado A, Nebreda AR. p38α MAP kinase as a sensor of reactive oxygen species in tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell 2007;11:191-205.

364. Nemoto S, Xiang J, Huang S, Lin A. Induction of apoptosis by SB202190 through inhibition of p38β mitogen-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 1998;273:16415-20.

365. Silva G, Cunha A, Gregoire IP, Seldon MP, Soares MP. The antiapoptotic effect of heme oxygenase-1 in endothelial cells involves the degradation of p38α MAPK isoform. J Immunol 2006;177:1894-903.

366. Nebreda AR, Porras A. p38 MAP kinases: Beyond the stress response. Trends Biochem Sci 2000;25:257-60.

367. Uddin S, Ah-Kang J, Ulaszek J, Mahmud D, Wickrema A. Differentiation stage-specific activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase isoforms in primary human erythroid cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:147-52.

368. Aouadi M, Bost F, Caron L, Laurent K, Le Marchand Brustel Y, Binetruy B. p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase activity commits embryonic stem cells to either neurogenesis or cardiomyogenesis. Stem Cells 2006;24:1399-406.

369. Forte G, Minieri M, Cossa P, et al. Hepatocyte growth factor effects on mesenchymal stem cells: Proliferation, migration, and differentiation. Stem Cells 2006;24:23-33.

370. Lluis F, Perdiguero E, Nebreda AR, Munoz-Canoves P. Regulation of skeletal muscle gene expression by p38 MAP kinases. Trends Cell Biol 2006;16:36-44.

371. Schmelter M, Ateghang B, Helmig S, Wartenberg M, Sauer H. Embryonic stem cells utilize reactive oxygen species as transducers of mechanical strain-induced cardiovascular differentiation. FASEB J 2006;20:1182-4.

372. Perdiguero E, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Gresh L, et al. Genetic analysis of p38 MAP kinases in myogenesis: Fundamental role of p38 in abrogating myoblast proliferation. EMBO J 2007;26:1245-56.

373. Puri PL, Wu Z, Zhang P, et al. Induction of terminal differentiation by constitutive activation of p38 MAP kinase in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Genes Dev 2000;14:574-84.
374. Finn GJ, Creaven BS, Egan DA. Daphnetin induced differentiation of human renal carcinoma cells and its mediation by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. Biochem Pharmacol 2004;67:1779-88.

375. Ordonez-Moran P, Larriba MJ, Palmer HG, et al. RhoA–ROCK and p38MAPK-MSK1 mediate vitamin D effects on gene expression, phenotype, and wnt pathway in colon cancer cells. J Cell Biol 2008;183:697-710.

376. Crump NT, Han YT, Mahadevan LC. Stress-activated MAP kinases in chromatin and transcriptional complexes. Top Curr Genet 2008;20:283-97.

377. Kim M, Lee E, Kim HC, Moon A. p38 kinase is a key signaling molecule for H-ras-induced cell motility and invasive phenotype in human breast epithelial cells. Cancer Res 2003;63:5454-61.

378. McMullen ME, Bryant PW, Glembotski CC, Vincent PA, Pumiglia KM. Activation of p38 has opposing effects on the proliferation and migration of endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 2005;280:20995-1003.

379. Dreissigacker U, Mueller MS, Unger M, et al. Oncogenic K-ras down-regulates Rac1 and RhoA activity and enhances migration and invasion of pancreatic carcinoma cells through activation of p38. Cell Signal 2006;18:1156-68.

380. Hiratsuka S, Watanabe A, Aburatani H, Maru Y. Tumour-mediated upregulation of chemoattractants and recruitment of myeloid cells predetermines lung metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 2006;8:1369-75.

381. Hsieh Y, Wu T, Huang C, Hsieh Y, Hwang J, Liu J. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway is involved in protein kinase C α -regulated invasion in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 2007;67(9):4320-7.

382. Junttila MR, Ala-aho R, Jokilehto T, et al. $p38\alpha$ and $p38\delta$ mitogen-activated protein kinase isoforms regulate invasion and growth of head and neck squamous carcinoma cells. Oncogene 2007;26:5267-79.

383. Behren A, Muhlen S, Acuna Sanhueza GA, et al. Phenotype-assisted transcriptome analysis identifies FOXM1 downstream from ras-MKK3-p38 to regulate in vitro cellular invasion. Oncogene 2010;29:1519-30.

384. Loesch M, Zhi H, Hou S, et al. p38γ MAPK cooperates with c-jun in trans-activating matrix metalloproteinase 9. J Biol Chem 2010;Epub ahead of print.

385. Saklatvala J. The p38 MAP kinase pathway as a therapeutic target in inflammatory disease. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2004;4:372-7.

386. Coussens LM, Fingleton B, Matrisian LM. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors and cancer: Trials and tribulations. Science 2002;295:2387-92.

387. Yamamoto T, Kozawa O, Tanabe K, et al. Involvement of p38 MAP kinase in TGF-betastimulated VEGF synthesis in aortic smooth muscle cells. J Cell Biochem 2001;82:591-8.

388. Wang L, Kwak JH, Kim SI, He Y, Choi ME. Transforming growth factor- β 1 stimulates vascular endothelial growth factor 164 via mitogen-activated protein kinase 3-p38 α and p38 δ mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent pathway in murine mesangial cells. J Biol Chem 2004;279:33213-9.

389. Yoshino Y, Aoyagi M, Tamaki M, Duan L, Morimoto T, Ohno K. Activation of p38 MAPK and/or JNK contributes to increased levels of VEGF secretion in human malignant glioma cells. Int J Oncol 2006;29:981-7.

390. Shemirani B, Crowe DL. Hypoxic induction of HIF-1 α and VEGF expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma lines is mediated by stress activated protein kinases. Oral Oncol 2002;38:251-7.

391. Emerling BM, Platanias LC, Black E, Nebreda AR, Davis RJ, Chandel NS. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is required for hypoxia signaling. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:4853-62.

392. Matsuo Y, Amano S, Furuya M, et al. Involvement of p38α mitogen-activated protein kinase in lung metastasis of tumor cells. J Biol Chem 2006;281:36767-75.

393. Iyoda K, Sasaki Y, Horimoto M, et al. Involvement of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 2003;97:3017-26.

394. Greenman C, Stephens P, Smith R, et al. Patterns of somatic mutation in human cancer genomes. Nature 2007;446:153-8.

395. Bulavin DV, Demidov ON, Saito S, et al. Amplification of PPM1D in human tumors abrogates p53 tumor-suppressor activity. Nat Genet 2002;31:210-5.

396. Li J, Yang Y, Peng Y, et al. Oncogenic properties of PPM1D located within a breast cancer amplification epicenter at 17q23. Nat Genet 2002;31:133-4.

397. Hirasawa A, Saito-Ohara F, Inoue J, et al. Association of 17q21-q24 gain in ovarian clear cell adenocarcinomas with poor prognosis and identification of PPM1D and APPBP2 as likely amplification targets. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9:1995-2004.

398. Saito-Ohara F, Imoto I, Inoue J, et al. PPM1D is a potential target for 17q gain in neuroblastoma. Cancer Res 2003;63:1876-83.

399. Yu W, Imoto I, Inoue J, Onda M, Emi M, Inazawa J. A novel amplification target, DUSP26, promotes anaplastic thyroid cancer cell growth by inhibiting p38 MAPK activity. Oncogene 2006;26:1178-87.

400. Cunningham SC, Gallmeier E, Hucl T, et al. Targeted deletion of MKK4 in cancer cells: A detrimental phenotype manifests as decreased experimental metastasis and suggests a counterweight to the evolution of tumor-suppressor loss. Cancer Res 2006;66:5560-4.

401. Johnson GL, Nakamura K. The c-jun kinase/stress-activated pathway: Regulation, function and role in human disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1773:1341-8.

402. Whitmarsh AJ, Davis RJ. Role of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 4 in cancer. Oncogene 2007;26:3172-84.

403. Nakayama K, Nakayama N, Davidson B, et al. Homozygous deletion of MKK4 in ovarian serous carcinoma. Cancer Biol Ther 2006;5:630-4.

404. Greenberg AK, Basu S, Hu J, et al. Selective p38 activation in human non-small cell lung cancer. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2002;26:558-64.

405. Elenitoba-Johnson KSJ, Jenson SD, Abbott RT, et al. Involvement of multiple signaling pathways in follicular lymphoma transformation: P38-mitogen-activated protein kinase as a target for therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:7259-64.

406. Esteva FJ, Sahin AA, Smith TL, et al. Prognostic significance of phosphorylated P38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and HER-2 expression in lymph node-positive breast carcinoma. Cancer 2004;100:499-506.

407. Pomerance M, Quillard J, Chantoux F, Young J, Blondeau JP. High-level expression, activation, and subcellular localization of p38-MAP kinase in thyroid neoplasms. J Pathol 2006;209:298-306.

408. Demuth T, Reavie LB, Rennert JL, et al. MAP-ing glioma invasion: Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 3 and p38 drive glioma invasion and progression and predict patient survival. Mol Cancer Ther 2007;6:1212-22.

409. Berrier AL, Yamada KM. Cell-matrix adhesion. J Cell Physiol 2007;213:565-73. 410. Geiger B, Bershadsky A, Pankov R, Yamada KM. Transmembrane extracellular matrixcytoskeleton crosstalk. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2:793-805.

411. Zaidel-Bar R, Itzkovitz S, Ma'ayan A, Iyengar R, Geiger B. Functional atlas of the integrin adhesome. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9:858-67.

412. Morgan MR, Humphries MJ, Bass MD. Synergistic control of cell adhesion by integrins and syndecans. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007;8:957-69.

413. Bono P, Rubin K, Higgins JMG, Hynes RO. Layilin, a novel integral membrane protein, is a hyaluronan receptor. Mol Biol Cell 2001;12:891-900.

414. Bear JE, Gertler FB. Ena/VASP: Towards resolving a pointed controversy at the barbed end. J Cell Sci 2009;122:1947-53.

415. Harburger DS, Calderwood DA. Integrin signalling at a glance. J Cell Sci 2009;122:159-63. 416. Block MR, Badowski C, Millon-Fremillon A, et al. Podosome-type adhesions and focal adhesions, so alike yet so different. Eur J Cell Biol 2008;87:491-506.

417. Abercrombie M, Dunn GA. Adhesions of fibroblasts to substratum during contact inhibition observed by interference reflection microscopy. Exp Cell Res 1975;92:57-62.

418. Turner CE, Kramarcy N, Sealock R, Burridge K. Localization of paxillin, a focal adhesion protein, to smooth muscle dense plaques, and the myotendinous and neuromuscular junctions of skeletal muscle. Exp Cell Res 1991;192:651-5.

419. Kano Y, Katoh K, Masuda M, Fujiwara K. Macromolecular composition of stress Fiber–
Plasma membrane attachment sites in endothelial cells in situ. Circ Res 1996;79:1000-6.
420. Fuchs E, Dowling J, Segre J, Lo SH, Yu Q. Integrators of epidermal growth and

differentiation: Distinct functions for $\beta 1$ and $\beta 4$ integrins. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1997;7:672-82. 421. Chen WT, Singer SJ. Immunoelectron microscopic studies of the sites of cell-substratum

and cell-cell contacts in cultured fibroblasts. J Cell Biol 1982;95:205-22.

422. Bershadsky AD, Tint IS, Neyfakh AA, Vasiliev JM. Focal contacts of normal and RSVtransformed quail cells : Hypothesis of the transformation-induced deficient maturation of focal contacts. Exp Cell Res 1985;158:433-44.

423. Geiger B, Spatz JP, Bershadsky AD. Environmental sensing through focal adhesions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10:21-33.

424. Tarone G, Cirillo D, Giancotti FG, Comoglio PM, Marchisio PC. Rous sarcoma virustransformed fibroblasts adhere primarily at discrete protrusions of the ventral membrane called podosomes. Exp Cell Res 1985;159:141-57.

425. Gimona M, Buccione R, Courtneidge SA, Linder S. Assembly and biological role of podosomes and invadopodia. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2008;20:235-41.

426. Grinnell F. Cellular adhesiveness and extracellular substrata. Internat Rev Cytology 1978;53:65-144.

427. Heaysman JE, Pegrum SM. Early cell contacts in culture. In: Bellairs R, Curtis A, Dunn G, editors. Cell Behaviour. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 1982. p. 49-76.

428. Grinnell F, Feld MK. Initial adhesion of human fibroblasts in serum-free medium: Possible role of secreted fibronectin

. Cell 1979;17(117):129.

429. Curtis AS, Forrester JV. The competitive effects of serum proteins on cell adhesion. J Cell Sci 1984;71:17-35.

430. Steele JG, Dalton BA, Johnson G, Underwoo PA. Polystyrene chemistry affects vitronectin activity: An explanation for cell attachment to tissue culture polystyrene but not to unmodified polystyrene. J Biomed Mater Res 1993;27:927-40.

431. Webb K, Hlady V, Tresco PA. Relative importance of surface wettability and charged functional groups on NIH 3T3 fibroblast attachment, spreading, and cytoskeletal organization. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;41:422-39.

432. Zimmerman E, Geiger B, Addadi L. Initial stages of cell-matrix adhesion can be mediated and modulated by cell-surface hyaluronan. Biophys J 2002;82(4):1848-57.

433. Rideout DC, Lambert M, Kendall DA, et al. Amphiphilic cationic peptides mediate cell adhesion to plastic surfaces. J Cell Physiol 1985;124:365-71.

434. Tanentzapf G, Martin-Bermudo MD, Hicks MS, Brown NH. Multiple factors contribute to integrin-talin interactions in vivo. J Cell Sci 2006;119:1632-44.

435. Smith S, McCann RO. A C-terminal dimerization motif is required for focal adhesion targeting of Talin1 and the interaction of the Talin1 I/LWEQ module with F-actin. Biochemistry 2007;46:10886-98.

436. Gingras AR, Bate N, Goult BT, et al. The structure of the C-terminal actin-binding domain of talin. EMBO J 2008;27:458-69.

437. Zhang X, Jiang G, Cai Y, Monkley SJ, Critchley DR, Sheetz MP. Talin depletion reveals independence of initial cell spreading from integrin activation and traction. Nat Cell Biol 2008;10:1062-8.

438. Mitra SK, Schlaepfer DD. Integrin-regulated FAK–Src signaling in normal and cancer cells. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006;18:516-23.

439. Hall A. Rho GTPases and the control of cell behaviour. Biochem Soc Trans 2005;33:891-5. 440. Huveneers S, Danen EHJ. Adhesion signaling - crosstalk between integrins, src and rho. J Cell Sci 2009;122:1059-69.

441. Arthur WT, Petch LA, Burridge K. Integrin engagement suppresses RhoA activity via a c-src-dependent mechanism. Curr Biol 2000;10:719-22.

442. Ren XD, Kiosses WB, Sieg DJ, Otey CA, Schlaepfer DD, Schwartz MA. Focal adhesion kinase suppresses rho activity to promote focal adhesion turnover. J Cell Sci 2000;113:3673-8. 443. Nobes CD, Hall A. Rho, rac, and Cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia. Cell 1995;81:53-62.

444. Rottner K, Hall A, Small JV. Interplay between rac and rho in the control of substrate contact dynamics. Curr Biol 1999;9:640-8.

445. Zaidel-Bar R, Ballestrem C, Kam Z, Geiger B. Early molecular events in the assembly of matrix adhesions at the leading edge of migrating cells. J Cell Sci 2003;116:4605-13.

446. Ridley AJ, Hall A. The small GTP-binding protein rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. Cell 1992;70:389-99.

447. Katoh K, Kano Y, Amano M, Kaibuchi K, Fujiwara K. Stress fiber organization regulated by MLCK and rho-kinase in cultured human fibroblasts. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2001;280:1669-79.

448. Alexandrova AY, Arnold K, Schaub S, et al. Comparative dynamics of retrograde actin flow and focal adhesions: Formation of nascent adhesions triggers transition from fast to slow flow. PLoS One 2008;3:e3234.

449. Choi CK, Vicente-Manzanares M, Zareno J, Whitmore LA, Mogilner A, Horwitz AR. Actin and α -actinin orchestrate the assembly and maturation of nascent adhesions in a myosin II motor-independent manner. Nat Cell Biol 2008;10:1039-50.

450. Zaidel-Bar R, Cohen M, Addadi L, Geiger B. Hierarchical assembly of cell-matrix adhesion complexes. Biochem Soc Trans 2004;32:416-20.

451. Zhong C, Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M, Brown J, Shaub A, Belkin AM, Burridge K. Rhomediated contractility exposes a cryptic site in fibronectin and induces fibronectin matrix assembly. J Cell Biol 1998;141:539-51.

452. Volberg T, Romer L, Zamir E, Geiger B. pp60c-src and related tyrosine kinases: A role in the assembly and reorganization of matrix adhesions. J Cell Sci 2001;114:2279-89.

453. Hall A. The cytoskeleton and cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2009;28:5-14.

454. Pawlak G, Helfman DM. MEK mediates v-src-induced disruption of the actin cytoskeleton via inactivation of the rho-ROCK-LIM kinase pathway. J Biol Chem 2002;277:26927-33.

455. Fincham VJ, Chudleigh A, Frame MC. Regulation of p190 rho-GAP by v-src is linked to cytoskeletal disruption during transformation. J Cell Sci 1999;112:947-56.

456. Fincham VJ, Frame MC. The catalytic activity of src is dispensable for translocation to focal adhesions but controls the turnover of these structures during cell motility. EMBO J 1998;17:81-92.

457. Giancotti FG, Ruoslahti E. Elevated levels of the α 5 β 1 fibronectin receptor suppress the transformed phenotype of chinese hamster ovary cells. Cell 1990;60:849-59.

458. Zutter MM, Santoro SA, Staatz WD, Tsung YL. Re-expression of the $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrin abrogates the malignant phenotype of breast carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:7411-5.

459. Rodriguez Fernandez JL, Geiger B, Salomon D, Sabanay I, Zoller M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Suppression of tumorigenicity in transformed cells after transfection with vinculin cDNA. J Cell Biol 1992;119:427-38.

460. Gluck U, Kwiatlowski D, Ben-Ze'ev A. Suppression of tumorigenicity in simian virus 40transformed 3T3 cells transfected with α -actinin cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:383-7.

461. Tanaka M, Mullauer L, Ogiso Y, et al. Gelsolin: A candidate for suppressor of human bladder cancer. Cancer Res 1995;55:3228-32.

462. Nikolopoulos SN, Spengler BA, Kisselbach K, Evans AE, Biedler JL, Ross RA. The human non-muscle α -actinin protein encoded by the ACTN4 gene suppresses tumorigenicity of human neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 2000;19:380-6.

463. Miyamoto S, Teramoto H, Gutkind JS, Yamada KM. Integrins can collaborate with growth factors for phosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinases and MAP kinase activation: Roles of integrin aggregation and occupancy of receptors. J Cell Biol 1996;135:1633-42.

464. Lin TH, Chen Q, Howe A, Juliano RL. Cell anchorage permits efficient signal transduction between ras and its downstream kinases. J Biol Chem 1997;272:8849-52.

465. Renshaw MW, Ren X, Schwartz MA. Growth factor activation of MAP kinase requires cell adhesion. EMBO J 1997;16:5592-9.

466. Moro L, Venturino M, Bozzo C, et al. Integrins induce activation of EGF receptor: Role in MAP kinase induction and adhesion-dependent cell survival. EMBO J 1998;17:6622-32.

467. Roovers K, Davey G, Zhu X, Bottazzi ME, Assoian RK. $\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrin controls cyclin D1 expression by sustaining mitogen-activated protein kinase activity in growth factor-treated cells. Mol Biol Cell 1999;10:3197-204.

468. Roovers K, Assoian RK. Effects of rho kinase and actin stress fibers on sustained extracellular signal-regulated kinase activity and activation of G1 phase cyclin-dependent kinases. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:4283-94.

469. Fang F, Orend G, Watanabe N, Hunter T, Ruoslahti E. Dependence of cyclin E-CDK2 kinase activity on cell anchorage. Science 1996;271:499-502.

470. Schulze A, Zerfass-Thome K, Berges J, Middendorp S, Jansen-Durr P, Henglein B. Anchorage-dependent transcription of the cyclin A gene. Mol Cell Biol 1996;16:4632-8. 471. Zhu X, Ohtsubo M, Bohmer RM, Roberts JM, Assoian RK. Adhesion-dependent cell cycle progression linked to the expression of cyclin D1, activation of cyclin E-cdk2, and phosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein. J Cell Biol 1996;133:391-403.

472. Assoian RK, Schwartz MA. Coordinate signaling by integrins and receptor tyrosine kinases in the regulation of G1 phase cell-cycle progression. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2001;11:48-53.

473. Mammoto A, Huang S, Moore K, Oh P, Ingber DE. Role of RhoA, mDia, and ROCK in cell shape-dependent control of the Skp2-p27kip1 pathway and the G1/S transition. J Biol Chem 2004;279:26323-30.

474. Auer KL, Park JS, Seth P, et al. Prolonged activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway promotes DNA synthesis in primary hepatocytes from p21(cip-WAF1)-null mice, but not in hepatocytes from p16(INK4a)-null mice. Biochem J 1998;336:551-60. 475. Adnane J, Bizouarn FA, Qian Y, Hamilton AD, Sebti SM. p21WAF1/CIP1 is upregulated by the geranylgeranyltransferase I inhibitor GGTI-298 through a transforming growth factor β -

and Sp1-responsive element: Involvement of the small GTPase RhoA. Mol Cell Biol 1998;18:6962-70.

476. Uhm JH, Dooley NP, Kyritsis AP, Rao JS, Gladson CL. Vitronectin, a glioma-derived extracellular matrix protein, protects tumor cells from apoptotic death. Clin Cancer Res 1999;5:1587-94.

477. Matter ML, Ruoslahti E. A signaling pathway from the α 5 β 1 and α v β 3 integrins that elevatesbcl-2 transcription. J Biol Chem 2001;276:27757-63.

478. Aoudjit F, Vuori K. Integrin signaling inhibits paclitaxel-induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells. Oncogene 2001;20:4995-5004.

479. Bao W, Stromblad S. Integrin αv-mediated inactivation of p53 controls a MEK1-dependent melanoma cell survival pathway in three-dimensional collagen. J Cell Biol 2004;167:745-56.

480. Simpson CD, Anyiwe K, Schimmer AD. Anoikis resistance and tumor metastasis. Cancer Lett 2008;272:177-85.

481. Mahmood Z, Shukla Y. Death receptors: Targets for cancer therapy. Exp Cell Res 2010;316:887-99.

482. Rytomaa M, Martins LM, Downward J. Involvement of FADD and caspase-8 signalling in detachment-induced apoptosis. Curr Biol 1999(18):1043-6.

483. Aoudjit F, Vuori K. Matrix attachment regulates FAS-induced apoptosis in endothelial cells. J Cell Biol 2001;152:633-44.

484. Mawji IA, Simpson CD, Hurren R, et al. Critical role for fas-associated death domain-like interleukin-1-converting enzyme-like inhibitory protein in anoikis resistance and distant tumor formation. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007;99:811-22.

485. Scaffidi C, Schmitz I, Krammer PH, Peter ME. The role of c-FLIP in modulation of CD95induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 1999;274:1541-8.

486. Adams JM, Cory S. The bcl-2 protein family: Arbiters of cell survival. Science 1998;281:1322-6.

487. Rosen K, Rak J, Leung T, Dean NM, Kerbel RS, Filmus J. Activated ras prevents downregulation of bcl-XL triggered by detachment from the extracellular matrix. J Cell Biol 2000;149:447-56.

488. Liu Z, Li H, Derouet M, et al. Oncogenic ras inhibits anoikis of intestinal epithelial cells by preventing the release of a mitochondrial pro-apoptotic protein Omi/HtrA2 into the cytoplasm. J Biol Chem 2006;281:14738-47.

489. Rosen K, Rak J, Jin J, Kerbel RS, Newman MJ, Filmus J. Downregulation of the proapoptotic protein bak is required for the ras-induced transformation of intestinal epithelial cells. Curr Biol 1998;8:1331-4.

490. Stupack DG, Puente XS, Boutsaboualoy S, Storgard CM, Cheresh DA. Apoptosis of adherent cells by recruitment of caspase-8 to unligated integrins. J Cell Biol 2001;155:459-70. 491. Lahti JM, Teitz T, Stupack DG. Does integrin-mediated cell death confer tissue tropism in metastasis? Cancer Res 2006;66:5981-4.

492. Gladson CL, Hancock S, Arnold MM, Faye-Petersen OM, Castleberry RP, Kelly DR. Stage-specific expression of integrin alphaVbeta3 in neuroblastic tumors. Am J Pathol 1996;148:1423-34.

493. Guerra C, Mijimolle N, Dhawahir A, et al. Tumor induction by an endogenous K-ras oncogene is highly dependent on cellular context. Cancer Cell 2003;4:111-20.

494. Ornatsky OI, Cox DM, Tangirala P, et al. Post-translational control of the MEF2A transcriptional regulatory protein. Nucleic Acids Res 1999;27:2646-54.

495. Yang S, Galanis A, Sharrocks AD. Targeting of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases to MEF2 transcription factors. Mol Cell Biol 1999;19(6):4028-38.

496. Zhao M, New L, Kravchenko VV, et al. Regulation of the MEF2 family of transcription factors by p38. Mol Cell Biol 1999;19:21-30.

497. Han J, Molkentin JD. Regulation of MEF2 by p38 MAPK and its implication in cardiomyocyte biology. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2000;10:19-22.

498. Penn BH, Bergstrom DA, Dilworth FJ, Bengal E, Tapscott SJ. A MyoD-generated feedforward circuit temporally patterns gene expression during skeletal muscle differentiation. Genes Dev 2004;18:2348-53.

499. Lluis F, Ballestar E, Suelves M, Esteller M, Munoz-Canoves P. E47 phosphorylation by p38 MAPK promotes MyoD/E47 association and muscle-specific gene transcription. EMBO J 2005;24:974-84.

500. Suelves M, Lluis F, Ruiz V, Nebreda AR, Munoz-Canoves P. Phosphorylation of MRF4 transactivation domain by p38 mediates repression of specific myogenic genes. EMBO J 2004;23:365-75.

501. Simone C, Forcales SV, Hill DA, Imbalzano AN, Latella L, Puri PL. p38 pathway targets SWI-SNF chromatin-remodeling complex to muscle-specific loci. Nat Genet 2004;36:738-43. 502. Engelman JA, Lisanti MP, Scherer PE. Specific inhibitors of p38 mitogen-activated protein

kinase block 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. J Biol Chem 1998;273:32111-20.

503. Brenner B, Koppenhoefer U, Weinstock C, Linderkamp O, Lang F, Gulbins E. Fas- or ceramide-induced apoptosis is mediated by a Rac1-regulated activation of jun N-terminal Kinase/p38 kinases and GADD153. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1997;272(35):22173-81.
504. Maytin EV, Ubeda M, Lin JC, Habener JF. Stress-inducible transcription factor CHOP/gadd153 induces apoptosis in mammalian cells via p38 kinase-dependent and -

independent mechanisms. Exp Cell Res 2001;267:193-204.

505. Matsumoto M, Kogawa M, Wada S, et al. Essential role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in cathepsin K gene expression during osteoclastogenesis through association of NFATc1 and PU.1. J Biol Chem 2004;279:45969-79.

506. Yang TTC, Xiong Q, Enslen H, Davis RJ, Chow C. Phosphorylation of NFATc4 by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:3892-904.

507. Mansky KC, Sankar U, Han J, Ostrowski MC. Microphthalmia transcription factor is a target of the p38 MAPK pathway in response to receptor activator of NF-*κ*B ligand signaling. J Biol Chem 2002;277:11077-83.

508. Sii-Felice K, Pouponnot C, Gillet S, et al. MafA transcription factor is phosphorylated by p38 MAP kinase. FEBS Lett 2005;579:3547-54.

509. Stassen M, Klein M, Becker M, et al. p38 MAP kinase drives the expression of mast cellderived IL-9 via activation of the transcription factor GATA-1. Mol Immunol 2007;44:926-33. 510. Williamson EA, Williamson IK, Chumakov AM, Friedman AD, Koeffler HP.

CCAAT/enhancer binding protein ε : Changes in function upon phosphorylation by p38 MAP kinase. Blood 2005;105:3841-7.

511. Puigserver P, Rhee J, Lin J, et al. Cytokine stimulation of energy expenditure through p38 MAP kinase activation of PPARγ coactivator-1. Mol Cell 2001;8:971-82.

512. Fan M, Rhee J, St-Pierre J, et al. Suppression of mitochondrial respiration through recruitment of p160 myb binding protein to PGC-1 α : Modulation by p38 MAPK. Genes Dev 2004;18:278-89.

513. Akimoto T, Pohnert SC, Li P, et al. Exercise stimulates pgc-1α transcription in skeletal muscle through activation of the p38 MAPK pathway. J Biol Chem 2005;280:19587-93. 514. Furukawa F, Matsuzaki K, Mori S, et al. p38 MAPK mediates fibrogenic signal through Smad3 phosphorylation in rat myofibroblasts. Hepatology 2003;38:879-89.

515. Wang FM, Hu T, Tan H, Zhou XD. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase affects transforming growth factor-beta/Smad signaling in human dental pulp cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2006;291:49-54.

516. Huang C, Ma W, Maxiner A, Sun Y, Dong Z. p38 kinase mediates UV-induced phosphorylation of p53 protein at serine 389. J Biol Chem 1999;274:12229-35.

517. Yee AS, Paulson EK, McDevitt MA, et al. The HBP1 transcriptional repressor and the p38 MAP kinase: Unlikely partners in G1 regulation and tumor suppression. Gene 2004;336:1-13.

518. Goh KC, Haque SJ, Williams BR. p38 MAP kinase is required for STAT1 serine phosphorylation and transcriptional activation induced by interferons. EMBO J 1999;18:5601-8. 519. Ramsauer K, Sadzak I, Porras A, et al. p38 MAPK enhances STAT1-dependent transcription independently of ser-727 phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A

2002;99:12859-64.

520. Tanos T, Marinissen MJ, Leskow FC, et al. Phosphorylation of c-fos by members of the p38 MAPK family. J Biol Chem 2005;280:18842-52.

521. del Arco PG, Martinez-Martinez S, Maldonado JL, Ortega-Perez I, Redondo JM. A role for the p38 MAP kinase pathway in the nuclear shuttling of NFATp. J Biol Chem 2000;275:13872-8.

522. Ouwens DM, de Ruiter ND, van der Zon, G. C., et al. Growth factors can activate ATF2 via a two-step mechanism: Phosphorylation of Thr71 through the ras-MEK-ERK pathway and of Thr69 through RalGDS-src-p38. EMBO J 2002;21:3782-93.

523. Shen YH, Zhang L, Gan Y, et al. Up-regulation of PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome ten) mediates p38 MAPK stress signal-induced inhibition of insulin signaling. J Biol Chem 2006;281:7727-36.

524. Thuerauf DJ, Arnold ND, Zechner D, et al. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase mediates the transcriptional induction of the atrial natriuretic factor gene through a serum response element. J Biol Chem 1998;273:20636-43.

525. Yang SH, Whitmarsh AJ, Davis RJ, Sharrocks AD. Differential targeting of MAP kinases to the ETS-domain transcription factor elk-1. EMBO J 1998;17:1740-9.

526. Bebien M, Salinas S, Becamel C, Richard V, Linares L, Hipskind RA. Immediate-early gene induction by the stresses anisomycin and arsenite in human osteosarcoma cells involves MAPK cascade signaling to elk-1, CREB and SRF. Oncogene 2003;22:1836-47.

527. Galibert MD, Carreira S, Goding CR. The usf-1 transcription factor is a novel target for the stress-responsive p38 kinase and mediates UV-induced tyrosinase expression. EMBO J 2001;20:5022-31.

528. Corre S, Primot A, Sviderskaya E, et al. UV-induced expression of key component of the tanning process, the POMC and MC1R genes, is dependent on the p-38-activated upstream stimulating factor-1 (USF-1). J Biol Chem 2004;279:51226-33.

Chapter 2:

Inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to promote loss of normal cellular adhesion

Lynne K. Waldman^{1,2}, Mark-Anthony Bray⁴, Anne E. Carpenter⁴, and Robert A. Weinberg^{1,2,3}

¹Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research, Cambridge, Massachusetts; ²Department of Biology and ³Ludwig Center for Molecular Oncology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, Massachusetts; and Imaging Platform, Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT, Cambridge, Massachusetts

Image analysis using CellProfiler was carried out with assistance from Mark-Anthony Bray and Anne Carpenter at the Broad Institute. All other experimentation was carried out by the thesis author, Lynne Waldman.

I. Abstract

Activating mutations in *RAS* oncogenes occur frequently in human cancers. However, in experimental settings, oncogenic *RAS* has most often been studied at supraphysiological levels of expression. To study the outcome of oncogenic Ras signaling in human cells at a more physiological level, we developed a system in which we could activate oncogenic Ras signaling to either low or high extents in normal human fibroblasts. A low level of oncogenic Ras signaling induced cellular hyperproliferation, whereas a high level of signaling induced cellular senescence. A growing body of literature links loss of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activity with the promotion of Ras-induced transformation in murine cells. Accordingly, we examined the effect of inhibiting p38 in normal human cells in which we also activated a low level of oncogenic Ras signaling. Interestingly, the inhibition of p38 cooperated with low activation of oncogenic Ras to alter the morphology and adhesive properties of cells. Our results suggest that the inhibition of p38 could predispose human cells to partial transformation by oncogenic Ras through alterations in cellular adhesion.

II. Introduction

Extensive research over the past three decades has yielded numerous insights into the role of oncogenic Ras in tumorigenesis (1-4). However, many of these studies have utilized experimental models in which oncogenic Ras was expressed to supraphysiological levels. Importantly, recent reports have shown that the level of oncogenic Ras signaling experienced by mammalian cells is crucial in determining their response to Ras signaling (5-7). These data

106

argue that expressing oncogenic Ras to high, supraphysiological extents fails to recapitulate the actions of endogenous oncogenic Ras in the development of human malignancies. Indeed, early in the course of multistep tumorigenesis, when cells contain relatively few genetic abnormalities, this oncoprotein is expressed at levels comparable to those of the normal Ras protein (1, 8, 9).

More specifically, overexpressing oncogenic Ras at a high level in normal mammalian cells induces a state of growth arrest termed senescence, in which cells remain metabolically active but cease to divide (10-14). In contrast, expressing oncogenic Ras in human and murine cells at lower, more physiological levels fails to induce senescence and instead stimulates the proliferation of these cells. Moreover, cells subjected to high and low dosages of oncogenic Ras signaling respond by differentially activating downstream signaling pathways according to their level of exposure to oncogenic Ras (5-7, 15).

The first direct Ras effector to be identified was the Raf serine/threonine kinase. Following its activation by Ras, Raf activates MEK, the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) kinase. MEK then in turn activates ERK1 and ERK2 (3). The Raf/MEK/ERK signaling cascade has been intensively studied in the context of neoplastic development and is now known to be a crucial player in the development of tumors initiated by oncogenic Ras (3, 16).

Currently, increasing attention is being focused on the p38 pathway, a second MAPK signaling pathway that appears to be involved in Ras-induced tumorigenesis. Four different isoforms of p38 (α , β , γ , and δ) have been identified in mammals (17). Although the p38 MAPK was first identified through its strong activation in response to cellular stresses (17), the loss of p38 α protein has recently been found to induce the hyperproliferation of several murine cell types (18, 19) and to collaborate with oncogenic Ras in the transformation of mouse embryonic

107

fibroblasts (MEFs) (20). Likewise, genetic ablation of PRAK, a kinase directly phosphorylated by p38, was found to cooperate with oncogenic Ras in the transformation of murine cells, and knockdown of PRAK could substitute for MDM2 in the transformation of human cells when using an E1A/MDM2/Ras transformation protocol (21).

In further support of the idea that p38 negatively regulates transformation-associated phenotypes driven by oncogenic Ras signaling, a p38α null background increased the number and size of tumors induced by oncogenic Ras in a mouse model of lung cancer (22). Similarly, knockout of the Wip1/PPM1D phosphatase and the resulting increased basal level of activated p38 reduced the tumorigenicity of MEFs transformed with H-Ras^{G12V} and E1A (23). In addition, activation of the p38 pathway was found to inhibit the Ras-induced increase in DNA synthesis within NIH3T3 cells and to inhibit DNA synthesis in Ras-dependent, but not Ras-independent, human bladder carcinoma cells (24).

Previous work had shown that human cells respond differently than murine cells to the actions of introduced oncogenes (11). Because very little work has been done to examine the outcomes of low oncogenic Ras signaling with respect to the transformation of normal human cells, we chose to investigate this matter. Furthermore, due to the accumulating evidence that p38 acts as a tumor suppressor by counteracting Ras-induced transformation, we hypothesized that the inhibition of p38 might cooperate with low oncogenic Ras signaling to partially transform cells. Here, we provide evidence that the inhibition of p38 cooperates with the low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to reduce the adhesion of normal human cells to their substratum. Our results suggest that p38 may provide tumor-suppressive functions in early human neoplasias that express physiological levels of oncogenic *RAS*.

108
III. Materials and methods

Plasmids and cell strains

A DNA fragment containing ER:H-Ras^{G12V} was subcloned from pBabe-Puro ER:H-Ras^{G12V} (25) into the pBabe-Hygro retroviral vector. Amphotropic retroviruses were generated by using Fugene 6 (Roche Applied Science) to transfect 293T cells with a viral vector and the packaging vectors pUMVC3, and pCMV-VSV. The viral vectors and constructs used are as follows: pBABE-Puro ER:H-Ras^{G12V}, pBabe-Hygro ER:H-Ras^{G12V}, and pBabe-Hygro empty vector. BJ fibroblasts were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection and described previously (26). BJ fibroblasts were infected for 6 hours with viral supernatants that were harvested at 48 and 72 hours post-transfection and that contained 6 µg/ml protamine sulfate. Cells were continuously selected with 100 µg/ml hygromycin (hygro) or 2 µg/ml puromycin (puro) as appropriate.

Cell culture and drug treatment

BJ fibroblasts were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DME) containing 10% inactivated fetal bovine serum (IFS), 100 units/ml penicillin, and 100 g/ml streptomycin. SB 203580 (Calbiochem) and BIRB 796 (Axon Medchem) were dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at a concentration of 50 mM. Cells were treated with 1 μ M 4-hydroxytamoxifen (4-OHT; Sigma-Aldrich) to activate ER:H-Ras^{G12V} or EtOH for the vehicle control. SB 203580 was added directly to culture media at final concentrations of 10 or 20 μ M. Since BIRB 796 is largely insoluble when directly diluted into culture media at a final concentration of 10 μ M, in order to treat cells with 10 μ M BIRB 796, we used a previously reported transfection-based

method for delivering an insoluble drug into cells (27). DMSO was transfected as a control. 4-OHT, SB 203580, BIRB 796, and the appropriate vehicle controls were each refreshed every 3 days during experiments. Unless specified, experiments were performed using plastic TCtreated culture dishes or multiple well plates (Corning). Untreated culture dishes (Corning) were used for experiments done under reduced adhesion conditions.

Western blot analysis

Protein expression was measured using standard Western blot techniques and with antibodies specific to H-Ras (sc-520; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), β-actin (sc-47778; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), phosphorylated ERK (#4396; Cell Signaling), ERK (#9102; Cell Signaling), phosphorylated Akt (#4051; Cell Signaling), Akt (#4691; Cell Signaling), phosphorylated p38 (#9211; Cell Signaling), p38 (#9212; Cell Signaling), phosphorylated MK2 (#3007; Cell Signaling), and MK2 (#3042; Cell Signaling). ImageJ software was used to quantify protein levels from Western blots (28).

Senescence-associated β -galactosidase (SA β -gal) assay

SA β -gal activity was detected as previously described (29).

UV treatment

Cells were treated with 200 J/m² UV light using a Stratalinker UV crosslinker (Stratagene). The culture media was removed from cells immediately prior to UV treatment and the same media was replaced immediately after UV treatment. Cells were incubated for 1 hr at 37 °C and then harvested for Western blotting.

Immunofluorescence

Cells were cultured in 12-well TC-treated culture plates (Corning) as described above. Cells were fixed for 10 minutes using 3.7% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Cells were stained for F-actin using fluorescently labeled Phalloidin (A12381; Cell Signaling) according to the manufacturer's instructions. When staining cells for both F-actin and paxillin, phalloidin staining was completed first. Following phalloidin staining, cells were re-permeabilized for 10 minutes using 0.5% Triton X and incubated for 1 hour with PBG, which contains 0.2% fish gelatin (G-7765; Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS. Focal adhesions were detected by incubating cells for 2 hours with a 1:100 dilution of anti-paxillin antibody (5H11; Millipore) followed by a 1 hour incubation in a 1:500 dilution of Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-mouse IgG (Invitrogen); both antibodies were diluted in PBG. Cells were incubated for 30 minutes in 1% BSA in PBS containing 1 µg/ml 4'6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; Invitrogen) to visualize cell nuclei and a 1:40 dilution of the phalloidin stock to strengthen actin signal. The number of focal adhesions per cell were quantified by eye.

Cell morphology analysis using CellProfiler

Open-source CellProfiler software (www.cellprofiler.org) was used to identify the nuclei and edges of cells present in microscopy images; cells had been fluorescently labeled using DAPI to visualize nuclei and phalloidin to visualize actin cytoskeletons. Automated algorithms identified each cell's nucleus and edge. For each outlined cell, we then obtained quantitative measurements of cell size and shape. More detailed information is available in the supplementary information.

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) unless otherwise indicated. Student's t test was used for comparisons.

IV. Results

Dose-dependent effects of oncogenic Ras signaling on cellular proliferation

We first developed a system in which we could make normal human cells hyperproliferate when exposed to oncogenic Ras signaling. To this end, we developed a means of activating oncogenic Ras signaling to either a low or high extent in BJ cells, a strain of normal human dermal fibroblasts. Moreover, in order to investigate the initial responses of BJ fibroblasts to the activation of either low or high levels of oncogenic Ras signaling, we exploited the 4-hydroxytamoxifen (4-OHT)-inducible ER:H-Ras^{G12V} construct, in which a modified form of the estrogen receptor ligand-binding domain is fused to the N-terminus of oncogenic H-Ras (25, 30). As previously shown, oncogenic Ras signaling is activated within 10 minutes of the addition of 4-OHT to culture media, and this activation reaches a maximum 24 to 48 hours after addition of 4-OHT (25, 31).

We generated stable populations of BJ fibroblasts in which oncogenic Ras signaling could be activated at a high level by infecting BJ fibroblasts with the pBabe-Puro ER:H-Ras^{G12V} retroviral expression construct. At the same time, we generated stable populations of BJ fibroblasts in which oncogenic Ras signaling could be activated at a low level by infecting BJ fibroblasts with the pBabe-Hygro ER:H-Ras^{G12V} retroviral expression construct. Previous work had shown that the pBabe-Puro and pBabe-Hygro retroviral expression constructs produce

higher and lower amounts of the desired gene product, respectively, making their use ideal for the purposes of this study (32).

In the absence of 4-OHT, minimal amounts of the ER:Ras^{G12V} fusion protein were detected in BJ fibroblasts expressing either pBabe-Hygro ER:Ras^{G12V} (Low ER:Ras) or pBabe-Puro ER:Ras^{G12V} (High ER:Ras) fusion proteins (Fig. 1A), echoing previous results that described the use of the pBabe-Puro ER:Ras^{G12V} construct (25). However, addition of 4-OHT to both Low ER:Ras and High ER:Ras BJ fibroblasts induced the accumulation of the ER:Ras fusion protein to low and high levels, respectively. Once accumulation of ER:Ras protein reached a maximum at 24 hours, the High ER:Ras cells contained 4.5-fold more ER:Ras protein than did the Low ER:Ras cells (Fig. 1A and data not shown).

These levels of activated oncogenic Ras signaling caused, in turn, differential activation of signaling pathways downstream of Ras. For example, as gauged by the phosphorylation status of ERK, both low and high oncogenic Ras signaling activated this kinase following addition of 4-OHT. Importantly, the level of ER:Ras dictated the extent of ERK activation (Fig. 1A). Interestingly, Akt, which is activated by Ras through the PI3K pathway (1), was induced in a non-linear manner as determined by comparing the levels of phosphorylated Akt to the levels of ER:Ras and phosphorylated ERK. Akt was robustly activated by a high level of oncogenic Ras signaling, whereas it was barely activated by low oncogenic Ras signaling (Fig. 1A). These results demonstrate that high and low levels of oncogenic Ras signaling result in the differential activation of signaling pathways downstream of Ras, an observation that is consistent with previous reports (6, 7, 15).

When propagated through repeated serial passages in subconfluent, monolayer cultures and in the presence of 10% serum, Low ER:Ras cells treated with 4-OHT hyperproliferated in

comparison to vehicle control-treated Low ER:Ras cells, generating 13 times more cells over the course of 15 days (Fig. 1B and C). Furthermore, we found that the level of ER:Ras^{G12V} expressed in 4-OHT-treated Low ER:Ras cells was maintained over the prolonged period of culturing these cells (Fig. 1D). This indicated that cells expressing a low level of oncogenic Ras signaling were not counterselected and was consistent with our observation that low oncogenic Ras signaling promoted cell proliferation.

In stark contrast, High ER:Ras cells underwent growth arrest beginning at 8 days of 4-OHT treatment (Fig. 1B and C), with the great majority of cells staining positively for senescence-associated β -galactosidase (SA β -gal) activity (Fig. 1E and F). These data indicated that the cells had entered into a state of senescence in response to a high level of oncogenic Ras signaling. Taken together, the preceding series of experiments demonstrated that by overexpressing ER:Ras to a low extent in BJ fibroblasts we were able to develop a human cell system in which oncogenic Ras induced hyperproliferation rather than senescence, a result that functionally mimics the outcome of expressing oncogenic Ras from the endogenous locus in murine fibroblasts (5, 6).

Unexpectedly, like 4-OHT-treated Low ER:Ras cells, control High ER:Ras cells, which were not exposed to 4-OHT, exhibited hyperproliferation in comparison to control Low ER:Ras cells, which were also not exposed to 4-OHT. This suggested that the ER:Ras system manifests some leakiness, in that there appeared to be a basal level of oncogenic Ras signaling even in the absence of 4-OHT-mediated activation. Indeed, untreated High ER:Ras cells exhibited a higher level of ER:Ras protein and an elevated level of ERK activation in comparison to untreated Low ER:Ras cells (Fig. 1A). More importantly, Low ER:Ras cells that were not treated with 4-OHT proliferated at a rate similar to cells infected with empty vector (Fig. 1G). This latter result

indicated that Low ER:Ras cells not treated with 4-OHT behave like cells that lack the ectopically expressed ER:Ras protein.

p38 inhibition cooperates with oncogenic Ras signaling to affect cellular morphology

Having developed an inducible system in which we could stimulate human cells to undergo Ras-induced hyperproliferation, we next asked whether loss of p38 signaling could cooperate with low oncogenic Ras signaling to promote transformation-related phenotypes. We pursued this line of work, since loss of p38 function in murine cells had been found to promote Ras-induced transformation and tumorigenesis (20-24).

In order to inhibit p38, we used the chemical inhibitors BIRB 796 and SB 203580 to continuously inhibit p38 activity in the 4-OHT-treated Low ER:Ras cells. Importantly, BIRB 796 and SB 203580 are both potent inhibitors of p38 α and β , but have different chemical structures, bind to the p38 protein at different sites, and exhibit distinct off-target effects (33). By allowing us to exclude many confounding off-target effects, the use of these two drug inhibitors was ideal for delineating effects specific to the inhibition of p38.

We assessed p38 α and β function by monitoring the phosphorylation state of one of their direct substrates, MK2. MK2 is directly phosphorylated in response to UV light exposure in a p38-dependent manner (34). We observed that MK2 was robustly phosphorylated when BJ fibroblasts were exposed to UV light, but that no phosphorylated MK2 was detectable when these cells were first pretreated with either BIRB 796 or SB 203580, indicating that these drugs efficiently inhibit p38 signaling (Fig. 2A).

In addition, we found that BIRB 796, but not SB 203580, inhibited the phosphorylation of p38 itself (Fig. 2A). This result most likely stems from the different mechanisms of p38

inhibition exhibited by these two drugs. The binding of BIRB 796 causes p38 to undergo a large conformational change, preventing p38 from interacting with its upstream kinases (35). In contrast, SB 203580 is a competitive inhibitor of p38 that impedes p38's phosphorylation of downstream targets without perturbing its interaction with upstream kinases (36).

We next asked whether suppressing p38 activity would enhance the proliferation of Low ER:Ras human BJ fibroblasts treated with 4-OHT because of observations recently reported by others who had used murine cell systems (18-20). More specifically, others have shown that p38 α -null MEFs infected with a vector specifying oncogenic Ras proliferate faster than corresponding wild-type cells infected with oncogenic Ras (20). Also, multiple p38 α -null murine cell types have been shown to proliferate faster than their wild-type counterparts (18, 19).

Unexpectedly, subconfluent Low ER:Ras BJ fibroblasts treated with 4-OHT failed to proliferate more rapidly when exposed to either BIRB 796 or SB 203580 (Fig. 2B and C). Given that BIRB 796 and SB 203580 are both effective inhibitors of p38α, the failure of these inhibitors to enhance the proliferation of Low ER:Ras cells treated with 4-OHT most likely reflects differences in the experimental cell systems used. Whereas we used normal human fibroblasts that possess a limited lifespan in culture, immortalized MEFs were used in the experiments showing that a p38-null background enhances the proliferation of cells containing oncogenic Ras (20).

We did, however, note a distinctive effect of inhibiting p38 signaling in 4-OHT-treated Low ER:Ras cells: cells in which both oncogenic Ras signaling was activated and p38 was inhibited were far more refractile and appeared to be less spread out on their substratum than Low ER:Ras cells treated with 4-OHT alone (Fig. 2D and E). Taken together, these observations indicated that while p38 function had no observable effect on Ras-induced cell proliferation,

inhibition of p38 cooperated with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to alter the way in which cells adhere to their substratum.

p38 inhibition and oncogenic Ras signaling affect cell spreading and cell shape

When cells in suspension first attach to a substratum, they retain their spherical shape, display a refractile appearance, and are weakly bound to the substratum. Soon after their initial attachment, however, cells begin extending cytoplasmic protrusions and form strong associations with their substratum known as focal adhesions, enabling them to spread outward and become flattened in shape (37, 38). Importantly, the inhibition of molecules that are crucial to the process of cell spreading, such as Rac and Cdc42, does not prevent the attachment of cells to their substratum but instead causes these attached cells to remain spherical and refractile (39). Accordingly, we hypothesized that the inhibition of p38 signaling in combination with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling specifically affects cell adhesion by impeding the process of cell spreading.

To assess whether the inhibition of p38 cooperates with the activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to hinder cell spreading, we used image analysis software (40) to quantify the observed changes in cell size and shape (Fig. 3). We found that the activation of low oncogenic Ras signaling significantly decreased the two-dimensional area covered by cells (Fig. 3B and C). Moreover, inhibition of p38 cooperated with Ras signaling to further decrease the area covered by cells, in spite of the fact that inhibiting p38 alone failed to affect cell area or perimeter length.

In addition, low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling and inhibition of p38 had opposite effects on the convexity or roundness of cells (Fig. 3D). Inhibition of p38 alone caused cells to develop more concave areas at their edges. However, low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling

slightly increased the convexity of cells and prevented cells treated with SB 203580 from exhibiting an increase in concavity (Fig 3D).

Similarly, low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling and inhibition of p38 had opposite effects on cell length. The inhibition of p38 caused the elongation of cells in both the presence and absence of oncogenic Ras signaling. In contrast, the activation of Ras signaling slightly decreased the length-to-width ratio of cells relative to that of control cells (Fig. 3E).

These measurements of cell morphology collectively indicated that low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling causes changes in cell shape that are distinct from the changes caused by inhibiting p38. However, the present results also demonstrated that, when acting together, the inhibition of p38 complements the activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to alter the twodimensional shape of cells, indicating that the perturbations of these signaling pathways cooperate to impede the normal spreading of cells.

The distinct effects on cell shape caused by inhibiting p38 and activating Ras signaling were most likely due to p38 and Ras impinging upon signaling events that modulate cell-matrix adhesion. Nonetheless, we did not observe an increase in the level of phosphorylated p38 α – the activated form of this kinase – when we activated oncogenic Ras signaling in our Low ER:Ras cells (Supplementary Fig. S1), agreeing with a previous report published by others that focused upon the dose-dependent activation of p38 by Ras (15). Because low oncogenic Ras signaling was not found to activate p38, we concluded that Ras and p38 both operate in pathways that regulate cell-matrix adhesion but that p38 is not downstream of Ras.

The inhibition of p38 and the activation of Ras work in concert to reduce cell adhesion

Because the inhibition of p38 cooperates with the low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to alter the spreading of cells, we further investigated changes in cell adhesion, including the first step of cell adhesion, cell attachment. Activation of low oncogenic Ras signaling slightly hampered the attachment of suspended cells to tissue culture-treated plastic at two, but not 12, hours post-plating. In contrast, chemically inhibiting p38 did not affect the attachment of cells at either two hours or 12 hours post-plating and did not cooperate with Ras signaling to affect cell attachment. By 12 hours post-plating, we observed that the cells of all populations were attached to the plastic substratum to similar extents (Fig. 4A and B). These results indicate that although low activation of oncogenic Ras has a modest affect on the kinetics of cell attachment to a substratum, the inactivation of p38 fails to affect the initial attachment of cells to their substratum.

We then examined the second step of cell adhesion, post-attachment cell spreading, at 12 hours post-plating. We found that inhibiting p38 cooperated with activating oncogenic Ras signaling to hinder the spreading of cells on their substratum (Fig. 4C and D). At 12 hours post-plating, cells treated dually with 4-OHT and either BIRB 796 or SB 203580 remained more spherical and refractile than cells in which only one signaling pathway was perturbed or neither signaling pathway was perturbed. Hence, inhibition of p38 appears to cooperate with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling in constraining the ability of a cell to extend cytoplasmic processes and/or to make focal adhesions with the substratum, both processes being crucial in the spreading of cells.

Given our observation that the p38 and Ras pathways both affect cell spreading, but not the initial cell attachment step of cell adhesion, we wondered whether providing our cell

populations with an alternative substratum would reveal differences in their ability to attach. In fact, the previously described assays were performed using tissue culture-treated dishes whose polystyrene surfaces had been modified using a manufacturing process that caused them to become hydrophilic. Because this hydrophilic treatment promotes cell attachment, we examined the ability of Ras and p38 to affect cell attachment by performing an assay using untreated polystyrene culture dishes.

We found that, as before, cells could attach to untreated plastic if oncogenic Ras were activated alone or if p38 were inhibited alone. However, the attachment of cells to untreated plastic was greatly impaired if both oncogenic Ras signaling were activated and p38 were inhibited. Such cells preferentially formed suspended cellular aggregates rather than contacts with the untreated substratum (Fig. 4E and F). Consequently, when taken together, our measurements of cell adhesion indicate that there exist substratum conditions in which the inhibition of p38 cooperates with the low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to hinder both the initial cell attachment and subsequent cell spreading processes of cell adhesion.

Because reduced cell adhesion has long been associated with cells that are tumorigenic (41, 42), we next asked whether the inhibition of p38 in combination with the low activation of oncogenic Ras could transform cells. One standard characteristic of transformed cells is their inability to undergo contact inhibition upon reaching high densities (43). Accordingly, we tested whether inhibiting p38 and activating Ras signaling in our Low ER:Ras cells would prevent cells from undergoing contact inhibition upon continuous culture.

While the inhibition of p38 and the low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling each served to increase the density of cells at confluence, as expected from previously reported murine studies (6, 44), perturbing neither signaling pathway on its own enabled cells to

overcome contact inhibition (Supplementary Fig. S2 and data not shown). Furthermore, the inhibition of p38 in combination with low activation of Ras signaling was not sufficient to overcome contact inhibition even after three weeks of continuous culture (Supplementary Fig. S2). These results indicate that although the inhibition of p38 cooperates with the low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to change the adhesive nature of cells, these perturbations alone are not sufficient to fully transform cells as gauged by their ability to become contact inhibited in monolayer culture.

Inhibition of p38 and activation of oncogenic Ras reduce focal adhesion formation

An intimate and dynamic interplay between the binding of transmembrane integrins to the extracellular matrix and the organization of a cell's actin cytoskeleton is fundamental to the formation of focal adhesions (45). Although cells can begin to extend lamellipodia along a substratum when they are deficient in the ability to form focal adhesions, the formation of focal adhesions is crucial for the continued advancement of lamellipodia and sustained cell spreading. Consequently, focal adhesion formation is crucial for cells to exhibit their normal, spread morphology after attaching to their substratum (46, 47).

Because we had found that the inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to alter cell morphology and impede cell spreading, we hypothesized that the Ras and p38 pathways affect the formation of focal adhesions. For this reason, we determined whether the inhibition of p38 acts in concert with the low activation of Ras signaling to reduce the number of focal adhesions formed by a cell with the underlying substrate.

We found that low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling and inhibition of p38 each reduced the number of focal adhesions per cell (Fig 5A and B). The activation of low Ras

signaling resulted in a 63% decrease in the number of detectable focal adhesions. Similarly, inhibiting p38 using 10 and 20 μ M concentrations of SB 203580 caused 78% and 86% decreases, respectively, in the number of focal adhesions detected per cell.

Interestingly, when both Ras signaling was activated and p38 was inhibited, we observed a further decrease in the number of focal adhesions per cell (Fig. 5A and 5B). Treatment of cells with both 4-OHT and 10 μ M SB 203580 resulted in a 91% decrease in the number of focal adhesions visible per cell. Displaying a dose-dependent response to SB 203580, cells treated with both 4-OHT and 20 μ M SB 203580 exhibited a 94% decrease in the number of focal adhesions per cell (Fig. 5B). These results indicate that low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling and inhibition of p38 signaling work together to impede the formation of strong cellular bonds to the substratum by having additive effects on reducing the number of focal adhesions present per cell.

V. Discussion

An interesting hypothesis emerges upon placing our findings in the context of the current understanding of Ras, p38, and cell adhesion: inhibition of the p38 pathway may create an intracellular state in human cells that predisposes them to partial transformation by oncogenic Ras. In contrast to previous studies in which oncogenic Ras was overexpressed to very high extents, we have more closely approximated the physiological levels of oncogenic Ras signaling that are present in human neoplasias by activating this signaling pathway to a low extent. As a result, our experimental system enabled us to study how oncogenic Ras might cooperate with additional genetic alterations in precancerous lesions.

In fact, the aberrant activation of Ras signaling via point mutation often occurs during the early stages of many human cancers at a time when these precancerous lesions are thought to lack many additional genetic alterations. For example, *NRAS* mutations are already present in the early radial growth phase of many melanomas and persist throughout disease progression to the metastatic stage (48). Likewise, the occurrence of oncogenic mutations in *KRAS* is considered to be an important early event in the development of pancreatic cancer. Mutations in *KRAS* are found in approximately 45 percent of papillary pancreatic duct lesions without atypia and undergo positive selection during disease development (49). In addition, the oncogenic mutation of *KRAS* is an important early event that drives the development of colorectal cancer. *KRAS* mutations occur in benign adenomatous polyps that already harbor mutations in the *APC* tumor suppressor gene and precipitate the development of malignant colon carcinomas from these precursor polyps (50-52). Similar patterns of early oncogenic mutation in *KRAS* have also been reported to occur during the development of ovarian (53), ampullary (54), and lung neoplasms (55).

These and other data strongly support the idea that Ras plays a crucial role early in the development of human cancers. However, much research has also demonstrated that in order for benign lesions to progress toward full-blown malignancy, they must harbor mutations in multiple oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes (56). Thus, oncogenic mutation of Ras alone is not sufficient for tumorigenesis. We suspect that the loss of p38 activity may be one of these additional genetic events that promote the transformation and neoplastic development of cells by Ras.

Indeed, evidence exists for the loss of p38 function in human cancers. The negative regulators of p38 signaling, Wip1/PPM1D and DUSP26/MKP8, have been found to be elevated

in various human tumor samples and cancer cell lines (57-61). Although the possibility of additional targets cannot be excluded, both Wip1 and DUSP26 specifically dephosphorylate and inactivate the p38 MAPK and not the ERK or JNK MAPKs, indicating that p38 is the target of their phosphatase activity (61-63). In addition, levels of Gstm1 and 2, which negatively regulate p38 activity by inhibiting ASK1, a kinase upstream of p38 activation, are increased in several human cancer cell lines (20).

Similarly, MKK4, a kinase capable of directly activating p38 (64), is frequently deleted or mutated in a wide variety of human cancers and evidence gathered from model systems indicates that MKK4 is a tumor suppressor gene (65, 66). Furthermore, the sequencing of protein kinase genes in over 200 human cancers identified somatic mutations in p38 α within several tumors. While the effects of these mutations on the biochemical functions of p38 α remain to be explored, statistical analysis of these mutations indicated that they are likely to be driver mutations that positively affect tumor growth and development (67).

Observations gathered using mouse model systems also indicate that the loss of p38 activity predisposes cells to tumor development by oncogenic Ras. For example, a p38α null background in adult mice was found to promote the development and growth of lung tumors initiated by the expression of endogenous levels of oncogenic K-Ras (22). Likewise, Wip1 null MEFs, which contain high basal levels of p38 activity, exhibit decreased tumorigenicity when transformed with H-Ras^{G12V} and E1A (23). In addition, the liver-specific deletion of p38α increased the burden of hepatocellular carcinomas in mice treated with diethylnitrosamine (DEN) (18). This observation is of interest to us, since oncogenic mutations in H-Ras have been reported to occur in 41 percent of liver tumors induced by DEN (68), indicating that loss of p38α may cooperate with aberrant Ras signaling in this liver cancer model.

The present observations indicate that inhibition of the p38 MAPK pathway cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to cause significant changes in the adhesive behavior of cells, an alteration germane to the process of cell transformation. Altered cell-matrix interactions have long been known to be capable of promoting transformation and tumorigenesis. Although the mechanisms by which cancer cells usurp control of cell adhesion processes and manipulate these programs for their own benefit is undoubtedly complex and incompletely understood, it is clear that modification of cell-matrix adhesions plays a central role in cancer progression (69-75).

In the situation of a developing neoplasia, uncontrolled cell proliferation, inappropriate cell survival, increased motility, and increased invasiveness are important properties of tumor cells. These properties are acquired, at least in part, by changing the way in which cells interact with the extracellular matrix (56, 76, 77). Through various mechanisms, transformed cells commonly circumvent the apoptotic and growth arrest programs that normally prevent the survival and proliferation of cells when lacking proper cell-matrix adhesions. In other words, these transformed cells become anchorage-independent. (78, 79). Importantly, not only are these anchorage-independent cells liberated from their dependence upon cell-matrix proliferation and survival signals, they experience greater autonomy when migrating, which promotes their invasion into the surrounding normal tissue (79). As a result, acquisition of the anchorage-independent phenotype creates a solid foundation for tumor development.

Given the increasing support for p38 as a tumor suppressor gene, we propose that inhibition of the p38 pathway can predispose cells to Ras-dependent neoplastic development, in part though effects on cell adhesion. Further work in human cell systems investigating the

cooperation between low activation of oncogenic Ras and the inhibition of p38 should provide insights into the details of how suppressing p38 complements low levels of oncogenic Ras.

VII. Acknowledgements

We thank S. Valastyan and M. Saelzler for critical reading of this manuscript and F. Solomon, T. Jacks, C. Reinhardt, and members of the Weinberg laboratory for helpful discussions. We also thank C. Counter, T. Shibue, W. Guo, and P. Rai for reagents and J. Donaher, E. Eaton, and M. Brooks for technical advice.

VII. Figures



Figure 1. Low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling enhances cellular proliferation and fails to induce senescence. **A.** BJ fibroblasts were infected with pBabe-Hygro ER:Ras^{G12V} (Low ER:Ras) and pBabe-Puro ER:Ras^{G12V} (High ER:Ras) constructs which express inducible oncogenic Ras to low or high extents, respectively. Cells were serum starved for 16 hr and then incubated for the indicated times with the vehicle control (EtOH) or 4-OHT to activate ER:H-Ras^{G12V}. ER:H-Ras^{G12V}, endogenous H-Ras, phosphorylated ERK (p-ERK), total ERK, phosphorylated Akt (p-Akt), and total Akt were detected by Western blotting. **B.** Proliferation of Low ER:Ras and High ER:Ras cells in the presence and absence of 4-OHT. Cells were seeded at a density of 5200 cells/cm² and passaged every three days, preventing them from reaching confluence. Treatment with 4-OHT or EtOH began on day 1. Each data point depicts the mean fold increase in the number of cells ± the SEM. The mean and SEM were determined from counting the cells of triplicate culture dishes. **C.** Fold increase in the total number of cells accumulated at day 15 versus the number of cells plated at day 0. Fold increase for each cell population was normalized to the fold increase in cell number experienced by High ER:Ras cells

treated with 4-OHT. **D**. Western blot analysis for $ER:H-Ras^{G12V}$, endogenous H-Ras, and actin in Low ER:Ras cells at day 2 and day 17. Treatment with EtOH and 4-OHT began on day 1. **E**. Cells were stained for SA β -gal activity at day 15 and visualized at 20X magnification. **F**. The percentage of cells staining positively for SA β -gal activity were quantified. At least 120 cells from each of 3 culture dishes were scored for each cell population. Error bars represent the SEM for each data set. **G**. Proliferation of vector control-infected cells in the presence and absence of 4-OHT in comparison to EtOH and 4-OHT-treated Low ER:Ras cells and EtOH-treated High ER:Ras cells. Growth curve analysis was performed as above.



Figure 2. The continuous inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to increase the refractiveness of cells. **A**. Low ER:Ras cells were pre-treated for 2 hours with BIRB 796, SB 203580, or the vehicle control (DMSO) as indicated. Cells were then exposed to UV light to activate p38 signaling. Phosphorylated MK2 (p-MK2), total MK2, phosphorylated p38 (p-p38), total p38, and actin were detected by Western blotting. **B**. Proliferation of EtOH and 4-OHT-treated Low ER:Ras cells in the presence or absence of BIRB 796. **C**. Proliferation of EtOH and 4-OHT-treated Low ER:Ras cells in the presence or absence of SB 203580. Growth curve analysis was performed as described in Figure 1B. **D**. Morphology of Low ER:Ras cells after 3 days of treatment with 4-OHT or EtOH (vehicle control) and BIRB 796 or DMSO (vehicle control). **E**. Morphology of Low ER:Ras cells after 3 days of treatment with 4-OHT or EtOH and SB 203580 or DMSO.



Figure 3. Morphological changes induced by inhibition of p38 and low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling. Low ER:Ras cells were plated at a density of 5200 cells/cm² and treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and SB 203580 or DMSO 1 day after plating. After an additional 2 days, cells from each population were trypsinized and replated. Cells of each population were also treated with the appropriate drugs. Cells were fixed and stained for actin (red) and nuclei (blue) at 24 hrs post-plating. **A.** Photographs of cells (10X magnification) and outlines of cell peripheries and nuclei delineated by the image analysis program CellProfiler. **B.** Histogram showing the two-dimensional areas of cells in each population as measured by CellProfiler. **D.** Histogram showing the percentages of solidity measured by CellProfiler for cells in each population. A higher percent solidity indicates a more convex cell. **E.** Bar graph showing the fraction of long cells (length is >4X width) in each cell population. Measurements of cell length and width were determined using CellProfiler. **265** cells were analyzed per population to generate graphs in this figure.



Figure 4. The inhibition of p38 cooperates with low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling to reduce cell adhesion. A. Quantification of cell adhesion for Low ER:Ras cells treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and 10 μ M BIRB 796 or DMSO. Cells were plated on tissue culture-treated plastic at a density of 5200 cells/cm² and treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and BIRB 796 or DMSO 1 day after plating. After 2 additional days, cells of each population were trypsinized and replated in triplicate. Each cell population was also treated with the appropriate drugs. The number of adherent cells was then determined at 2 and 12 hrs post plating for each cell population. Error bars represent the SEM for each data set. B. Quantification of cell adhesion for Low ER:Ras cells treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and 10 μ M SB 203580 or DMSO. The experiment was performed as described for part A. C and D. Photographs of cells described in parts A and B, respectively, at 12 hrs post-plating (10X magnification). Arrows indicate examples of cells that had not begun to spread upon the substratum. E. Adhesion of cells treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and 10 µM BIRB 796 or DMSO to cell culture plates not treated for cell attachment. Cells were plated on treated cell culture dishes at a density of 5200 cells/cm^2 and treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and BIRB 796 or DMSO 1 day after plating. After an additional 2 days, cells of each population were trypsinized and replated in triplicate on untreated cell culture dishes. Each cell population was also treated with the appropriate drugs. Photographs of cells were taken after 3 days of growth on untreated culture plates (10X magnification). F. Adhesion of cells treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and 10 µM SB 203580 or DMSO to cell culture plates not treated for cell attachment. The experiment was performed as described in part E.



Figure 5. Inhibition of p38 acts in concert with low activation of Ras signaling to reduce the number of focal adhesions. Low ER:Ras cells were plated on tissue culture-treated plastic at a density of 5200 cells/cm² and treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and SB 203580 or DMSO 1 day after plating. After an additional 2 days, cells of each population were trypsinized and replated. Each cell population was also treated with the appropriate drugs. Cells were fixed and stained for the focal adhesion-associated protein paxillin (80), (green), actin (red), and nuclei (blue) at 24 hrs post-plating. A. Photographs of cells (20X magnification). **B.** The average number of focal adhesions per cell. n = 20 cells per population.

VIII. Supplementary information

Cell morphology analysis using CellProfiler

The image analysis pipeline used to measure cell morphology was created with CellProfiler version 1.0.5811, which can be downloaded under the "Download CellProfiler" tab at www.cellprofiler.org along with the software's instruction manual.

Briefly, the image analysis pipeline operated as follows: Module 1 loaded the images. Modules 2 to 4 performed pre-processing and the identification of nuclei and cell edges. Modules 5 to 12 identified and removed cells (plus their associated nuclei) that touched the image edge to insure accurate measurements of morphology. Modules 13 and 14 performed quantitative measurements. Modules 15 to 19 produced output images and spreadsheets of data. Each module is detailed below:

- 1. *LoadImages*: On the basis of filename, loaded both the microscopy image that displayed cell nuclei and the corresponding image that displayed actin cytoskeletons.
- 2. SmoothOrEnhance: Top-hat filtered the image of nuclei to reduce background staining.
- 3. IdentifyPrimAutomatic: Identified all nuclei from the filtered image of nuclei.
- 4. *IdentifySecondary*: Identified cell edges by using both the image of actin cytoskeletons and the nuclei identified by the previous module.
- 5. ConvertToImage: Converted the identified nuclei and cell edges to an image of the cells.
- 6. *Crop*: Created a new image, identical to that in module 5, but with image border pixels set to 0.

- 7. *ImageMath*: Subtracted the image created by module 6 from the image created by module 5 in order to obtain an image in which only pixels from cells that touch the image border appear.
- 8. *MeasureObjectIntensity*: Measured the intensity of each cell found in the image that was produced by module 7.
- 9. *FilterByObjectMeasurement*: Removed cells in which the measured intensity is non-zero, i.e., the cells that touch the image border.
- 10. *ConvertToImage*: Converted the remaining cells, which are those cells entirely contained within the borders of the image, to an image of the cells.
- 11. *MeasureObjectIntensity*: Measured the intensity of each nucleus within the image produced by module 10.
- 12. *FilterByObjectMeasurement*: Removed nuclei in which the measured intensity is zero, i.e., those nuclei belonging to a cell that was removed since it touched the image border.
- 13. *MeasureObjectAreaShape*: Measured the morphological parameters of each remaining cell and nucleus.
- 14. *CalculateRatios*: Obtained the cellular aspect ratio by dividing the major axis length of the cell by the minor axis length.
- 15. GrayToColor: Converted the grayscale image of the actin cytoskeleton to a color image.
- 16. OverlayOutlines: Overlayed the image produced by module 15 with blue oulines of cell nuclei.
- 17. OverlayOutlines: Overlayed the image produced by module 16 with green outlines of cell edges.
- 18. SaveImages: Saved the images produced by module 17.

19. *ExportToExcel*: Exported the morphological measurements from modules 13 and 14 as an Excel spreadsheet.

IX. Supplementary figures



Supplementary Figure 1. Low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling does not activate p38. **A**. Low ER:Ras cells were serum starved for 16 hr and then incubated for the indicated times with EtOH or 4-OHT. Untreated cells were harvested at time 0. **B**. Low ER:Ras cells were treated with 4-OHT or EtOH for the indicated times. ER:H-Ras^{G12V}, phosphorylated p38 (p-p38), total p38, and actin were detected by Western blotting. Lysates from Low ER:Ras cells exposed to UV light were used as a positive control for the detection of phosphorylated p38. Phosphorylated p38 levels were measured at later time points to exclude the possibility that p38 becomes activated by low levels of oncogenic Ras signaling in a delayed manner. Others had shown p38 activation at 8 and 10 days following the infection of BJ fibroblasts with a retroviral construct that overexpressed oncogenic Ras to a high level (15).



Supplementary Figure 2. The inhibition of p38 and low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling are not sufficient to induce cellular transformation. Low ER:Ras cells were plated at a density of 5200 cells/cm² and treated with 4-OHT or EtOH and SB 203580 or DMSO 1 day after plating. After an additional 2 days, cells of each population were trypsinized, replated, and treated with the appropriate drugs. Cells were continuously cultured in the same dish with the appropriate drugs for 3 weeks and photographed (10X magnification) at the end of the experiment.

X. References

1. Downward J. Targeting RAS signalling pathways in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3:11-22.

2. Buday L, Downward J. Many faces of ras activation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2008;1786(2):178-87.

3. Karnoub AE, Weinberg RA. Ras oncogenes: Split personalities. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008;9:517-31.

4. DeNicola GM, Tuveson DA. RAS in cellular transformation and senescence. Eur J Cancer 2009;45 Suppl 1:211-6.

5. Guerra C, Mijimolle N, Dhawahir A, et al. Tumor induction by an endogenous K-ras oncogene is highly dependent on cellular context. Cancer Cell 2003;4:111-20.

6. Tuveson DA, Shaw AT, Willis NA, et al. Endogenous oncogenic K-rasG12D stimulates proliferation and widespread neoplastic and developmental defects. Cancer Cell 2004;5:375-87.

7. Sarkisian CJ, Keister BA, Stairs DB, Boxer RB, Moody SE, Chodosh LA. Dose-dependent oncogene-induced senescence in vivo and its evasion during mammary tumorigenesis. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9:493-505.

8. Bastian BC, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D. Mutations and copy number increase of HRAS in spitz nevi with distinctive histopathological features. Am J Pathol 2000;157:967-72.

9. Modrek B, Ge L, Pandita A, et al. Oncogenic activating mutations are associated with local copy gain. Mol Cancer Res 2009;7:1244-52.

10. Serrano M, Lin AW, McCurrach ME, Beach D, Lowe SW. Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. Cell 1997;88:593-602.

11. Rangarajan A, Hong SJ, Gifford A, Weinberg RA. Species- and cell type-specific requirements for cellular transformation. Cancer Cell 2004;6:171-83.

12. Farwell DG, Shera KA, Koop JI, et al. Genetic and epigenetic changes in human epithelial cells immortalized by telomerase. Am J Pathol 2000;156:1537-47.

13. Jones CJ, Kipling D, Morris M, et al. Evidence for a telomere-independent "clock" limiting RAS oncogene-driven proliferation of human thyroid epithelial cells. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:5690-9.

14. Lin AW, Lowe SW. Oncogenic ras activates the ARF-p53 pathway to suppress epithelial cell transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:5025-30.

15. Deng Q, Liao R, Wu B, Sun P. High intensity ras signaling induces premature senescence by activating p38 pathway in primary human fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 2004;279:1050-9.

16. Dhillon AS, Hagan S, Rath O, Kolch W. MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. Oncogene 2007;26:3279-90.

17. Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiol Rev 2001;81:807-69.

18. Hui L, Bakiri L, Mairhorfer A, et al. p38α suppresses normal and cancer cell proliferation by antagonizing the JNK-c-jun pathway. Nat Genet 2007;39:741-9.

19. Cha H, Wang X, Li H, Fornace AJ. A functional role for p38 MAPK in modulating mitotic transit in the absence of stress. J Biol Chem 2007;282:22984-92.

20. Dolado I, Swat A, Ajenjo N, De Vita G, Cuadrado A, Nebreda AR. p38α MAP kinase as a sensor of reactive oxygen species in tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell 2007;11:191-205.

21. Sun P, Yoshizuka N, New L, et al. PRAK is essential for ras-induced senescence and tumor suppression. Cell 2007;128:295-308.

22. Ventura JJ, Tenbaum S, Perdiguero E, et al. p38 α MAP kinase is essential in lung stem and progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation. Nat Genet 2007;39:750-8.

23. Bulavin DV, Phillips C, Nannenga B, et al. Inactivation of the Wip1 phosphatase inhibits mammary tumorigenesis through p38 MAPK-mediated activation of the p16(Ink4a)-p19(arf) pathway. Nat Genet 2004;36:343-50.

24. Chen G, Hitomi M, Han J, Stacey DW. The p38 pathway provides negative feedback for ras proliferative signaling. J Biol Chem 2000;275:38973-80.

25. Lim K, Counter CM. Reduction in the requirement of oncogenic ras signaling to activation of PI3K/AKT pathway during tumor maintenance. Cancer Cell 2005;8:381-92.

26. Hahn WC, Counter CM, Lundberg AS, Beijersbergen RL, Brooks MW, Weinberg RA. Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature 1999;400:464-8.

27. Rena G, Bain J, Elliott M, Cohen P. D4476, a cell-permeant inhibitor of CK1, suppresses the site-specific phosphorylation and nuclear exclusion of FOXO1a. EMBO Rep 2004;5:60-5.

28. Abramoff MD, Magelhaes PJ, Ram SJ. Image processing with ImageJ. Biophotonics Int 2004;11:36-42.

29. Rai P, Onder TT, Young JJ, et al. Continuous elimination of oxidized nucleotides is necessary to prevent rapid onset of cellular senescence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:169-74.

30. Dajee M, Tarutani M, Deng H, Cai T, Khavari PA. Epidermal ras blockade demonstrates spatially localized ras promotion of proliferation and inhibition of differentiation. Oncogene 2002;21:1527-38.

31. Gupta S, Ramjaun AR, Haiko P, et al. Binding of ras to phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 α is required for ras- driven tumorigenesis in mice. Cell 2007;129:957-68.

32. Elenbaas B, Spirio L, Koerner F, et al. Human breast cancer cells generated by oncogenic transformation of primary mammary epithelial cells. Genes Dev 2001;15:50-65.

33. Bain J, Plater L, Elliott M, et al. The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: A further update. Biochem J 2007;408:297-315.

34. Reinhardt HC, Aslanian AS, Lees JA, Yaffe MB. p53-deficient cells rely on ATM- and ATR-mediated checkpoint signaling through the p38MAPK/MK2 pathway for survival after DNA damage. Cancer Cell 2007;11:175-89.

35. Pargellis C, Tong L, Churchill L, et al. Inhibition of p38 MAP kinase by utilizing a novel allosteric binding site. Nat Struct Biol 2002;9:268-72.

36. Lee JC, Kassis S, Kumar S, Badger A, Adams JL. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitors--mechanisms and therapeutic potentials. Pharmacol Ther 1999;82:389-97.

37. Grinnell F. Cellular adhesiveness and extracellular substrata. Internat Rev Cytology 1978;53:65-144.

38. Heaysman JE, Pegrum SM. Early cell contacts in culture. In: Bellairs R, Curtis A, Dunn G, editors. Cell Behaviour. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 1982. p. 49-76.

39. Price LS, Leng J, Schwartz MA, Bokoch GM. Activation of rac and Cdc42 by integrins mediates cell spreading. Mol Biol Cell 1998;9:1863-71.

40. Carpenter AE, Jones TR, Lamprecht MR, et al. CellProfiler: Image analysis software for identifying and quantifying cell phenotypes. Genome Biol 2006;7:R100.

41. Schwartz MA. Integrins, oncogenes, and anchorage independence. J Cell Biol 1997;139:575-8.

42. Hynes RO. The emergence of integrins: A personal and historical perspective. Matrix Biol 2004;23:333-40.

43. Abercrombie M. Contact inhibition in tissue culture. In Vitro 1970;6:128-42.

44. Faust D, Dolado I, Cuadrado A, et al. p38α MAPK is required for contact inhibition. Oncogene 2005;24:7941-5.

45. Geiger B, Spatz JP, Bershadsky AD. Environmental sensing through focal adhesions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10:21-33.

46. Alexandrova AY, Arnold K, Schaub S, et al. Comparative dynamics of retrograde actin flow and focal adhesions: Formation of nascent adhesions triggers transition from fast to slow flow. PLoS One 2008;3:e3234.

47. Zhang X, Jiang G, Cai Y, Monkley SJ, Critchley DR, Sheetz MP. Talin depletion reveals independence of initial cell spreading from integrin activation and traction. Nat Cell Biol 2008;10:1062-8.

48. Omholt K, Karsberg S, Platz A, Kanter L, Ringborg U, Hansson J. Screening of N-ras codon 61 mutations in paired primary and metastatic cutaneous melanomas: Mutations occur early and persist throughout tumor progression

Clin Cancer Res 2002;8:3468-74.

49. Hruban RH, Goggins M, Parsons J, Kern SE. Progression model for pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2000;6:2969-72.

50. Vogelstein B, Fearon ER, Hamilton SR, et al. Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. N Engl J Med 1988;319:525-32.

51. Jen J, Powell SM, Papadopoulos N, et al. Molecular determinants of dysplasia in colorectal lesions. Cancer Res 1994;54:5523-6.

52. Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. Nat Med 2004;10:789-99.

53. Sieben NLG, Macropoulos P, Roemen, Guido M. J. M., et al. In ovarian neoplasms, BRAF, but not KRAS, mutations are restricted to low-grade serous tumours. J Pathol 2004;202:336-40.
54. Chung CH, Wilentz RE, Polak MM, et al. Clinical significance of K-ras oncogene activation in ampullary neoplasms. J Clin Pathol 1996;49:460-4.

55. Sagawa M, Saito Y, Fujimura S, Linnolia RI. K-ras point mutation occurs in the early stage of carcinogenesis in lung cancer Br J Cancer 1998;77:720-3.

56. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000;100:57-70.

57. Bulavin DV, Demidov ON, Saito S, et al. Amplification of PPM1D in human tumors abrogates p53 tumor-suppressor activity. Nat Genet 2002;31:210-5.

58. Li J, Yang Y, Peng Y, et al. Oncogenic properties of PPM1D located within a breast cancer amplification epicenter at 17q23. Nat Genet 2002;31:133-4.

59. Hirasawa A, Saito-Ohara F, Inoue J, et al. Association of 17q21-q24 gain in ovarian clear cell adenocarcinomas with poor prognosis and identification of PPM1D and APPBP2 as likely amplification targets. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9:1995-2004.

60. Saito-Ohara F, Imoto I, Inoue J, et al. PPM1D is a potential target for 17q gain in neuroblastoma. Cancer Res 2003;63:1876-83.

61. Yu W, Imoto I, Inoue J, Onda M, Emi M, Inazawa J. A novel amplification target, DUSP26, promotes anaplastic thyroid cancer cell growth by inhibiting p38 MAPK activity. Oncogene 2006;26:1178-87.

62. Takekawa M, Adachi M, Nakahata A, et al. p53-inducible Wip1 phosphatase mediates a negative feedback regulation of p38 MAPK-p53 signaling in response to UV radiation. EMBO J 2000;19:6517-26.

63. Vasudevan SA, Skoko J, Wang K, et al. MKP-8, a novel MAPK phosphatase that inhibits p38 kinase, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005;330:511-8.

64. Brancho D, Tanaka N, Jaeschke A, et al. Mechanism of p38 MAP kinase activation in vivo. Genes Dev 2003;17:1969-78.

65. Johnson GL, Nakamura K. The c-jun kinase/stress-activated pathway: Regulation, function and role in human disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1773:1341-8.

66. Whitmarsh AJ, Davis RJ. Role of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 4 in cancer. Oncogene 2007;26:3172-84.

67. Greenman C, Stephens P, Smith R, et al. Patterns of somatic mutation in human cancer genomes. Nature 2007;446:153-8.

68. Rumsby PC, Barrass NC, Phillimore HE, Evans JG. Analysis of the ha-ras oncogene in C3H/He mouse liver tumours derived spontaneously or induced with diethylintrosamine or phenobarbitone. Carcinogenesis 1991;12:2331-6.

69. Giancotti FG, Ruoslahti E. Elevated levels of the α 5 β 1 fibronectin receptor suppress the transformed phenotype of chinese hamster ovary cells. Cell 1990;60:849-59.

70. Rodriguez Fernandez JL, Geiger B, Salomon D, Sabanay I, Zoller M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Suppression of tumorigenicity in transformed cells after transfection with vinculin cDNA. J Cell Biol 1992;119:427-38.

71. Gluck U, Kwiatlowski D, Ben-Ze'ev A. Suppression of tumorigenicity in simian virus 40transformed 3T3 cells transfected with α -actinin cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:383-7.

72. Tanaka M, Mullauer L, Ogiso Y, et al. Gelsolin: A candidate for suppressor of human bladder cancer. Cancer Res 1995;55:3228-32.

73. Zutter MM, Santoro SA, Staatz WD, Tsung YL. Re-expression of the $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrin abrogates the malignant phenotype of breast carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:7411-5.

74. Danen EHJ, van Kraats AA, Cornelissen IMHA, Ruiter DJ, van Muijen GNP. Integrin β 3 cDNA transfection into a highly metastatic $\alpha v\beta$ 3-negative human melanoma cell line inhibits invasion and experimental metastasis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1996;226:75-81.

75. Nikolopoulos SN, Spengler BA, Kisselbach K, Évans AE, Biedler JL, Ross RA. The human non-muscle α -actinin protein encoded by the ACTN4 gene suppresses tumorigenicity of human neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 2000;19:380-6.

76. Pawlak G, Helfman DM. Cytoskeletal changes in cell transformation and tumorigenesis. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2001;11:41-7.

77. Hall A. The cytoskeleton and cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2009;28:5-14.

78. Frisch SM, Ruoslahti E. Integrins and anoikis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1997;9:701-6.

79. Desgrosellier JS, Cheresh DA. Integrins in cancer: Biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer 2010;10:9-22.

80. Geiger B, Bershadsky A, Pankov R, Yamada KM. Transmembrane extracellular matrixcytoskeleton crosstalk. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2:793-805. Chapter 3:

Overview and future directions

The results presented in chapter 2 indicate that inhibition of p38 and low activation of oncogenic Ras cooperate to reduce the adhesion of normal human fibroblasts. Moreover, the decreased cell adhesion observed upon perturbing these two signaling pathways suggests that inhibition of the p38 pathway predisposes human cells to partial transformation by oncogenic Ras. However, the presented results raise two main questions. First, how does the inhibition of p38 cooperate with low oncogenic Ras signaling to reduce cell adhesion? In other words, what pathways downstream of p38 and Ras regulate the cell-matrix adhesion of human fibroblasts? Second, which other oncogenic or tumor-suppressive pathways must be perturbed in order to transform cells that express near physiological levels of oncogenic Ras? Furthermore, does the inhibition of p38 facilitate the full transformation of cells containing low levels of oncogenic Ras? Potential answers to these questions and their implications will be discussed in this chapter.

I. Regulation of adhesion and cytoskeletal rearrangement by Ras and p38

As shown in chapter 2, inhibition of p38 and low activation of oncogenic Ras both reduce the number of focal adhesions formed by a fibroblast. However, inhibiting p38 and activating Ras caused dissimilar effects on cell shape. More specifically, low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling increased the roundness of cells and decreased their two-dimensional area, whereas inhibition of p38 elongated cells and failed to reduce cell area. These observations suggest that, although inhibition of p38 and activation of Ras cooperate to reduce the adhesion of cells, manipulation of these two pathways affects the actin cytoskeleton and cell-matrix adhesion in distinct ways. Thus, p38 inhibition and Ras activation most likely induce reorganization of the cytoskeleton and reduced cell-matrix adhesion by modulating different downstream signaling

events that cause independent changes in cell morphology in addition to concomitantly decreasing cell adhesion.

Possible regulation downstream of p38

p38 has been found to phosphorylate several proteins involved in cytoskeletal reorganization and cell-matrix adhesion, for example, Hsp27, paxillin, and ezrin (1-6). Thus, the elongated morphology and reduced number of focal adhesions that I observed in human fibroblasts treated with p38 drug inhibitors are likely to be caused by perturbation of more than one p38 target (Fig. 1A). However, decreased activity of the p38/MK2/Hsp27 pathway, which was introduced in Chapter 1 as being involved in actin remodeling, appears to be the best candidate for the elongated shape and reduced adhesion observed in the presence of p38 inhibitors.

Indeed, the activity of both p38 and Hsp27 was shown to be essential for the formation of lamellipodia in smooth muscle cells (3). These results suggest that p38's activation of Hsp27 may also be necessary for lamellipodia formation in other cell types, such as fibroblasts. Because cell spreading and formation of focal adhesions both require the extension of lamellipodia, reduced signaling through the p38/MK2/Hsp27 pathway could explain the elongated morphology and reduced number of focal adhesions exhibited by fibroblasts treated with p38 drug inhibitors.

Possible regulation downstream of oncogenic Ras

Like p38, Ras has been linked to regulation of the cytoskeleton and cell-matrix adhesion through multiple mechanisms (Fig. 1B). The increased cell roundness, decreased two-
dimensional cell area, and reduced cell adhesion caused by low levels of oncogenic Ras signaling is probably the result of the simultaneous modulation of Ras effectors involved in regulating cytoskeletal reorganization and cell adhesion. Further work is necessary to determine which effectors downstream of Ras are responsible for the alterations in cell morphology and adhesion described in chapter 2; however, several compelling candidates exist, including signaling through the Raf kinase and Rho family GTPases.

For example, oncogenic Ras has been shown to suppress integrin activation in some cell types, such as fibroblasts, in a Raf-dependent manner (7, 8). Integrin activation is central to the continued advancement of lamellipodia, continued cell spreading, and the formation of focal adhesions. Thus, suppression of integrin activation could explain the reduced number of focal adhesions observed in cells in which oncogenic Ras signaling was activated to a low extent. Moreover, the increased roundness of cells induced by low oncogenic Ras signaling may also be due to the suppression of integrin activation, since sustained cell spreading requires the integrin activation and the resulting formation of cell-matrix adhesions (9).

In addition to the possible suppression of integrin activation, low oncogenic Ras signaling may affect cytoskeletal reorganization and cell adhesion through the modulation of the Rho family GTPases RhoA, Cdc42, and Rac. RhoA, RhoB, Cdc42, and Rac are each required for Ras-induced transformation of murine cells, indicating that the activities of these GTPases are crucial mediators of Ras-induced cytoskeletal rearrangements, loss of contact inhibition, and anchorage-independence (10-14).

Indeed, dominant negative RhoA, dominant negative Rac, and dominant negative Cdc42 were each reported to suppress the acquisition of morphological changes typical of cells transformed with Ras, such as increased refractivity and the loss of stress fibers (10, 13, 14).

Furthermore, constitutively active forms of Rac and RhoA enhanced the transformation of cells by oncogenic Ras. Co-expression of active Rac or RhoA with oncogenic Ras made cells more refractile, less adherent, and better at growing in anchorage-independent conditions than when transformed with Ras alone (10).

Proteins downstream of Rho GTPase family members found to be regulated in response to oncogenic Ras include Rho-associated, coiled-coil containing protein kinase (ROCK) and FAK. The activation of ROCK by Rho and activated ROCK's subsequent phosphorylation of the actin-binding protein ezrin were shown to be necessary for transformation of murine cells by oncogenic Ras (15, 16). Thus, the Rho/ROCK/ezrin pathway may contribute to the morphology changes reduction in cell adhesion observed upon the low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling.

In addition, oncogenic Ras was found to inhibit FAK by inducing its dephosphorylation (17). Ras was found to inhibit FAK through a signaling cascade involving activation of faciogenital dysplasia protein 1 (Fgd1), a GEF that specifically activates Cdc42, Cdc42, and ERK. ERK was found to phosphorylate FAK directly, thereby recruiting additional proteins that induce the dephosphorylation of FAK at a separate residue that is critical for its activity. Because FAK activation plays a key role in the early spreading of cells having just attached to their substratum (18), the repression of FAK activation by oncogenic Ras may be responsible for the reduced number of focal adhesions and rounded cell shape observed upon activation of low Ras signaling.

Further work is necessary to determine those pathways downstream of low oncogenic Ras signaling that alter fibroblast morphology and reduce cell-matrix adhesion. Importantly, in the work described above, oncogenic Ras was expressed to supraphysiological levels. Because I observed high and low levels of oncogenic Ras signaling to induce the differential activation of

Ras effector pathways in human fibroblasts, low oncogenic Ras signaling may not activate the same pathways as were activated in the reported experiments.

For example, I failed to see activation of Akt upon low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling but saw robust activation of Akt upon high activation of oncogenic Ras signaling, suggesting that activation of the PI3K pathway is triggered only by high levels of oncogenic Ras signaling. One of the ways in which Ras activates Rac is through the PI3K pathway. Thus, low activation of Ras signaling may not to be sufficient to activate Rac through the PI3K. Due to the differences in signaling stimulated by low and high levels of oncogenic Ras, additional studies using the low ER:Ras fibroblasts must be done to determine which signaling pathways downstream of Ras are activated by low oncogenic Ras signaling.

II. The role of low oncogenic Ras signaling in the transformation of human cells

The results presented in chapter 2 clearly indicate that simultaneous inhibition of p38 and low activation of oncogenic Ras are not sufficient for the full transformation of human fibroblasts. The failure of these two manipulations to transform fibroblasts is expected given what is currently known about the transformation of human cells. Indeed, as discussed in chapter 1, multiple cooperating genetic mutations are required for the complete transformation of normal human cells. Therefore, the question arises as to which other oncogenic or tumorsuppressive pathways must be perturbed in order to transform human cells containing a low level of oncogenic Ras signaling. The answer to this question has important ramifications on how we view the transformation of human cells from normal to malignant.

Impact on current models of transformation and tumorigenesis

Normal human cells have been successfully transformed into cancer cells using several different cocktails of introduced genetic modifications (19). Although the use of these transforming cocktails has provided valuable information in identifying pathways that are important in generating cancer cells from normal human cells, these transformation protocols introduce requirements that may not accurately reflect the acquisition of genetic modifications by incipient cancer cells in actual human tumors. More specifically, two features common among protocols for the transformation of human cells are the need for a strong oncogenic signal, usually provided by highly overexpressing oncogenic Ras, and the disruption of two potent tumor suppressors, namely, p53 and the retinoblastoma protein (Rb).

The high levels of oncogenic Ras required for the experimental transformation of human cells may not accurately model the oncogenic Ras signaling occurring in actual human cancers, where tumor cells most likely never experience such high levels of oncogenic Ras expression. Indeed, studies focused upon one of these frequently used transformation models showed that, unlike high overexpression of oncogenic Ras, moderate overexpression failed to transform human cells robustly, as indicated by decreased anchorage-independent growth and lack of tumor formation in mice (20). Thus, current models of transformation do not account for the promotion of tumorigenesis by near physiological levels of oncogenic Ras.

In addition, the overexpression of oncogenic *RAS* at a high level requires that the genetic modifications disabling p53 and Rb are introduced prior to, or at least at the same time as, introducing oncogenic *RAS* into cells (20-23). Introducing genetic modifications in this order is necessary for the successful transformation of human cells due to the fact that high levels of oncogenic Ras signaling induce the senescence of normal human cells containing intact p53 and

Rb signaling pathways (24). Crippling p53 and Rb functions enables cells expressing high levels of oncogenic Ras to avoid entering into senescence, thus promoting their transformation (21, 25).

Importantly, inhibiting p53 and Rb prior to acquiring oncogenic Ras may not be necessary during the development of actual human tumors. Evidence from human tumor samples and genetically engineered mouse models of cancer indicate that the aberrant activation of Ras signaling is an initiating event in a number of human cancers. For example, oncogenic *RAS* alleles are often detectable in preneoplastic lesions that are believed to lack many additional genetic alterations (26-33). Moreover, expression of oncogenic *Kras* from the endogenous *Kras* promoter in various organs of adult mice, such as the lung, pancreas, ovary, and colon, was found to induce preneoplastic lesions in these targeted organs (34-37).

The relevance of senescence to tumorigenesis

The identification of oncogenic *RAS* mutations in preneoplastic lesions of human cancers and the ability of endogenous oncogenic *Kras* to induce hyperplasias in mouse models, raises the question as to whether models of transforming human cells accurately reflect events occurring in the development of human cancers, due to these transformation models requiring the loss of p53 and Rb functions followed by high overexpression of oncogenic *RAS*. This issue directly relates to whether or not Ras-induced senescence is an important tumor-suppressive mechanism in human cells. Studies focused upon the *in vitro* transformation of human cells indicate that the p53 and Rb pathways must be compromised in order for oncogenic Ras to drive tumorigenesis. In contrast, evidence indicating that oncogenic mutation of Ras is an initiating event in tumor development suggests that disengaging the p53 and Rb pathways prior to the acquisition of oncogenic Ras is not necessary. Much work has been done to determine whether Ras-induced senescence a biologically relevant tumor-suppressive mechanism. This work has yielded contradictory results. Results obtained from one mouse model of endogenous oncogenic *Kras* activation demonstrate a lack of senescence markers in hyperplasias initiated by oncogenic *Kras* (35). However, results from a second model of endogenous oncogenic *Kras* activation indicate that preneoplastic lesions induced by oncogenic *Kras* do exhibit signs of senescence (38).

Reasons for these conflicting results are not clear, but in combination with other evidence, suggest the possibility that senescence may be a *bona fide* tumor suppressor in some contexts, but not others. For example, markers of senescence have been observed in human melanocytic nevi harboring oncogenic Raf. These nevi are thought to be precursor lesions of melanoma, indicating that some cell types may limit neoplastic development by inducing senescence in the presence of oncogenes (39). On the other hand, multiple studies have shown that cells of some cancers retain the ability to senesce in response to chemotherapeutic agents (40), indicating that transforming a normal cell into a cancer cell does not necessarily involve the ablation of tumor suppressor pathways mediating senescence.

Linking senescence in vivo to the upregulation of Ras

Because high levels of oncogenic Ras are necessary in order to induce the senescence of mammalian cells, it is initially confusing as to why preneoplastic lesions driven by the endogenous expression of oncogenic *Kras* in one mouse model would exhibit senescence, whereas embryonic fibroblasts expressing endogenous oncogenic *Kras* and derived from the same mouse model fail to senesce and instead are immortal (38, 41). A possible explanation for this apparent discrepancy lies in the spontaneous upregulation of oncogenic Ras during tumor

development, for example, through increased copy number of the *RAS* oncogene, increased transcription of the *RAS* oncogene, or loss of negative regulators that inhibit aberrant Ras signaling (42).

Indeed, some mouse models of Ras-induced tumorigenesis have provided evidence for the spontaneous upregulation of Ras during tumor development. Of particular interest, two such studies correlated the upregulation of endogenous Ras with tumor development. The first study described the amplification of wild-type *Kras* (43), whereas the second study reported the spontaneous upregulation of oncogenic *Hras* expressed from the endogenous locus (44). Similarly, a subset of human tumor samples have shown upregulation of oncogenic Ras, with higher Ras levels correlating with later stage tumors (45-50). Thus, there appears to exist a selective pressure for the upregulation of Ras signaling during tumor development.

This upregulation of Ras signaling during tumor development is thought to drive the senescence of cells expressing oncogenic *Kras* from the endogenous promoter. As a proof of principle, the inducible expression of oncogenic *Hras* in mammary epithelia of transgenic mice stimulated the hyperproliferation of mammary cells when oncogenic *Hras* was expressed at a low level. However, increasing the expression level of oncogenic *Hras* in mammary cells triggered their senescence (51). Importantly, the loss of p53 activity prevented the accumulation of senescence cells.

Taken together, these lines of evidence suggest the following model of tumorigenesis: Tumorigenesis is driven by a high, but not low, level of oncogenic Ras signaling. Incipient cancer cells acquire this high level of Ras signaling through the spontaneous upregulation of endogenous Ras oncogenes. Moreover, in order for upregulated levels of oncogenic Ras

signaling to promote tumorigenesis, cells must already have lost the ability to senesce through disruption of the p53 and Rb tumor suppressor pathways.

Implicit in this model of tumorigenesis is the idea that the *in vitro* transformation of normal human cells into cancer cells recapitulates events that occur during tumor development *in vivo*. Indeed, both the model described above and protocols for the transformation of human cells involve the loss of senescence-inducing tumor suppressor pathways and subsequent acquisition of high levels of oncogenic Ras. However, this model is not applicable to genetically engineered mouse models of cancer lacking markers of senescence nor is it applicable to malignant cells capable of senescing in response to chemotherapeutic agents. Therefore, although the model presented above appears to be relevant to certain situations of cancer development, it fails to provide a satisfying explanation for other cases of tumorigenesis.

Tumor-suppressive mechanisms in the absence of senescence

The lack of senescence markers in pre-neoplastic lesions formed in one mouse model of endogenous oncogenic *Kras* activation (35) raises the question as to what other tumorsuppressive mechanisms counteract neoplastic development in these *Kras*-expressing cells. Indeed, the number of functional viral particles administered to the lungs of mice when activating the expression of oncogenic *Kras* in lung cells is many times greater than the number of lesions formed following viral infection (34). Assuming that most infected cells activate their oncogenic *Kras* allele, and assuming each isolated lesion originated from a single infected cell, there is a very high inefficiency of generating lesions upon the endogenous expression of oncogenic *Kras*. Therefore, the majority of cells exposed to oncogenic Ras signaling fail to form hyperplasias, but why? One possible explanation is that, even though cells expressing endogenous levels of oncogenic *Kras* in this mouse model fail to undergo senescence, aberrant signaling through the Ras pathway triggers the activation of negative regulators of Ras signaling, thus suppressing the ability of oncogenic Ras to promote hyperplastic outgrowths. Supporting this possibility, the *in vivo* activation of oncogenic *Kras* from the endogenous promoter was found to upregulate Sprouty-2, a negative regulator of Ras signaling (52). Moreover, loss of Sprouty-2 promoted the ability of *Kras* to induce the development of lesions in the lungs of mice. These results indicate that cells respond to low levels of oncogenic Ras signaling by engaging negative feedback pathways and that disruption of these pathways promotes *Kras*induced tumorigenesis.

A second potential tumor-suppressive mechanism operating in the presence of low oncogenic Ras signaling lies in the possibility that most cells in adult tissues fail to be permissive hosts for the initiation of tumor development by oncogenic Ras. In support of this possibility, particular cell types were found to be responsible for initiating tumor development in mouse organs in response to endogenous oncogenic *Kras* expression. More specifically, the expansion of bronchioalveolar stem cells (BASCs) upon oncogenic *Kras* expression was found to initiate the formation of hyperplastic lesions in mouse lungs, lesions which eventually evolved into adenocarcinomas (53).

In addition, the targeted expression of endogenous oncogenic *Kras* to distinct subpopulations of pancreatic cells in mice showed that oncogenic *Kras* was able to induce the hyperplastic growth of a subpopulation of pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 (Pdx1)-positive cells, thus initiating the development of Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). In contrast,

oncogenic *Kras* was not able to induce the hyperplastic growth of insulin-expressing cells unless the pancreatic tissue was first subjected to chronic injury (37). Taken together, these results indicate that different subtypes of cells in a tissue have innate differences in their susceptibility to forming hyperplastic lesions in response to oncogenic Ras signaling. If true, the number of cells in the mouse or human body that is capable of initiating cancer development is much lower than the overall number of cells in the body.

Take-home messages

Regardless of which tumor-suppressive mechanisms operate to counteract their neoplastic development, cells expressing a single copy of an oncogenic Ras allele appear to undergo an initial period of positive selection, resulting in the formation of hyperplastic lesions. Furthermore, the loss of tumor suppressor functions appears to facilitate Ras-initiated tumor development. Indeed, the loss of tumor suppressor function has consistently been found to expedite tumorigenesis in mouse models employing the expression of oncogenic *Kras* from the endogenous promoter (36, 54-56). Thus, although additional work must be done to understand the role of Ras signaling in the initiation of human cancers, the concept of transforming human cells through multiple genetic alterations certainly relates to human tumor development.

Creating better models of human transformation

There exists a clear need for the development of better models involving the transformation of normal human cells into cancer cells. Much evidence, gathered from human tumor samples and genetically engineered mouse models, indicates that low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling is an initiating event of tumorigenesis. However, current protocols used to transform human cells fail to recapitulate both the early activation of aberrant Ras signaling and the endogenous levels of this signaling.

Furthermore, differences in the susceptibility of human and murine cells to the process of transformation necessitate the creation of better protocols for transforming human cells. Human cells are more refractory to transformation than mouse cells, indicating that the tumor-suppressive mechanisms operating in human and mouse cells exhibit critical species-specific differences (57, 58). Thus, despite the valuable information gathered using mouse model systems, tumorigenesis in mice cannot fully mimic tumorigenesis in humans. Therefore, improved human transformation models are essential to understand the impact of genetic modifications occurring in the development of human cancers.

A first step in improving current protocols for the transformation of human cells would be to introduce near physiological levels of Ras signaling into cells prior to any other genetic manipulations. Indeed, activating a low, pro-proliferative level of oncogenic Ras signaling in normal human cells is possible as shown in Chapter 2. The Low ER:Ras system could be introduced into a variety of normal human cell types in order to study the transformation of cells originating from different tissues. Furthermore, the Low ER:Ras system would provide a means to identify genetic alterations able to cooperate with low oncogenic Ras signaling in the transformation of human cells.

Importantly, as mentioned earlier, mouse models involving the expression of oncogenic *K*ras from the endogenous locus have shown that successful tumor development relies heavily upon the targeting of a permissive cell type (37, 53). Human tissues are also likely to contain cells that have differential responses to low oncogenic Ras signaling and different susceptibilities

to being transformed. Thus, better models of human cell transformation must begin with the careful selection of parental cell types that innately are more receptive to transformation.

In addition, better models of human cell transformation are likely to rest in experiments involving the transformation of human cells *in vivo*. The robustness with which a potentially tumorigenic cell forms a tumor depends heavily upon the environment in which the cell finds itself (59). For example, human breast carcinoma cell lines were found to form tumors with 100% efficiency when injected in the mammary fad pads of mice, but the efficiency of tumor formation dropped to 40% when these cell populations were injected into the subcutaneous tissue of mice (60).

Despite that *in vitro* transformation assays, such as growth in soft agar, are informative in predicting the *in vivo* tumorigenesis of mammalian cell lines, cells residing in an actual human tumor experience a very different and interactive environment, which is replete with cells, signaling molecules, and extracellular matrix components. Consequently, more accurate methods of studying the transformation of human cells would involve the engineering of human cells with inducible methods of activating oncogenic pathways and repressing tumor suppressor pathways.

Moreover, these engineered cells could be introduced into humanized mouse tissues. For example, the mouse mammary gland could be reconstituted using stromal and epithelial components of human origin (61). Low activation of oncogenic Ras signaling in cells residing in humanized mouse tissues, followed by the inducible manipulation of other oncogenic and tumor suppressor pathways, would advance models of human cell transformation to a position where they closely approximate events occurring during human tumor development.

III. Final Perspective

This study provides evidence that a low level of oncogenic Ras signaling induces the hyperproliferation of human cells, which undergo senescence in response to a high level of oncogenic Ras signaling. This result is directly relevant to data gathered from human tumors and genetically engineered mouse models, which indicate that Ras is an initiating event during tumor development. Thus, studying low oncogenic Ras signaling in human cells is relevant to gaining a better understanding of signaling events occurring in many human cancers.

In addition, I have found that the inhibition of p38 cooperates with low oncogenic Ras signaling to reduce cell-matrix adhesions. By altering cellular adhesion, the inhibition of p38 could predispose human cells to partial transformation by oncogenic Ras. Thus, this finding warrants further study aimed toward elucidating the role of p38 in Ras-induced tumorigenesis.

IV. Figure



Figure 1. Pathways downstream of p38 and Ras that impact cell-matrix adhesion and/or cytoskeletal reorganization. A. Pathways downstream of p38 that have been implicated in controlling lamellipodia formation, cytoskeletal reorganization, and modulation of focal adhesion formation and stability. B. Pathways downstream of Ras that have been implicated in these same processes. See the text for details concerning pathways diagramed in this figure. The dotted, double-headed arrows in this figure are present to indicate that lamellipodia formation, cytoskeletal reorganization, and regulation of focal adhesions are intimately related processes, with perturbation of one of these processes often affecting the other two.

V. References

1. Vadlamudia R, Adama L, Talukder A, Mendelsohn J, Kumar R. Serine phosphorylation of paxillin by heregulin- β 1: Role of p38 mitogen activated protein kinase. Oncogene 1999;18:7253-64.

2. Huang C, Borchers CH, Schaller MD, Jacobson K. Phosphorylation of paxillin by p38MAPK is involved in the neurite extension of PC-12 cells. J Cell Biol 2004;164:593-602.

3. Pichon S, Bryckaert M, Berrou E. Control of actin dynamics by p38 MAP kinase - Hsp27 distribution in the lamellipodium of smooth muscle cells. J Cell Sci 2004;117:2569-77.

4. Zhao H, Shiue H, Palkon S, et al. Ezrin regulates NHE3 translocation and activation after na+glucose cotransport. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:9485-90.

5. Lan M, Kojima T, Murata M, et al. Phosphorylation of ezrin enhances microvillus length via a p38 MAP-kinase pathway in an immortalized mouse hepatic cell line. Exp Cell Res 2006;312:111-20.

6. Rousseau S, Dolado I, Beardmore V, et al. CXCL12 and C5a trigger cell migration via a PAK1/2-p38α MAPK-MAPKAP-K2-HSP27 pathway. Cell Signal 2006;18:1897-905.

7. Hughes PE, Renshaw MW, Pfaff M, et al. Suppression of integrin activation: A novel function of a Ras/Raf-initiated MAP kinase pathway. Cell 1997;88:521-30.

8. Hughes PE, Oertli B, Hansen M, Chou F, Willumsen BM, Ginsberg MH. Suppression of integrin activation by activated ras or raf does not correlate with bulk activation of ERK MAP kinase. Mol Biol Cell 2002;13:2256-65.

9. Zhang X, Jiang G, Cai Y, Monkley SJ, Critchley DR, Sheetz MP. Talin depletion reveals independence of initial cell spreading from integrin activation and traction. Nat Cell Biol 2008;10:1062-8.

10. Khosravi-Far R, Solski PA, Clark GJ, Kinch MS, Der CJ. Activation of Rac1, RhoA, and mitogen-activated protein kinases is required for ras transformation. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15:6443-53.

11. Prendergast GC, Khosravi-Far R, Solski PA, Kurzawa H, Lebowitz PF, Der CJ. Critical role of rho in cell transformation by oncogenic ras. Oncogene 1995;10:2289-96.

12. Qiu R, Chen J, Kirn D, McCormick F, Symons M. An essential role for rac in ras transformation. Nature 1995;374:457-9.

13. Qiu R, Chen J, McCormick F, Symons M. A role for rho in ras transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:11781-5.

14. Qiu R, Abo A, McCormick F, Symons M. Cdc42 regulates anchorage-independent growth and is necessary for ras transformation. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17:3449-58.

15. Sahai E, Ishizaki T, Narumiya S, Treisman R. Transformation mediated by RhoA requires activity of ROCK kinases. Curr Biol 1999;9:136-45.

16. Quang CT, Gautreau A, Arpin M, Treisman R. Ezrin function is required for ROCKmediated fibroblast transformation by the net and dbl oncogenes. EMBO J 2000;19:4565-76.

17. Zheng Y, Xia Y, Hawke D, et al. FAK phosphorylation by ERK primes ras-induced tyrosine dephosphorylation of FAK mediated by PIN1 and PTP-PEST. Mol Cell Biol 2009;35:11-25. 18. Mitra SK, Schlaepfer DD. Integrin-regulated FAK–Src signaling in normal and cancer cells.

Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006;18:516-23. 19. Akagi T. Oncogenic transformation of human cells: Shortcomings of rodent model systems. Trends Mol Med 2004;10:542-8.

20. Elenbaas B, Spirio L, Koerner F, et al. Human breast cancer cells generated by oncogenic transformation of primary mammary epithelial cells. Genes Dev 2001;15:50-65.

 Hahn WC, Counter CM, Lundberg AS, Beijersbergen RL, Brooks MW, Weinberg RA. Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature 1999;400:464-8.
 Hahn WC, Dessain SK, Brooks MW, et al. Enumeration of the simian virus 40 early region elements necessary for human cell transformation. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:2111-23.

23. Seger YR, Garcı'a-Cao M, Piccinin S, et al. Transformation of normal human cells in the absence of telomerase activation. Cancer Cell 2002;2:401-13.

24. Serrano M, Lin AW, McCurrach ME, Beach D, Lowe SW. Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. Cell 1997;88:593-602.

25. Deng Q, Li Y, Tedesco D, Liao R, Fuhrmann G, Sun P. The ability of E1A to rescue rasinduced premature senescence and confer transformation relies on inactivation of both p300/CBP and rb family proteins. Cancer Res 2005;65:8298-307.

26. Vogelstein B, Fearon ER, Hamilton SR, et al. Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. N Engl J Med 1988;319:525-32.

27. Jen J, Powell SM, Papadopoulos N, et al. Molecular determinants of dysplasia in colorectal lesions. Cancer Res 1994;54:5523-6.

28. Chung CH, Wilentz RE, Polak MM, et al. Clinical significance of K-ras oncogene activation in ampullary neoplasms. J Clin Pathol 1996;49:460-4.

29. Sagawa M, Saito Y, Fujimura S, Linnolia RI. K-ras point mutation occurs in the early stage of carcinogenesis in lung cancer Br J Cancer 1998;77:720-3.

30. Hruban RH, Goggins M, Parsons J, Kern SE. Progression model for pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2000;6:2969-72.

31. Omholt K, Karsberg S, Platz A, Kanter L, Ringborg U, Hansson J. Screening of N-ras codon 61 mutations in paired primary and metastatic cutaneous melanomas: Mutations occur early and persist throughout tumor progression

. Clin Cancer Res 2002;8:3468-74.

32. Sieben NLG, Macropoulos P, Roemen, Guido M. J. M., et al. In ovarian neoplasms, BRAF, but not KRAS, mutations are restricted to low-grade serous tumours. J Pathol 2004;202:336-40.
33. Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. Nat Med 2004;10:789-99.

34. Jackson EL, Willis N, Mercer K, et al. Analysis of lung tumor initiation and progression using conditional expression of oncogenic K-ras. Genes Dev 2001;15:3243-8.

35. Tuveson DA, Shaw AT, Willis NA, et al. Endogenous oncogenic K-rasG12D stimulates proliferation and widespread neoplastic and developmental defects. Cancer Cell 2004;5:375-87. 36. Dinulescu DM, Ince TA, Quade BJ, Shafer SA, Crowley D, Jacks T. Role of K-ras and pten in the development of mouse models of endometriosis and endometrioid ovarian cancer. Nat Med 2005;11:63-70.

37. Gidekel Friedlander SY, Chu GC, Snyder EL, et al. Context-dependent transformation of adult pancreatic cells by oncogenic K-ras. Cancer Cell 2009;16:379-89.

38. Collado M, Gil J, Efeyan A, et al. Tumour biology: Senescence in premalignant tumours. Nature 2005;436:642.

39. Michaloglou C, Vredeveld LC, Soengas MS, et al. BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature 2005;436:720-4.

40. Serrano M. Cancer: A lower bar for senescence. Nature 2010;464:363-4.

41. Guerra C, Mijimolle N, Dhawahir A, et al. Tumor induction by an endogenous K-ras oncogene is highly dependent on cellular context. Cancer Cell 2003;4:111-20.

42. Collado M, Serrano M. Senescence in tumours: Evidence from mice and humans. Nat Rev Can 2010;10:51-7.

43. Liu ML, Von Lintig FC, Liyanage M, et al. Amplification of ki-ras and elevation of MAP kinase activity during mammary tumor progression in C3(1)/SV40 tag transgenic mice. Oncogene 1998;17:2403-11.

44. Chen X, Mitsutake N, LaPerle K, et al. Endogenous expression of HrasG12V induces developmental defects and neoplasms with copy number imbalances of the oncogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:7979-84.

45. Pulciani S, Santos E, Long LK, Sorrentino V, Barbacid M. Ras gene amplification and malignant transformation. Mol Cell Biol 1985;5:2836-41.

46. Parsa I, Pour PM, Cleary CM. Amplification of c-ki-ras-2 oncogene sequences in human carcinoma of pancreas. Int J Pancreatol 1988;3:45-51.

47. Shiraishi M, Noguchi M, Shimosato Y, Sekiya T. Amplification of protooncogenes in surgical specimens of human lung carcinomas. Cancer Res 1989;49:6474-9.

48. McDonald JS, Jones H, Pavelic ZP, Pavelic LJ, Stambrook PJ, Gluckman JL. Immunohistochemical detection of the H-ras, K-ras, and N-ras oncogenes in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. J Oral Pathol Med 1994;23:342-6.

49. Kozma L, Kiss I, Nagy A, Szakall S, Ember I. Investigation of c-myc and K-ras amplification in renal clear cell adenocarcinoma. Cancer Lett 1997;111:127-31.

50. Wagner PL, Perner S, Rickman DS, et al. In situ evidence of KRAS amplification and association with increased p21 levels in non-small cell lung carcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol 2009;132:500-5.

51. Sarkisian CJ, Keister BA, Stairs DB, Boxer RB, Moody SE, Chodosh LA. Dose-dependent oncogene-induced senescence in vivo and its evasion during mammary tumorigenesis. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9:493-505.

52. Shaw AT, Meissner A, Dowdle JA, et al. Sprouty-2 regulates oncogenic K-ras in lung development and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev 2007;21:694-707.

53. Bender Kim CF, Jackson EL, Woolfenden AE, et al. Identification of bronchioalveolar stem cells in normal lung and lung cancer. Cell 2005;121:823-35.

54. Sansom OJ, Meniel V, Wilkins JA, et al. Loss of apc allows phenotypic manifestation of the transforming properties of an endogenous K-ras oncogene in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006;103:14122-7.

55. Guerra C, Schuhmacher AJ, Cañamero M, et al. Chronic pancreatitis is essential for induction of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma by K-ras oncogenes in adult mice. Cancer Cell 2007;11:291-302.

56. Kirsch DG, Dinulescu DM, Miller JB, et al. A spatially and temporally restricted mouse model of soft tissue sarcoma. Nat Med 2007;13:992-7.

57. Akagi T, Sasai K, Hanafusa H. Refractory nature of normal human diploid fibroblasts with respect to oncogene-mediated transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:13567-72. 58. Rangarajan A, Hong SJ, Gifford A, Weinberg RA. Species- and cell type-specific

requirements for cellular transformation. Cancer Cell 2004;6:171-83.

59. Bissell MJ, Radisky D. Putting tumours in context. Nat Rev Can 2001;1:46-54.

60. Price JE, Polyzos A, Dan Zhang R, Daniels LM. Tumorigenicity and metastasis of human breast carcinoma cell lines in nude mice. Cancer Res 1990;50:717-21.

61. Kuperwasser C, Chavarria T, Wu M, et al. Reconstruction of functionally normal and malignant human breast tissues in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:4966-71.